

# Systematic review of how to stop smoking in pregnancy and following childbirth.

## Review 1: Which interventions are effective and cost effective in encouraging the establishment of smoke free homes? Review 2: Factors aiding delivery of effective interventions. Review 3: The health consequences of pregnant women cutting down as opposed to quitting

#### Update information

November 2021: NICE guideline PH26 (June 2010) has been updated and replaced by NG209.

This guideline contains the evidence and committee discussion for recommendations from PH26 dated [2010] and [2010, amended 2021].

See <u>www.nice.org.uk/guidance/NG209</u> for all the current recommendations and the evidence behind them.

## August 2009

Authors:

Susan Baxter

Lindsay Blank

Louise Guillaume

Josie Messina

Emma Everson-Hock

Julia Burrows

School of Health and Related Research (ScHARR) University of Sheffield Regent Court, 30 Regent Street, Sheffield, S1 4DA,

UK

## Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Aims and objectives	26
1.2 Research questions	26
2. BACKGROUND	
2.1 English government policy on smoking in pregnancy and after child birth	27
2.2 The need for guidance	27
3. METHODS	
3.1 Search methods	28
3.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	33
3.3 Data extraction strategy	34
3.4 Quality assessment criteria for included studies	34
3.5 Summary of study identification	35
4. RESULTS OF REVIEW ONE	
4.1. Quantity of the evidence available	37
4.2 Populations and settings	37
4.3 Quality of the evidence available	38
4.3.1 Limitations on study quality	39
4.4 Outcome measures	39
4.5 Interventions	40
4.5.1 Delivery of the intervention	42
4.6 Intervention impact	42
4.6.1 Counselling interventions	43
4.6.2 Counselling interventions with additional elements	50
4.6.3 Interventions to develop individualised smoke free nome plans	00 60
4.6.5 Drefeesional training interventions	60
4.0.5 Protessional training intervention	03 64
4.7.1 Summary of identified research	64
4.7.2 Research questions for which no evidence was identified	65
4.1.2 Research questions for which no evidence was identified	65
4.4.5 Evaluating the impact of different approaches	66
4.7.5 Applicability in the LIK context	66
4.7.6 Implications of the review findings	66
5. RESULTS OF REVIEW TWO	
5.1. Quantity of the evidence available	67
5.2 Populations and settings	68
5.3 Quality of the evidence available	72
5.3.1 Limitations on study quality	73
5.4 Review findings	74
5.4.1 Whether of hot the subject of smoking is broached when pregnant women are	75
5.4.2 The advice/recommendations given by health professionals	70
5.4.2 The way that information and advice is communicated	70 Q1
5.4.4 The intervention provided during and after a consultation	01 20
5.4.5 Whether or not policies/procedures/protocols are in place	84
5.4.6 Record keeping and follow up	85
5.4.7 The knowledge and skill base of staff	87
5.4.8 Time constraints	89
5.4.9 Resource constraints	91
5.4.10 Staff perceptions of ineffectiveness	92
5.4.11 Differences between professionals	94

5.4.12 Obstacles to accessing interventions 5.5 Discussion	95 97
6. RESULTS OF REVIEW THREE	
6.1. Quantity of the evidence available	102
6.2 Populations and settings	102
6.3 Quality of the evidence available	103
6.3.1 Limitations on study quality	105
6.4 Findings	107
6.4.1 Outcome measures	107
6.4.2 Health outcomes	108
6.5 Discussion	118

#### 7. APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Extraction table for included studies	122
Appendix 2: Included papers	182
Appendix 3: Excluded papers	188
Appendix 4: Search strategies	224
Appendix 5: Additional references	228

#### **TABLES & FIGURES**

Table 1.	Criteria used for study grading	34
Table 2.	Summary of study identification for Review one	35
Table 3.	Summary of study identification for Review two	36
Table 4.	Included papers by study design (Review one)	37
Table 5.	Quality rating of included papers (Review one)	28
Table 6.	Outcome measures of included studies	39
Table 7.	Typology, impact, applicability and quality score of included papers	41
Table 8.	Included papers by study design (Review two)	67
Table 9.	Included papers by population characteristics (Review two)	68
Table 10.	Quality rating of included qualitative papers	73
Table 11.	Included papers by study design (Review three)	102
Table 12.	Included papers by population characteristics (Review three)	102
Table 13.	Criteria used for grading of internal and external validity	104
Table 14.	Quality rating of included papers (Review three)	105
Table 15.	Reported health outcomes	109

Figure 1. Flow chart illustrating inclusion and exclusion process 31

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

It has been reported (British Market Research Bureau, 2007) that nearly a third of mothers in England are smokers before pregnancy. Smoking during pregnancy can be associated with complications during labour, increased risk of miscarriage, premature birth, and still birth. Smoking in pregnancy has also been associated with low birth weight babies and an increased risk of infant mortality (Royal College of Physicians, 1992). Jarvis et al. (2007) estimate that almost half of all children in the UK are exposed to tobacco smoke at home. Environmental tobacco smoke can be associated with respiratory infections such as bronchitis and pneumonia, asthma, and other ear, nose and throat problems such as glue ear

The population under consideration in these reviews is all women who smoke that are planning a pregnancy, are pregnant or have an infant aged less than twelve months. This includes all women who stop smoking immediately prior to or during their pregnancy or soon after childbirth. These reviews address different research questions relating to smoking in pregnancy and following childbirth.

#### **Research questions**

Review one addresses the primary research question of which interventions are effective and cost effective in encouraging the establishment of smoke free homes? Review two addresses the question of what factors aid delivery of effective interventions (for smoking cessation in populations included in the guidance scope) and what are the barriers to successful delivery? The review relates to factors enabling or discouraging the uptake of smoking cessation services by women planning a pregnancy, pregnant women smokers and women smokers who have recently given birth. It includes studies that report the perspectives of staff delivering smoking cessation services, and studies reporting data from service users and potential service users. Review three addresses the question of what are the health consequences of pregnant women cutting down on their cigarette consumption as opposed to quitting?

#### Methods

Following searching of electronic databases, search results were downloaded into Reference Manager for sifting at abstract level. Following this sifting of database records at abstract level, papers for potential inclusion were obtained for full paper examination. Data in the included papers relating to theresearch question, funding source, study design, data collection, data analysis, population, findings, study limitations and any reported gaps in evidence described were extracted by one reviewer using the extraction form. Extractions were independently checked for accuracy by a second reviewer. In addition to extracting key information from included papers, there was consideration of the study quality as per recommended NICE methods (NICE, 2009).

#### Findings from Review one

Review one addresses the primary research question of which interventions are effective and cost effective in encouraging the establishment of smoke free homes? The searches identified seventeen papers that met the inclusion criteria for smoke-free homes (although three did not fully consider the effectiveness of the intervention and so are included here for information only, they do not contribute to the evidence statements). The studies were biased towards interventions conducted in the USA (ten of seventeen), with only one conducted in the UK. Therefore there may be some reservations with respect to the applicability of the interventions in a UK population.

The main limitation of study quality at RCT level was blinding. For studies of health promotion interventions it is impossible to blind the participants and there are many practical challenges to blinding the assessors. Other types of studies in the included papers were limited by small samples, short follow up, high dropout and quality was also limited by poor analysis and/or presentation of data.

The most common outcome in the papers related to self-reported cigarette consumption, mostly of parents but sometimes also of other family members or household visitors. The outcome related specifically to smoking in the

presence of a child, or more generically to smoking overall. Other common outcomes included measures of environmental nicotine levels obtained using nicotine monitors placed in one or more rooms in the home (five papers) also, measures of infant nicotine (six papers), and maternal cotinine (four papers).

Interventions were categorised in terms of those which were based on counselling; counselling plus additional aspects; individually adapted smoke free home policies; motivational interviewing and also staff training. This categorisation system may not sufficiently differentiate the detail of different interventions, but represents one way of effectively dividing the evidence.

Data from the included papers suggests only very weak associations between counselling interventions and smoke free related outcomes. There was mixed evidence in regard to interventions which combine counselling with other additional interventions, such as the provision of written materials or telephone support. There was also mixed evidence from studies reporting on interventions which were based on the use of motivational interviewing to promote smoke free homes, and also evaluations of individually adapted smoke free home plans. It is important to note that many studies whichindicated positive effects found these in self-reported measures only. There were also limitations throughout the papers in terms of study quality (especially sample size) and poor reporting of results in relation to effectiveness of the interventions.

The review findings indicate limited evidence regarding the success of interventions to reduce environmental tobacco smoke, with further studies, particularly in the UK, needed in order to recommend specific types of approaches or methods of delivery.

#### Evidence statements: Review one

#### Evidence statement 1:

Mixed evidence from six studies reported on counselling interventions to promote smoke free homes:

Arborelius and Bremberg 2001 (Sweden) BA-Fossum et al. 2004 (Sweden) RCT+ Hovell et al. 2000 (USA) RCT++ Kallio et al. 2006 (Finland) RCT++ Ratner et al. 2001 (Canada) RCT++ Zakarian et al. 2004 (USA) RCT++

These studies showed only very weak associations between the counselling interventions and smoke free related outcomes (such as cotinine measures or self reported smoking). Due to the limited effectiveness seen, it is not possible to recommend specific types of counselling approaches or methods of delivery as most beneficial, however the most effective intervention (Hovell et al. 2000) consisted of behavioural counselling for smoking mothers delivered by graduate students with 20 hours of training and weekly supervision.

#### **Evidence statement 2:**

Mixed evidence from two studies was identified for interventions which combine counselling with additional elements such as the provision of written materials or telephone support:

Greenberg et al. 1994 (USA) RCT+ Lee 2008 (China) BA+

However, Lee (2008) reported only on knowledge outcomes, rather than behaviour change.

## Evidence statement 3.

Good evidence from four studies looked at programmes to implement individually adapted smoke free home polices:

Chilmonczyk et al. 1992 (USA) RCT+ Strecher et al. 1993 (USA) RCT+ Stepans et al. 2006 (USA) RCT++

Or the individual delivery of a more generic policy: Sockrider et al. 2003 (USA) RCT++

These interventions generally had problems with low compliance and loss to follow up. However, Sockrider et al. 2003 demonstrated a significant reduction in smoking as a result of their home smoking control index.

## Evidence statement 4.

Good evidence from one study which reported on the use of motivational interviewing to promote smoke free homes demonstrated a significant decrease in nicotine levels in intervention households over six months (however, this was not supported by self-reported smoking rates).

Emmons 2001 (USA) RCT++

## Evidence statement 5.

One study reported on the effect of an educational intervention on the screening and counselling activities of physicians with regard to passive smoking.

Narce-Valente and Kligman 1992 (USA) BA+

This study did not consider the effect of those who attended the intervention compared to those who did not so the effectiveness of the intervention is unclear.

#### Findings from Review two

Review two addresses the question of what factors aid delivery of effective interventions [for smoking cessation in populations included in the guidance scope] and what are the barriers to successful delivery? The review relates to factors enabling or discouraging the uptake of smoking cessation services by pregnant women smokers. It includes studies that report the perspectives of staff delivering smoking cessation services, and studies reporting data from service users and potential service users.

The searches identified twenty two papers that met the inclusion criteria. Of these, ten reported qualitative data and nine reported quantitative crosssectional data (surveys). An additional three papers provide narrative descriptions of issues relating to delivery of interventions in the findings section. The papers encompass studies from five European countries, with three reporting British studies, one reporting data from Northern Ireland, one from France, and two from Sweden. Seven papers report data from the UnitedStates of America, five papers (four studies) from Australia, two papers from New Zealand, and one from South Africa. The papers include findings from staff participants (eleven studies), and pregnant women or recent mothers(ten studies). Only one paper reported data from both staff and service users.No papers provided data relating to women planning a pregnancy.

The evidence underpinning this review is from qualitative and cross-sectional studies, including only one high quality qualitative study, together with sixgood quality qualitative studies. The cross-sectional studies report data from surveys almost exclusively designed for the study and are largely un- validated, with potential for bias due to self-report and retrospective recall.

Analysis and synthesis of the themes within the findings of the included papers, suggests a number of key recurring themes relating to the delivery of interventions to stop smoking in pregnancy and following childbirth:

1 Whether or not the subject of smoking is broached when pregnant women are seen by health professionals

- 2 The advice/recommendations given by health professionals
- 3 The way that information and advice is communicated
- 4 The intervention provided during and after a consultation
- 5 Whether or not policies/procedures/protocols are in place
- 6 Record keeping and follow up
- 7 The knowledge and skill base of staff
- 8 Time constraints
- 9 Resource constraints
- 10 Staff perceptions of ineffectiveness
- 11 Differences between professional groups
- 12 Obstacles to accessing interventions

In regard to the broaching of the subject of smoking with pregnant women and recent mothers who smoke, the papers suggest that a high proportion (but not all) staff routinely ask about smoking status. Qualitative papers describe the proportion as "variation" and "most but not all". The surveys report 76% to 96% routine inquiry. The lower of these two figures is from pregnant women report, with the others all from professional self-report. The highest figure (96%) is from a UK study of health professionals, however no corresponding data from women in the UK were found in the peer-reviewed literature.

The papers provide some insight into why intentions may not always be translated into practice. There is the suggestion that concerns regarding damaging the relationship between professional and pregnant woman may be important. Also, time constraints and differences between professional groups may be significant in whether the subject of smoking and smoking cessation intervention is broached.

In terms of the advice and recommendations given by health professionals, the papers report variation in practice and some dissatisfaction amongst pregnant women regarding the content and level of advice and information. There is the suggestion that not all women are provided with information leaflets, and also that there may be a need for a more thorough/more strongly persuasive explanation with the inclusion of evidence or "proof" of the potential harm. Differences between women regarding preferences for information and follow-up discussion suggest the importance of individualtailored advice and the challenge of providing content appropriate to each woman"s needs/wishes. Narrative from intervention studies conveys the perceived difficulties experienced by health professionals in providing advice. As reported in relation to broaching the subject of smoking, differences in approach between professionals such as cutting down versus quitting, may lead to variation and potentially conflicting advice/information.

Not only the content of the advice, but also the way that a message is conveyed, is reported to be important and challenging in the papers. Studies report that the tone and approach used may impact on a woman"s willingness to consider smoking cessation. In contrast to the findings above regarding the need for strongly persuasive explanations, "preaching" or "hard hitting" interactions can be perceived as acting as a barrier to a woman considering stopping or reducing smoking.

Findings regarding the content of the intervention provided during a consultation and offered subsequently, indicate variance in practice. Studies report around 57%-60% of professionals may offer smoking cessation counselling. The report of leaflets being provided varied considerably between studies, with reporting of 23%, or 54% or "most" of the time. Recommendation of nicotine replacement therapy was reported as low in one study, and also rates of referral on to other specialist services and personal support may be low.

Variance in practice may indicate a lack of policies or procedures, or lack of adherence or knowledge. Two of the cross-sectional studies included make the association between having well-defined procedures and good practice or increased number of interventions. A UK study suggests a low figure of 6% of staff reporting that they use guidelines to underpin their consultations with pregnant women or recent mothers who smoke.

The noting of smoking status on records and ongoing monitoring is examined in the included papers, with evidence that record keeping practices may be inconsistent (around 85%-95% self-report that smoking status would be recorded). A UK study, while reporting the higher of these figures for recording status, provides data suggesting a follow up rate throughout pregnancy of only 49%.

The review indicates staff perceptions of limited skills and knowledge regarding smoking cessation interventions. A perceived lack of time and staffing and material resources are reported to be significant barriers to both discussion during consultations and providing interventions. The views ofpregnant women smokers and recent mothers were very mixed in regard to the advice and information that they had received with a perception of insufficient information and lack of clarity of message.

Possibly linked to these negative staff perceptions of skills, time and resources is the review finding regarding pessimism amongst staff regarding the potential for their input to be effective in achieving smoking reduction or quitting amongst pregnant women or recent mothers. Studies report that staff previous experiences of failure to effect any change may impact on their interactions with current and future clients.

Survey data suggests variation in practice between different professional groups, in particular regarding the recommendation of quitting smoking versus cutting down, but also in regard to procedural aspects such as recording status, and repeat advice giving. There is the suggestion that midwives have greater concerns regarding maintaining the relationship between themselves and the pregnant woman, and are more likely to recommend cutting down rather than quitting initially. These differences may indicate different professional ethos and approaches, however offer the potential for a pregnant woman to receive contradicting advice.

In regard to specific aspects of interventions that may be barriers or facilitators to uptake, only a limited number of papers provided detail regarding this. The data suggests that the length of individual programme intervention sessions may be influential. Also, it is reported that service delivery via telephone advice may be problematic in terms of achieving contact. A UK study suggests that transport considerations and child care for other siblings are important in enabling pregnant women to take up any smoking cessation intervention that may be offered.

The review suggests that a number of aspects of professional practice in relation to pregnant women smokers may need clarifying, including record keeping, the content of advice, ongoing management and review, also referrals on to other agencies. The review findings indicate that professionals perceive a need for greater training specifically in this area, and also that the greater use of protocols may further develop consistency in practice. It is suggested that professionals view providing advice and intervention to pregnant women smokers to be challenging, further suggesting a need for greater support for their practice via established protocols and/or training. The papers reviewed indicate evidence of a perception of ineffectiveness/pessimism towards intervention amongst some service providers which has the potential to become a cycle of self-fulfilling prophecy. Further dissemination of any available evidence regarding the effectiveness of different interventions may be beneficial in providing practitioners and service users with evidence-based choices.

#### Evidence statements: Review two

#### Evidence statement 1.

Two qualitative studies and five survey studies provide evidence that not all staff ask all pregnant women about their smoking status during consultations.

McCurry et al., 2002 (N Ireland service users) Qual+

Anderson et al., 2002 (USA service users) Qual-

Surveys - Grange et al. 2006 (France service users), Clasper & White 1995 (UK service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers).

One study reports data from a lower income/educated population (Anderson et al. 2002 (USA service users) Qual-).

Four studies provide evidence that staff may not ask about smoking status due to concerns regarding damaging the relationship between themselves and a pregnant woman.

McCleod et al. 2003 (New Zealand service providers) Qual++ Abrahammson et al. 2005 (Sweden service providers) Qual+ Lowry et al. 2004 (GB service users) Qual-Katz 2008 (USA) Narrative.

## Evidence statement 2.

Five qualitative studies and three surveys provide evidence that the information and advice currently provided by health professionals is perceived as insufficient or inadequate by some women and by professionals themselves. There is the suggestion that advice could be more detailed and explicit, and that professionals find discussion of individual smoking behaviours challenging.

Anderson et al. 2002 (USA service users) Qual-Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+, Arborelius & Nyberg 1997 (Sweden service users) Qual+, McCurry et al. 2002 (N Ireland service users) Qual+, Nichter et al. 2007 USA service users) Qual+ Surveys - Grange et al. 2006 (France service users), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White 1995 (GB service providers).

Three of the studies report data from a lower income/lower educated/deprived area (Anderson et al., Arborelius & Nyberg, Nichter et al).

#### **Evidence statement 3.**

Five qualitative papers describe how the style or way that information/advice is communicated to pregnant women smokers can impact on how the advice or information is received. Concerns regarding advice being construed as nagging or preaching are reported, together with the recommendation that that a more caring, empathetic approach may be helpful.

Arborelius & Nyberg 1997 (Sweden service users) Qual+ Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+ Tod 2003 (GB service users) Qual+ Lowry et al. 2004 (GB service users) Qual-Anderson 2002 (USA service users) Qual-.

#### Evidence statement 4.

One qualitative study and four surveys provide evidence that there is variance in practice amongst staff in regard to the type of intervention offered during and following a consultation, such as whether a leaflet is offered, whether there is referral on to a specialist programme, or whether ongoing personal support is offered.

McCurry et al. 2002 (N Ireland service users) Qual+

Surveys - Cooke et al. 2001 (Australia service providers), Grange et al. 2006 (France service users), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers), Hartmann et al. 2007(USA service providers).

#### Evidence statement 5.

There is evidence from one qualitative study and two surveys that there is limited knowledge/availability/use of guidelines or protocols in practice.

Everett et al. 2005 South Africa service providers Qual+ Surveys - Clasper & White, 2005 (GB service providers), Hartmann et al. (USA service providers).

There is evidence from one survey that that having guidelines/protocols in place may be associated with an increase in the number of smoking interventions offered.

Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers).

## Evidence statement 6.

Evidence from four qualitative studies, three surveys and a study narrative suggests that record keeping practices and follow up enquiry may be inconsistent amongst practitioners. Pregnant women smokers and recent mothers differed in their views regarding the frequency with which they should be asked about their smoking.

McCleod et al. 2003 (New Zealand service providers) Qual++ Arborelius & Nyberg 1997 (Sweden service users) Qual+ Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+ Nichter et al. 2007(USA service users) Qual+ Surveys - Clasper & White 1995 (GB service providers), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers), Grange et al. 2006 (France service users)

Narrative - Lando et al. 2001(USA).

## Evidence statement 7.

Three qualitative studies, seven surveys and one narrative report suggest that staff perceive that they have limited skills and knowledge to implement successful smoking cessation interventions.

(McCleod et al. 2003 (New Zealand service users) Qual++, Everett et al. 2005, (South Africa service providers) Qual+, Abrahammson et al. 2005 (Sweden service providers) Qual+ Surveys - Walsh et al. 1985 (Australia service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Cooke et al. 2001 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White, 1995 (GB service providers), Bishop et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Hartmann et al. 2007 (USA service providers), Jordan et al. 2006 (USA service providers) Narrative - Lando et al. 2001(USA).

## Evidence statement 8.

Two qualitative studies, seven surveys and one narrative provide evidence that staff perceive that lack of time is a significant barrier to the implementation of smoking cessation interventions.

Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+

Lowe et al. 2002 (Australia service providers) Qual-

Surveys - Bishop et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White 1995 (GB service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers), Hartmann et al. 2007 (USA service providers), Jordan et al. 2006 (USA service providers), Walsh et al. 1985 (Australia service providers)

Narrative - Lando et al. 2001(USA).

## Evidence statement 9.

One qualitative study, six surveys and narrative from one study suggest that staff perceive that limited resources in the form of either staffing or patient education materials impact on the delivery of interventions.

Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+

Surveys - Walsh et al. 1985 (Australia service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Bishop et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Hartmann et al. 2007 (USA service providers), Jordan et al. 2006 (USA service providers), Lowe et al. 2002 (Australia service providers).

Narrative - Lando et al. 2001 (USA).

These papers report findings from Australia and the USA with no UK studies which may require consideration in terms of applicability to the UK context.

#### Evidence statement 10.

Two qualitative studies and seven surveys suggest that staff perceptions regarding the limited effectiveness of interventions may impact on their delivery of services.

Abrahammson et al. 2005 (Sweden service providers) Qual+ Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+ Surveys - Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers) Bishop et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White 1995 (GB service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers) Hartmann et al. 2007 (USA service providers), Jordan et al. 2006 (USA service providers), Walsh et al. 1985 (Australia service providers).

One paper describes a lack of firm reasons for non attendance given by women who did not attend a smoking intervention programme (Katz et al. USA).

## Evidence statement 11.

Four surveys provide evidence that typical practice in regard to smoking cessation advice and management of care can vary between doctors and midwives.

It is reported that General Practitioners are more likely to advise women to quit smoking completely, whereas midwives are more likely to advise gradual reduction. Also, the evidence suggests that midwives are more likely to refer on to other agencies and record smoking status. GPs may bemore likely than midwives to raise the subject of smoking at subsequent consultations.

Surveys - Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers) Cooke et al. 2001 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White, 1995 (GB service providers), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers).

#### Evidence statement 12.

One qualitative study and two narrative reports describe obstacles to pregnant women smokers accessing services as including: the length of sessions; difficulty making telephone contact; and a lack of transport or child care.

It is suggested that domiciliary or very local services, the provision of crèche facilities, appointment systems or telephone counselling could be suitable service delivery options.

Tod 2003 (GB service users) Qual+

Narrative - Katz et al. 2008 (USA service users), Solomon & Flynn 2005 (USA service users).

One study (Solomon & Flynn 2005, USA narrative) suggests however that telephone support services may have poor success in terms of contact rates.

#### Findings from Review three

The review identified four papers that provide evidence regarding potential health consequences of pregnant women reducing their cigaretteconsumption rather than quitting. No restrictions had been placed in terms of study design. However, all identified studies analysed sections of data from randomised controlled trials.

All the papers were graded as + for quality. None of the papers reported power calculations, with significant data regarding subgroup sample sizes and baseline smoking levels not included in one paper, and only sparse details regarding the analysis provided in two further papers. Two papers in particular present challenges in extracting the data required to answer this research question. The objective of these papers relates to smoking in pregnancy and reducing consumption and quitting however, they had the main aim of exploring different comparisons to that under scrutiny in this review.

The included papers use outcome measures of both self-reported number of cigarettes smoked per day, and also cotinine levels. They do not include any discussion regarding their selection of urine versus salivary cotinine as a measure. The health outcome under study in all papers was infant birthweight, measured in grams. One paper in addition, considers gestational age as an outcome.

All four papers differ slightly in the way that data regarding women whoreported reducing their cigarette consumption and/or had reduced levels of cotinine between baseline and end point were classified. Three papers differ slightly in the way that data on women who reported reducing their cigarette consumption and/or had reduced levels of cotinine between baseline and end point were classified. In terms of measurement timings, all papers report measures at baseline and end point of the trial only, with some lack of clarity regarding the timing of the end point data. Patterns of smoking between thesedata collection points is based only on the self-report data therefore, with cotinine levels only indicating current and recent (within seven days) smoking patterns.

Interpretation of the data within these papers was constrained by the studies having differing objectives to a comparison between quitting and reducing, although having women exhibiting these smoking behaviours within their sample. Two of the papers report data from more than fifteen years ago, which may limit their applicability to current evidence. All the papers report empirical work carried out in the USA, which may limit applicability to a UK population.

The review found limited evidence regarding the health impact of reducing smoking in pregnancy. Two studies report numerical increases (but not significance levels) in birth weight of infants born to pregnant smokers who reduce their intake, versus those who quit. Another study suggests that birth weight differences may only be significant in women who reduce to more than 50% of their daily intake (from 20 to 10 cigarettes per day). The fourth study reports significantly greater birth weight (77g) in infants born to pregnant smokers who quit versus those who reduce their intake. While indicating numerical differences in birth weight between infants born to mothers who quit smoking during pregnancy and those who carried on smoking but reduced their intake, three of the included papers provide only limited analysis regarding the order of magnitude of these differences in statistical terms such as probability size, effect size or odds ratios.

Three of the papers report differences in characteristics of the quitting versus reducing sample sub groups that may impact on the link between quitting and greater increases in infant birth weight. The data suggests that women who tend to quit smoking before or at the start of pregnancy tend to be lighter smokers than those that continue, including those that reduce their consumption. The reducers in the studies may therefore still have relatively high daily cigarette consumption.

Indeed, baseline daily cigarette consumption should be considered when interpreting findings demonstrating a benefit from a reduction of 50%; in the case of the Secker-Walker and Vacek (2002) study. This finding relates to participants who reduced from 20 to 10 cigarettes per day. A reduction of

50% from ten to five cigarettes per day may not have the same impact and further research would be required to explore this.

The linking of low levels of smoking with greater improvements in birth weight is highlighted in two of the other studies. Li et al. (1993) report in their findings, that the largest increases in birth weight were observed in infants born towhite women smokers with lower baseline cotinine values of 100ng/ml or less. Secker-Walker et al. (1998) also suggest that cigarette consumption has to reduce significantly to low levels in order to have an impact on infant birth weight. These studies suggest that there may be a threshold level in terms of the number of cigarettes smoked, above which there is a negative impact on infant birth weight. If so, women may need to reduce to this maximum in order to have any beneficial impact, rather than a general or percentage reduction.

Another issue that may be of importance in considering the health consequences of smoking reduction in comparison to quitting duringpregnancy is the timing of quitting and reduction. England et al. (2001) found an association between third trimester exposure to smoking and negative impact on birth weight. Similarly, Secker-Walker et al. (1998) found higher birth weights in babies born to women who quit sooner rather than later, and all quitters compared with reducers. These findings suggest that cessation and reduction earlier in the pregnancy may be preferable in terms of impacton birth weight.

The papers included in this review suggest that there are benefits in terms of higher birth weight to be gained from quitting smoking as opposed to cutting down. However, further work is needed to examine the degree of the difference to establish whether it is statistically (and clinically) significant.Further work is needed to examine the relationship between the level of smoking and these potential health benefits.

#### **Evidence statements: Review three**

#### Evidence statement 1.

There is limited evidence from four good quality studies that quitting versus reducing cigarette consumption during pregnancy is associated with increased infant birth weight of between 89 and 254g

England et al. 2001 Association analysis+ (USA) Secker-Walker et al. 1998 Association analysis+ (USA) Secker-Walker & Vacek 2002 Association analysis + (USA) Li et al. 1993 Association Association analysis + (USA)

Two of the studies provide very little statistical analysis regarding the significance of these numerical differences between quitters and reducers. Only one study (Li et al. 1993 +) provides odds ratios, with OR 1.18 for quitters having a low birth weight infant compared to OR 1.73 for reducers. Baseline differences between quitters and reducers in all these studies may be significant.

These papers all examine data from studies carried out in the United States of America which may have implications for applicability to a UK setting.

## Evidence statement 2.

There is limited evidence from one good quality study that the reduction in cigarette consumption required to make a significant impact on birthweight needs to be of the magnitude of more than 50% (among women smoking 20 cigarettes per day) to lead to a statistically significant increase in birth weight

Secker-Walker & Vacek 2002 Association analysis + (USA)

This paper examines data from studies carried out in the United States of America and may thus have implications for applicability to a UK population.

## 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1. Aims and objectives

These reviews address different research questions relating to smoking in pregnancy and following childbirth.

## **1.2 Research questions**

Review one addresses the primary research question of which interventions are effective and cost effective in encouraging the establishment of smoke free homes?

The following sub-questions are also considered:

- What is the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of interventions including media campaigns and distribution of health promotion materials to promote smoke free homes?
- What is the acceptability and feasibility of these programmes?
- What individual or contextual factors predict effectiveness, acceptability and feasibility?

Review two addresses the question of what factors aid delivery of effective interventions (for smoking cessation in populations included in the guidance scope) and what are the barriers to successful delivery? This research question therefore is focussed on the delivery of interventions, rather than considering the effectiveness of interventions. It does not include personal or environmental factors which may influence pregnant women to reduce or cease smoking, and does not include views of pregnant women smokers on smoking. The review relates to factors enabling or discouraging the uptake of smoking cessation services by women planning a pregnancy, pregnant women smokers and women smokers who have recently given birth. It includes studies that report the perspectives of staff delivering smoking cessation services, and studies reporting data from service users and potential service users.

Review three addresses the question of what are the health consequences of pregnant women cutting down on their cigarette consumption as opposed to quitting?

## 2. BACKGROUND

# 2.1 English government policy on smoking in pregnancy and after childbirth

This guidance relates to the three key policy areas of firstly, children's health and wellbeing, secondly, cancer prevention, and thirdly, the reduction of health inequalities. It will support a number of policy documents such as EveryChild Matters (HM Government, 2004), Maternity Matters: choice, access and continuity of care in a safe service (DH, 2007a), the Cancer Reform Strategy (DH, 2007b), Smoking Kills (DH, 1998), Health Inequalities: progress and next steps (DH 2008), and the Implementation Plan for reducing health inequalities in infant mortality: a good practice guide (DH, 2007c).

## 2.2 The need for guidance

It has been reported (British Market Research Bureau, 2007) that nearly a third of mothers in England are smokers before pregnancy. This study found that 49% gave up at some stage before the birth; however 7% continued to smoke throughout their pregnancy. Other studies (French et al., 2007, Lawrence et al., 2005) suggest that these figures may be an underestimate.

Smoking during pregnancy can be associated with complications during labour, increased risk of miscarriage, premature birth, and still birth. Smoking in pregnancy has also been associated with low birth weight babies and an increased risk of infant mortality (Royal College of Physicians, 1992).

While many women who quit during pregnancy maintain their non smoking status, three in ten mothers return to smoking less than a year after the birth of their baby (British Market Research Bureau, 2007). Jarvis et al., (2008) estimate that almost half of all children in the UK are exposed to tobacco smoke at home. Environmental tobacco smoke can be associated with

respiratory infections such as bronchitis and pneumonia, asthma, and other ear, nose and throat problems such as glue ear.

There is a strong association between smoking in pregnancy and sociodemographic factors such as age and social class (British Market Research Bureau, 2007). It has been estimated that if the factors associated with disadvantage are combined, the numbers of women who continue to smoke during pregnancy would be ten times higher in the most disadvantaged compared to the least disadvantaged group (Penn and Owen, 2002).

#### 3. METHODS

#### 3.1 Search methods

The challenges in searching for evidence to inform public health guidance are widely recognised (Spring et al. 2008, Pawson, 2005). These challengesinclude the volume of literature in the subject area, the variation in the language used within public health disciplines (and therefore the variation in indexing within databases and in the titles of papers), and gaps within the evidence base.

It is therefore not feasible in the case of some public health topics to develop a single, definitive search strategy from the study protocol, encapsulating all the relevant complexity and inconsistency in language without retrieving an unmanageable number of redundant records. Search strategies based solely on the study protocol have been shown to yield a limited number of useful references (Spring et al. 2008, Greenhalgh & Peacock, 2005, Ogilvie et al., 2005). This may be because within public health, defining the question to be addressed and the information that will be relevant is often complex and uses non-standardised terminology (Alpi, 2005, Curran et al., 2007). Therefore a search strategy that is informed by the findings of previous searches can be of more use in searching for public health evidence. In the case of these reviews, the key aim was to ensure that the searches retrieved evidence of relevance to the study question, rather than retrieving all evidence relating to smoking in pregnancy. In order to address these challenges, the review team have built upon the existing NICE search methods (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2009) to allow for a process in which the scope of relevance is explored and informed by the search process. A targeted approach to the identification of evidence has been taken. Instead of aiming to identify the relevant literature for a specific question using <u>one</u> search, we have adopted a systematic and emergent approach, which uses smaller, more targeted searches (iterations) to identify evidence that will inform understanding of the problem area. This evidence is then explored in order to inform further searches by the identification of useful terms. Searching continues until the review team decide that no new useful evidence is being identified and thatthe review has reached saturation in terms of the papers that it has identified.

In the case of the search for "Smoking in Pregnancy" the following approaches were utilised within the three search iterations:

- Freetext searching of databases (Science Citation Index and Social Science Citation Index via Web of Knowledge, Maternity and Infant Care via OVID SP, PsycINFO via OVID SP, Embase via OVID SP, Medline via OVID SP, CINAHL via EBSCOhost, ASSIA via CSA and British Nursing Index via OVID) SP
- Citation searching of included papers using Web of Science Cited Reference search and Google Scholar
- Liaison with internal topic expert (Emma Everson-Hock)
- Sifting the reference lists of included papers
- Sifting the reference lists of systematic reviews, literature reviews and discussion papers that were retrieved in the search process, but not included in the review due to study type.

A thorough audit trail of the search process and the search iterations was maintained, with all searches recorded in order that searches are transparent, systematic and can be replicated. A version of this audit trail is available in Appendix 4. As the table indicates, separate searches were undertaken for each review. However, it became evident early in the process that evidence that was retrieved through a search for one question e.g. question two, may be useful for questions one or three. Therefore, the searches should be seen as potentially identifying evidence for all questions. All references were sifted with this in mind.

Following each search iteration (using the variety of methods outlined above), the search results were imported into Reference Manager for sifting by the systematic reviewers at abstract level. Following this sifting of database records at abstract level, papers for potential inclusion were obtained for full paper examination. Papers identified at this stage for further consideration included empirical work, but also relevant reviews and discussion papers to provide background information. Papers for potential exclusion were checked by a second reviewer, and where consensus could not be reached, by a third reviewer. Papers for inclusion were similarly checked by a second reviewer prior to extraction.

Figure 1 provides an illustration of the process of inclusion and exclusion of papers, indicating how the 2979 papers identified in the search iterations (Iteration 1 - 597, Iteration 2 - 1819 and Iteration 3 - 563) were reduced to the 41 papers that have been included in Reviews 1-3 (Iteration 1 – 33, Iteration 2 – 6, Iteration 3 – 2).

In addition to this searching via electronic databases, the reference list of included papers was examined and papers not already identified were added to the database and obtained. In addition, the reference lists of the review/discussion papers were scrutinised for any additional papers of potential relevance.

#### Figure 1. Flow chart illustrating the identification process

#### Search iteration one



## Search iteration two



#### Search iteration three



#### 3.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

All the retrieved literature was screened at title and abstract level for relevance, and those that had potential for inclusion were taken through to full paper appraisal.

#### 3.2.1 Inclusion criteria

The population under consideration in this review is all women who smoke that are planning a pregnancy, are pregnant or have an infant aged less than twelve months. This includes all women who stop smoking immediately prior to or during their pregnancy or soon after childbirth. As health inequalities area particular concern, the review gives emphasis to groups where smoking rates are high such as women aged below twenty, those in routine or manual occupations, lone parents, or those who are unemployed. Also included in the review is anyone who smokes and lives in the same dwelling as a pregnant woman, a woman planning a pregnancy, or where there is a resident infant aged less than twelve months.

#### 3.2.2 Exclusion criteria

The review does not include women who do not smoke, women living in smokefree households, and women who smoke that are not planning apregnancy, are not pregnant, or do not have a child under twelve months old.

#### **3.3 Data extraction strategy**

Data relating to the research question, funding source, study design, data collection, data analysis, population, findings, study limitations and any reported gaps in evidence described were extracted by one reviewer using the extraction form. Extractions were independently checked for accuracy by a second reviewer. Disagreements were resolved by consensus and consulting a third reviewer where necessary. The data extraction tables are presented in Appendix 1.

## 3.4 Quality assessment criteria for included studies

In addition to extracting key information from included papers, there was consideration of the study quality as per recommended NICE methods (NICE, 2009).

The included papers across the three reviews encompassed quantitative intervention studies, qualitative studies and quantitative (cross-sectional) studies reporting frequencies and exploring associations.

The studies were placed in one of three grades as follows based on the methodology checklist:

Code	Quality criteria
++	All or most of the criteria have been fulfilled. Where they have not been fulfilled the conclusions of the study or review are thought very unlikely to alter
+	Some of the criteria have been fulfilled. Those criteria that have not been fulfilled or not adequately described are through unlikely to affect conclusions
-	Few or no criteria fulfilled. The conclusions of the study are thought likely or very likely to alter

 Table 1. Criteria used for study grading

There is considerable debate regarding quality criteria for qualitative studies (NICE, 2009) with no established study design hierarchy. The included

qualitative studies were assessed according to the NICE (2009) quality appraisal checklist which considers theoretical approach, study design, data collection, trustworthiness, data analysis, conclusions and ethics.

Currently there is no specific checklist for cross-sectional studies as they are descriptive rather than analytical (NICE, 2009). It is recommended however (NICE, 2009), that the important things to consider in appraising the quality of cross-sectional studies are whether or not there are any potential confounding factors and/or whether there is potential for measurement bias. The quality of the cross-sectional studies included has therefore been considered in these respects.

## 3.5 Summary of study identification

Studies were identified via the search strategy outlined above (3.1 Search Strategy) and added to the Reference Manager database for sifting andfurther examination.

For Review one, ten papers were identified through the primary database search, six via the secondary citation searching, and one additional paper was identified through scrutinising reference lists (Table 2).

Source	Number of hits	Papers identified
Initial search	597	10
Second/third/fourth search iteration	2382	6
Reference lists		1

Table 2. Summary of study identification for Review one

For the second review question, nineteen papers were identified through the primary database search, two via the secondary citation searching, and one additional paper was identified through scrutinising reference lists (Table 3).

Source	Number of hits	Papers identified
Initial search	597	19
Second/third/fourth search iterations	2382	2
Reference lists	-	1

#### Table 3. Summary of study identification for Review two

For Review three all four papers were identified through the primary database search.

A particular feature of this work was the high number of papers which were identified as having potential for inclusion, were obtained as full papers, yet were subsequently excluded. The focus of the second review question on the delivery and uptake of services rather than the interventions themselves required scrutiny of many intervention studies, searching for those aspects describing delivery. These aspects were not reported in the paper abstracts, and often represented only a very small section of data within the paper where they were present.

Papers considered in regard to the third research question reported sub- groups of participants from full intervention trials. It was frequently not possible to identify which groups were reported in the findings at a paper abstract level, or which associations were being considered. On some occasions the comparators reported were outside the remit of the review, with examples of papers reporting data from pregnant women cutting down their cigarette consumption however, compared this with non-smokers. Some studies contained participants who had reduced cigarette consumption together with participants who had quit smoking, although this data could not be distinguished separately in the findings and thus had to be excluded.

24 papers were excluded on the grounds that they reported discussion or provided study outlines with no accompanying data. 218 papers were excluded as not being relevant to the research questions under consideration.

27 papers reported studies where more than 50% of the participants had children over the age of twelve months and therefore were outside the age
range of interest for this review. Studies excluded at this full paper stage are listed in Appendix 3.

# 4. RESULTS OF REVIEW ONE

## 4.1. Quantity of the evidence available

The searches identified seventeen papers that met the inclusion criteria. Table 4 lists the included papers by study design. The majority of the identified studies were of RCT design (12) with one further trial with non random allocation together with four before and after studies.

Study design	Study (first author, year)	Country
RCT	Chilmoncayk 1992	USA
	Emmons 2001	USA
	Fossum 2004	Sweden
	Greenberg 2004	USA
	Hovell 2000	USA
	Kallio 2006	Finland
	Ratner 2001	Canada
	Severson 1994	USA
	Sockrider 2003	USA
	Strecher 1993	USA
	Stepans 2006	USA
	Zakarian 2004	USA
Non-RCT	Vineis 1993	Italy
Before and	Al-alaway 2008	UK
after	Arborelius 2001	Sweden
	Lee 2008	China
	Narce-Valente 1992	USA

#### Table 4. Included papers by study design

# 4.2 Populations and settings

The papers included only one study from the UK, with the majority of studies coming from the USA (10) and Canada (1). Additional studies were identified from European countries including Sweden (2), Finland (1) and Italy (1). A final study was conducted in China. Most of the papers reported very poorly on the characteristics of their study populations and gave only outline demographic details for the parents or children involved. Information regarding

parent"s smoking habits at baseline was also poor, with details of the parents" smoking status such as number of cigarettes smoked per day or time since quitting smoking were rarely reported.

# 4.3 Quality of the evidence available Table

# 5. Quality rating of included papers.

	Al Alaway	Arborelius	Chilmonczy	Emmons	Fossum	Greenberg	Hovell	Kallio	Lee	Narce-Valente	Ratner	Severson	Sockrider	Strecher	Stepans	Vineis	Zakarian
1.1	-	-	+	++	+	++	++	-	++	-	+	-	++	-	+	-	++
1.2	+	Nr	++	++	+	-	++	++	++	++	+	++	Nr	+	++	++	+
1.3	+	Nr	++	++	++	-	++	++	++	++	+	++	Nr	+	+	++	+
2.1	Na	Na	++	++	+	++	++	++	Ν	Na	Ν	++	++	++	++	+	++
									R		R						
2.2	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	++	+	+
2.3	Na	Na	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	Na	++	++	++	++	++	-	++
2.4	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
2.5	++	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
3.1	-	-	++	++	++	++	++	++	-	+	++	-	++	-	++	-	++
3.2	++	-	++	++	+	+	-	++	-	++	++	++	++	-	+	++	++
3.3	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	-	++	-	++	-	++	-	++
3.4	Na	Na	++	++	++	++	++	++	-	Na	++	++	++	++	++	++	++
3.5	Ν	++	-	+	-	++	++	++	++	Nr	+	+	++	++	-	++	+
	R																
4.1	++	-	++	++	++	++	++	++	+	-	++	++	++	++	Nr	++	++
4.2	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	+	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++
4.3	-	++	++	++	++	-	++	++	++	++	-	-	++	++	++	-	-
4.4	-	++	++	++	++	-	++	++	++	++	-	-	++	++	++	-	-
Sum	mary r	atings															<u> </u>
IV	+	+	+	++	+	-	++	++	+	-	+	-	++	+	++	-	++
EV	-	-	+	++	+	+	++	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	++
Tot	-	-	+	++	+	+	++	++	+	+	++	+	++	+	++	+	++
al																	

# 4.3.1 Limitations on study quality

The main limitation of study quality at RCT level was blinding. For studies of health promotion interventions it is impossible to blind the participants and there are many practical challenges to blinding the assessors.

Other types of studies are fundamentally limited in their design but several also had issues with small samples, short follow up, high dropout and with poor analysis and/or presentation of data as is discussed in more detailbelow.

# 4.4 Outcome measures

Table 6 shows the type of outcome measure used by the included studies. The most common outcomes (eleven papers) related to self reported cigarette consumption, mostly of parents but sometimes also of other family members or household visitors. The outcomes may relate specifically to smoking in the presence of a child, or more generically to smoking overall. Other common outcomes included measures of environmental nicotine levels obtained using nicotine monitors placed in one or more rooms in the home (five papers) also, measures of infant nicotine (six papers), and maternal cotinine (four papers).

Outcome type	Papers	No.
Cigarette consumption or smoking status (self reported)	Arborelius 2001 Emmons 2001 Fossum 2004 Greenberg 2004 Kallio 2006 Severson 1994 Sockrider 2003 Strecher 1993 Stepans 2006 Zakarian 2004 Vineis 1993	11
Environmental nicotine, measured by nicotine monitors	Emmons 2001 Hovell 2000 Ratner 2001 Sockrider 2003 Zakarian 2004	5

# Table 6. Outcome measures of included studies.

Infant cotinine levels	Chilmoncayk 1992 Greenberg 2004 Hovell 2000 Kallio 2006 Stepans 2006 Zakarian 2004	6
Maternal cotinine levels	Fossum 2004 Hovell 2000 Kallio 2006 Stepans 2006	4
Smoking cessation	Emmons 2001	1
Respiratory illness	Greenberg 2004	1
Knowledge and attitudes	Lee 2008	1
Physician smoking habits screening rate	Narce-Valente1992	1
Carbon monoxide in expired air (maternal)	Ratner 2001	1
Quit attempts	Severson 1994	1
No effectiveness outcomes	Al-alaway 2008	1

# 4.5 Interventions

Interventions were coded in terms of their typology, impact, applicability and quality score (Table 7). The typology of interventions was developed by the lead reviewer during the data extraction process and validated by a second reviewer during the quality checks.

Table 7.	Typology,	impact,	applicability	and	quality	score	of	included
papers.								

Study	Paper	Typology*	Outcome**	Applicability	Quality
design	(1 <sup>st</sup> author, date)				
(11)					
RCT	Chilmoncayk 1992	SHP	IC	USA	+
	Emmons 2001	MI	EN, SC, CC	USA White 46%	++
	Fossum 2004	С	CC, MC	Sweden	+
	Greenberg 2004	C+	CC, IC, RI	USA White 64%	+
	Hovell 2000	С	MC, IC, EN	USA White 47%	++
	Kallio 2006	С	CC, MC, IC	Finland	++
	Ratner 2001	С	EN, CM	Canada	++
	Severson 1994	C+	CC, QA	USA	+
	Sockrider 2003	SHP	CC, EN	USA White 73%	++
	Strecher 1993	SHP	CC	USA	+
	Stepans 2006	SHP	CC, MC, IC	USA	++
	Zakarian 2004	С	CC, IC, EN	USA White 76%	++
		-			
Non- RCT	Vineis 1993	C+	CC	Italy	+
Before/	Al-alaway 2008	MI	No effectiveness	UK	-
After	Arborelius 2001	С	CC	Sweden	-
	Lee 2008	C+	K/A	China	+
	Narce-	PE	PS	USA	+
	Valente1992				

#### \*Typology:

MI: Motivational Interviewing, C: stop smoking Counselling, C+: counselling plus other interventions,

PE: professional education, SHP: comprehensive, individualised smoke free home policy

#### \*\*Outcome measures

EN: environmental nicotine, measured by nicotine monitors, SC: smoking cessation, CC: cigarette consumption or smoking status (self reported), MC: maternal cotinine levels, IC: infant cotinine levels, RI: respiratory illness (infant), K/A: knowledge and attitudes, PS: physician screening, CM: carbon monoxide in expired air (maternal), QA: quit attempts.

As would be expected, those studies which employed an RCT design tended to score better on the quality rating scale, although the quality ratings for each study design varied across the identified studies. The studies identified for each type of study design included a variety of types of intervention, outcome measures and populations. The individual studies are discussed in detailbelow. Most of the interventions consisted of programmes of counselling only (six studies), or counselling accompanied by other elements such as the provision of written materials (four studies). Four interventions featured the development of individually tailored smoke free home programmes, and two used motivational interviewing techniques. A final paper looked at professional education (physicians) to promote discussion and promotion of smoke free homes with patients.

No evidence was identified on the cost effectiveness of the interventions. In addition there were no papers which considered media campaigns. The distribution of health promotion materials were only considered as a part of multi component interventions, where their effectiveness was not considered independently.

#### 4.5.1 Delivery of the intervention

Most of the papers reported briefly on who was responsible for the programme delivery. The most common mode of delivery was via nurses, some included no further definition (Arborelius and Bremberg 2001, Greenberg et al. 1994, Ratner et al. 2001, Severson et al. 1994, Stepans etal. 2006, Vineis et al. 1993), others were described as child health nurses (Fossum et al. 2004), and experienced public health nurse (Strecher et al. 1993). Other health in intervention delivery professionals involved included physicians (Chilmonczyk et al. 1992, Lee 2008, Narce-Valenter and Kligman 1992), paediatrician and dietician (Kallio et al. 2006) and paediatrician (Severson et al. 1994). Others were delivered by non-medical staff including ahealth educator (Emmons 2001), trained graduate students (Hovell et al.2000) and counsellors (Zakarian et al. 2004). The intervention by Al-alaway etal. (2008) included a range of staff encompassing smoking cessation staff, council staff, the fire service, sure start and midwives. The intervention by Sockrider et al. (2003) provided materials by post rather than delivered by particular staff.

#### **4.6 Intervention impact**

The heterogeneity of the interventions aim, design and outcome measures used preclude a meta-analysis of their results. We have therefore completed a narrative synthesis of the data, primarily in terms of study impact, design, type of intervention and outcome.

## 4.6.1. Counselling interventions.

Six interventions consisted of counselling provided either to just the mother or to both parents:

Arborelius and Bremberg (2001, Sweden) conducted a before and after study (-) to assess the development, spread and evaluation of a national child health care based method targeting environmental tobacco smoke. The intervention included 28 families (no demographic details) and included five preparatory steps (establishing readiness to change in child health organisation, survey of current nursing practice, establishing routines for surveillance, routine recording of smoking status, developing new counselling methods, piloting of the smoke free children intervention), followed by dissemination and training. Nurses received intervention training in the "south west" health region and in the rest of the area in 1997.

In the southwest region, the fraction of smokers was significantly lower in the years covered by the intervention compared to the years before (p<0.001 to p<0.008, primary data not provided). In the rest of the area, smoking in parents of infants up to 8 months only decreased by 0.9% in the yearsbefore/after training. The decrease was significant for both mothers and fathers (p=0.0009 and p=0.005). These results indicate that the introduction of the smoke free children initiative resulted in declining parental smoking rates for a specific child age group. The authors could not determine the smoking rate in the non pregnant population and therefore these results may represent a general trend rather than demonstration of an effective intervention.

Fossum et al. (2004, Sweden) conducted an RCT (+) to evaluate the effects of a counselling method ("Smoke-free Children") aiming to protect infants from

environmental tobacco smoke. Five (out of 24) Swedish counties were selected for the study on the basis of highest maternal smoking prevalence and no previous nurse training in the counselling method to be used in study. The study population were Swedish-speaking mothers who had given birth toa healthy child. They were recruited from Child Health Centres, run by single Child Health Nurses (CHNs). In the selected five counties, 17 CHNs formedan intervention group and 20 CHNs a control group. Groups were matched on the size of the community, and on the prevalence of smoking(demographic details are not clear). In total 41 mothers participated: 26 in the intervention group, and 15 in the control group.

The intervention consisted of the counselling method "Smoke-free children". This is described as a client-centred intervention aimed at increasing selfefficacy applied in a routine clinical setting. The CHNs in the intervention group received two days of training and a follow up session in the method by a pre-trained leader using standardised the programme. Training included video-recorded role playing and feedback. The study measured self-reported smoking with maternal salivary cotinine estimation at 1 month before birth and 3 months after birth, together with assessment of their child"s exposure to ETS by recall (elicited by trained interviewers blind to intervention or control group).

Before the intervention, the mean cotinine level was 185ng/mL in the intervention group and 245ng/mL in the control group. At follow up, cotinine levels had reduced by 10% in the intervention group (165ng/mL) and increased by 40% in the control group (346ng/mL), a significant difference (p=0.27). However, after the intervention, mothers in the intervention group reported higher levels of smoking than in the control group. Only weak correlations were found between self-reported smoking and cotinine.

Hovell et al. (2000, USA) conducted a RCT (++) to test the efficacy of behavioural counselling for smoking mothers in reducing young children"s exposure to environmental tobacco smoke. Participants were English and Spanish speaking mothers who smoked at least two cigarettes a day (breastfeeding mothers and those without a telephone were excluded). The

sample consisted of 108 women who attended sites of a supplemental nutrition programme. The women were from low income homes, were of mixed ethnicity (Black 21%, Hispanic 8%, White 47%, Other 4%), and half were single parents (46%). The mothers" mean age was 29 years and the children"s mean age was 14 months. The mothers smoked an average of 12.4 cigarettes per day.

The intervention consisted of seven individualised counselling sessions (three in person, four by telephone) based on shaping procedures (behavioural strategies for change). Sessions ranged from twelve to twenty eight minutes and were delivered by graduate students with twenty hours of training and weekly supervision. Control group mothers received usual nutritional counselling via the supplemental nutrition programme, and brief advice to quit smoking and not expose their children to ETS.

The study provides data in regard to children's reported exposure to ETS in and outside the home, both from mothers and from other sources of ETS (collected at baseline, 3, 6 and 12 months by interview). Also, data was collected on children's urinary cotinine concentrations (collected at baseline, 3 and 12 months), and mothers' saliva cotinine concentrations. Environmental nicotine monitors were placed in the room of greatest exposure for a randomly selected half of the intervention families.

The findings outline that mothers' reports of children's exposure to their smoke in the home declined in the counselled group from 27.3 cigarettes/week at baseline, to 4.5 at three months, and to 3.7 at twelve months. In the control group exposure rates reduced from 24.6 at baseline, to

12.1 at three months, and 8.4 at twelve months. The differences between the groups by time were significant (P = 0.002). Reported exposure to smoke from all sources showed similar declines, with significant differences between groups by time (p= 0.008).

At 12 months, the reported exposure in the counselled group was 41.2% that of controls for mothers' smoking (95% confidence interval 34.2% to 48.3%) and was 45.7% (38.4% to 53.0%) that of controls for all sources of smoke.

Children's mean urine cotinine concentrations decreased slightly in the counselled group from 10.93 ng/ml at baseline to 10.47 ng/ml at 12 months but increased in the controls from 9.43 ng/ml to 17.47 ng/ml (differences between groups by time p= 0.008). At 12 months the cotinine concentration in the counselled group was 55.6% (48.2% to 63.0%) that of controls.

Kallio et al. (2006, Finland), conducted a RCT (++) to determine whether repeated infancy-onset lifestyle counselling alters parental smoking and children"s exposure to tobacco smoke. Families of 5 month old infants were recruited at well baby clinics in Turku, Finland (540 intervention, 522 control). At 8 months (study onset) 33.2% of fathers and 17% of mothers smoked (no other demographic details provided).

The intervention families received individualised and detailed child-targeted lifestyle counselling at each visit, which consisted of mainly dietary counselling aimed at reducing saturated fat, total fat, and cholesterol in the child"s diet. Other lifestyle factors including smoking, sedentary lifestyle and overweight were discussed. At the child"s age of 5, parents received a bookletabout the adverse health effects of smoking. Families of both the intervention and control groups met a paediatrician and dietician first at one to three monthintervals and then at four to six month intervals. When the children were aged between two and seven years old, groups took place at six-monthly intervals, and annually thereafter.

The study outcomes were: self-reported parental smoking; reported tobacco exposure of children; and serum cotinine level for both parents and children. Follow-up measurement when the child was eight years of age revealed that reported levels of smoking amongst mothers and fathers of the intervention and control groups did not differ significantly. Serum cotinine concentrations also did not vary between children of the intervention and control group. As might be expected, serum cotinine values were higher in reported smokers than those of children from non smoking families (p=0.007).

Overall, the children's serum cotinine values correlated poorly with the self-reported amount of exposure (r=0.094 p=0.57). As there was no difference in

smoking habits between the intervention and control groups at child"s age 8 years, it suggests that general discussions about cardio risk factors withparents do not have a significant effect on smoking habits. The authorssuggest that counselling regarding parental smoking and children"s exposure to ETS needs to be specific and intense, repeated frequently throughout the years and attention also has to be paid to eliminating sources of ETS other than those caused by parental smoking.

Ratner et al. (2001, Canada) conducted an RCT (++) to explore if theconcern for their unborn baby"s health which may lead to a pregnant woman to stop smoking, was carried over to the first year of the infant"s life in terms of protecting the child from environmental tobacco smoke. The inclusion criteria for participants were: that they were women who had smoked before their pregnancy; had stopped during pregnancy; had given birth to healthy infants; and could be contacted by telephone. Of 416 eligible women, 251 (60%) consented to participate. They were aged 15 to 40 (no further demographic details provided). Non-participants differed mainly in terms either of high confidence about remaining as non-smokers, or an intention not to remain abstinent, thereby seeing no benefit of participating in a programme. Interviews were completed with 241 (96%) and 238 (95%) participants at six and twelve month follow up respectively.

The intervention delivered at time of birth and during the first 3 months postpartum included nurse-delivered telephone support, relapse prevention, and information about the adverse effects of smoking and environmental tobacco smoke. No details of the comparator are provided. The outcome measures were self-reported smoking status together with reported efforts to protect their baby from ETC. These self-report measures were compared with assessments of carbon monoxide in expired air.

At six months postpartum, 76% of the women reported that they did not allow people to smoke in their home. 77% removed ashtrays, 9% displayed no smoking signs and 90% tried to ask people to smoke outdoors. At 12 months, 76% reported not allowing smoking in the house, 89% removed ashtrays, 8%

displayed no smoking signs and 85% tried to ask people to smoke outdoors. At 6 months, 78.5% reported no difficulties in making homes smoke free, this increased to 87% at 12 months. Some women (<10%) described additional actions aimed at reducing ETS. The women who relapsed to smoking were slightly more likely to smoke in their home at six months than those who remained abstinent (26.5% vs. 21%), and this gap widened at twelve months (26% vs. 15%). The statistical analysis of this data is limited: with percentages given but no indications of statistical significance.

Zakarian et al (2004, USA) conducted an RCT (++) to test the effectiveness of a behavioural counselling programme for reducing children's exposure to ETS. Families were recruited from eight community health clinics in two systems. Clinics generated a list of all patients under five years and allmothers were contacted for telephone screening. Participants were English or Spanish speaking mothers with children younger than four, with the children exposed to a minimum of two of their mother's cigarettes per day. Current breast feeders were excluded. Of the 3448 mothers telephoned, 1584 were screened, and 191 (12.1%) qualified to participate. The first 150 were enrolled. Families were randomised to intervention or control after baseline measures. Assignment was stratified by child age, ethnicity and clinical site. There were 76 intervention and 74 control families. They were mostly unemployed (68%) and qualified for Medicaid (low SES) and they were mostlywhite 76% (Hispanic 12%, Black 1%). The mother's average age was 29 years and 40% were single parents. Their mean number of cigarettes per week was 12.8. The mean child age in months was 17.6 (SD 10).

The intervention involved counselling based on social learning theory. Mothers were offered seven behaviour counselling sessions over six months. Sessions one, three and seven occurred in person at clinic sites, and other sessions took place via telephone. Counselling included behavioural contracts to reduce children's ETS, the development of long and short term goals for shaping household behaviours, and also low or no cost rewards for success. Mothers were encouraged to use pictorial charts to self monitor smoking. Counsellors received 6 hours of individual and group training and supervision

and had monthly meetings to review progress. Standardised reports were completed for each session. In the control group, those who asked foradditional assistance to stop smoking were provided with a "quit kit" (no details) and a referral to community programmes. No formal smoking cessation counselling was provided.

The study outcome measures were children's ETS exposure and mother's smoking (measured by mother's reports) and children's urinary cotinine concentrations (sample collected at each study measure). Nicotine monitoring was also undertaken using meters for one week before the six month interview, in three rooms in the home.

Parent-reported measures indicated that, in both groups (intervention and control) children's exposure to mother's tobacco smoke in the home, and to all tobacco smoke, declined steeply from baseline to six months post test (p<0.001), and remained level during follow up. For both intervention and control participants, mother's smoking rates decreased from baseline to post test. This change was statistically significant for mother's indoor smoking rate (p=0.047) and mother's total smoking rate (p=0.003). No difference between intervention and control groups was observed over time. There was also no significant change over time for children's urinary cotinine levels.

## **Evidence statement 1:**

Mixed evidence from six studies reported on counselling interventions to promote smoke free homes:

Arborelius and Bremberg 2001 (Sweden) BA-Fossum et al. 2004 (Sweden) RCT+ Hovell et al. 2000 (USA) RCT++ Kallio et al. 2006 (Finland) RCT++ Ratner et al. 2001 (Canada) RCT++ Zakarian et al. 2004 (USA) RCT++

These studies showed only very weak associations between the counselling interventions and smoke free related outcomes (such as cotinine measures or self reported smoking). Due to the limited effectiveness seen, it is not possible to recommend specific types of counselling approaches or methods of delivery as most beneficial, however the most effective intervention (Hovellet al. 2000) consisted of behavioural counselling for smoking mothers delivered by graduate students with 20 hours of training and weekly supervision.

# 4.6.2. Counselling interventions with additional elements

Four interventions consisted of counselling plus additional elements such as the provision of written materials or telephone support. Only two studies reported on the effectiveness of the intervention. Details of the other two studies are given here for completion but do not contribute to the evidence statement.

Greenberg et al. (1994, USA) conducted an RCT (+) to determine if a homebased intervention programme could reduce infant passive smoking and lower respiratory problems. Eligible infants had to weigh at least 2000 g at birth and be free of significant postnatal medical problems. Infants were recruited from three hospitals where approximately 80% of the local population births occur. Informed consent and demographic data was sought for all eligible infants. Mothers declining to enrol were asked for demographic data and a description of their smoking habits. A final study sample of 933 infants was randomly assigned to four groups: full data collection intervention or control or reduced data collection intervention or control. The study population were of mixed ethnicity (Black - 35%, White - 64.3%). The mothers had a mean age in years of 26, and a quarter (25.2%) were smokers (mean cigarettes/day=13.8).

The intervention consisted of four home visits by a nurse during the first six months of life, lasting approximately 45 minutes each. The visits involved counselling, information giving (verbal and booklets), jointly going through worksheets, target setting and other materials such as signs and stickers. The only contact with the control group was for data collection.

The study measured exposure to tobacco smoke (self reported cigarettes per day smoked in the infant"s presence), environmental nicotine absorption (urinary cotinine), respiratory health (incidence of acute lower respiratory illness during first year of life) and prevalence of persistent lower respiratory symptoms at one year. 121 infants of smoking mothers completed the study. Among these, there was a significant difference in trend over the year between the intervention and the control groups in the amount of exposure to tobacco smoke. Infants in the intervention group were reportedly exposed to 5.9 fewer cigarettes per day at twelve months. There was no difference in infant urine cotinine excretion. The prevalence of lower respiratory tract symptoms was less among intervention group smoking mothers whose head of household had no education beyond high school (14.6% in intervention group and 34% controls).

There were significant differences in the characteristics of those who dropped out of the study. Of the 275 participants not completing the study, there were higher proportions of black, younger and less-educated mothers and also mothers who were smokers. However, the authors comment that the strength of the differences were weak. Self reported measures of exposure to tobacco smoke could have been biased with intervention group mothers more likely to report lower levels. However, the stability of the intervention effect persisted

for at least 7 months after the last intervention and the authors suggest this means that bias does not completely explain the positive outcomes. There was a lack of association between intervention and urine cotinine concentrations. The authors argue that this does not indicate a failure of the intervention as, in their view, this method as a measure of passive smoking is limited. However as a result of this, the results of this paper should be treated with caution.

Lee (2008, China) conducted a before and after study (+) to test an intervention designed using the knowledge, attitudes and behaviours of pregnant women regarding second hand smoke in the home. This was a two phase study. The first phase used focus groups to explore knowledge and perceptions. The second phase was the pilot intervention. For the second phase, 128 non-smoking pregnant women with smoking husbands were recruited and followed up for 16 weeks. This study had no control group. The women were stratified by age as follows: <25=38.3%; 26-30=48.4%; >30= 13.3%.

The intervention was conducted at first contact at a hospital event that consisted of motivational speeches by authoritative figures, video, role play and games designed to practice tactics and instil feelings of self-efficacy. A resource booklet was provided, and a telephone hotline was available for counselling and reinforcement to support bi-weekly telephone consultation provided by the researcher. A final "round up event" was staged to share experiences.

The outcome measures were self reported knowledge and attitudes only, with no consideration of smoking cessation or reduction, or providing a smoke free home. Knowledge and attitudes were measured by a questionnaire pre and post intervention. Participants" post-intervention scores were significantly higher than their pre-intervention scores, indicating a significant increase in knowledge, changes in attitudes towards stronger disapproval, and an increased likelihood of taking assertive action when exposed to second hand smoke in the family. Participants with some knowledge of the harmful components of second hand smoke increased from 32.7% to 92.2% (p <0.01),

while those with some knowledge of the diseases caused by second hand smoke increased from 19.5% to 74.2% (p<0.01). Approximately 38% of the participants started the program with some knowledge of the harm of second hand smoke to the pregnancy and the foetus, and this figure improved to 73.4% after the intervention (p<0.01). Most participants were already aware of the benefits of a smoke-free environment at home. The high pre-intervention percentage of 82.8% having awareness increased to 95.3% (p<0.05).

The percentage of participants who disliked and strongly disliked being exposed to second hand smoke increased from 50.7% before the intervention to 82.8% after the intervention (p<0.01). Before the intervention, a high percentage of the participants reported that they were likely to take assertive action when exposed to second hand smoke from their husband. The high percentage of 92.2% increased to 98.4% after the intervention (p<0.05). When the source of exposure was other family members, the likelihood of assertive action was 56.2% at the pre-intervention period, lower than when the source of second hand smoke was the husband. This percentage increased to 86.7% after the intervention (p<0.01).

#### Additional studies for information only:

Severson et al. (1994, USA) conducted an RCT (+) to study the effectiveness of an intervention to reduce infant exposure to environmental tobacco smoke during regularly schedules, and paediatric well care visits. The study included mothers who reported smoking in the month prior to pregnancy and who had a "well baby" recruited from 49 paediatric practices in Oregon. Of these, 26 practices (72 providers) were randomised to the extended intervention and 23 practices (56) providers to the minimal or usual care condition (1224 mothers in control and 1666 in the intervention). No demographic information is given about the participant mothers.

The intervention began in hospital after delivery, where mothers received written materials after birth and additional intervention and further materials at the first four well baby visits. These visits generally occurred at two to three weeks and then two, four and six months after birth. The intervention was delivered by paediatricians, nurse practitioners and physician"s assistants and involved five steps. These included: encouragement to quit or stay quit; facts about passive smoke exposure; soliciting quit date if relevant; giving out materials; and encouraging mother to watch a video on passive smoking. The comparator group received materials in hospital after birth only. All mothers at birth (regardless of smoking status) received a brief message from the paediatrician about the health effects of passive smoking on infants and a package of materials (letter, brochure and sign) designed to reduce passive smoking exposure.

The study outcomes were: self-report of receipt of materials elicited by telephone interviews; smoking status; quit attempts; and knowledge of ETS elicited through mailed questionnaire at 6 months and one year postpartum. At two and four months postpartum, 87% of smokers and 74% of quitters reported receiving advice to quit or stay quit. 83% of smokers and 66% of quitters received advice on passive smoke exposure. About 70% of the mothers reported receiving materials on passive smoking. The video wasseen by about 50% of mothers. Comparison of the number of quit attempts and knowledge of ETS between the two arms of the study was not reported. The authors describe this data as not being available at the time of the report. Precise evaluation of the intervention described in this paper is problematic due to the omission of crucial details regarding methods and analysis. The authors also report that delivery of the intervention was problematic, with variability in the distribution and collection of health surveys and in the delivery of the messages and materials.

Vineis et al. (1993, Italy) conducted a non randomised controlled trial (+) to evaluate the effectiveness of an educational campaign to prevent the exposure of young children to parental tobacco smoke. All parents of newbornbabies in the town of Rivoli were contacted and asked to complete a questionnaire. Questionnaires were returned by 1015 families (89% responserate). 402 were allocated to the intervention group and 613 to the control group. Allocation of participants was not random, with the date of delivery being used in the allocation process. Characteristics of the population were

not specified, other than that there was a "high proportion of blue collarworkers". Education and employment status was analysed in relation tosmoking habits and the effectiveness of the intervention.

The intervention consisted of a short counselling session (fifteen minutes) delivered by a nurse, together with three booklets – one on home accident prevention, one on the health effects of active smoking, and one on the health effects of ETS in children. The intervention period lasted for two years with follow up questionnaires sent to the target population two and four years after completion.

The study outcome was self report of the numbers of cigarettes smoked in the presence of children by mothers and fathers. This outcome was also analysed by social class. Results are not reported for the differences between intervention and control groups, other than that "little change" in smoking habits between the intervention and the control group was noted at the two follow up points. The authors suggest that the possibility of contamination between groups in terms of booklet exposure may have led to what they describe as the "modest effectiveness" of the smoking intervention.

#### **Evidence statement 2:**

Mixed evidence from two studies was identified for interventions which combine counselling with additional elements such as the provision of written materials or telephone support:

Greenberg et al. 1994 (USA) RCT+ Lee 2008 (China) BA+

However, Lee (2008) reported only on knowledge outcomes, rather than behaviour change.

# 4.6.3. Interventions to develop (mostly individualised) smoke free home policies.

Four papers evaluated programmes to implement individually delivered smoke free home policies. These policies were mostly tailored to the individual family, the one exception was the study by Sockrider et al (2003) where more generic materials were provided.

Chilmonczyk et al. (1992, USA), conducted an RCT (+) to test a low intensity, physician office based intervention strategy using infant urine cotinine to measure any reduction of infant environmental tobacco smoke exposure. The study included 103 mother-infant pairs (no demographic details provided)where the mother smoked ten cigarettes or more per day. A total of 518 mothers consented to providing information about household smoking habits and an infant urine sample. 103 mothers reported they smoked more than 10 cigarettes a day and were designated as the study sample, 52 of these received the intervention and 51 were randomly assigned to the control group. The intervention consisted of the physician telephoning each mother with the result of the infant cotinine test, and providing an explanation of the meaning of the result. In addition, personalised letters signed by the physician were sent to each mother giving specific recommendations for changing household smoking habits. No details of the control process other than "usual care" is provided. The follow up cotinine measurement at two months (obtained for 52% of the intervention and 57% of control infants) was 6% lower in the intervention group but this result was not significant. The authors suggest that low compliance with the follow up may have contributed to unreliability in the study findings.

Strecher et al. (1993, USA) conducted a RCT (+) which looked at the role of a theoretical framework in an intervention program designed to reduce infants" exposure to ETS. Infants were enrolled at birth (three hospitals) and randomly assigned to intervention or control. 2332 eligible infants were born but many mothers declined consent or could not be contacted after enrolment (intervention n=292, control n=293). In order to participate, infants had to have

no significant postnatal problems and a healthy birth weight (no other demographic data is provided).

The intervention consisted of four intervention nurse home visits (experienced public health nurse) between three weeks and six months of age (with follow up data collected at one year). Each visit lasted 45 minutes. At the visit the nurse defined passive smoking, and identified positive and negative outcomesrelating to exposure to tobacco smoke. Expectations were addressed through verbal reinforcement and by worksheets, which allowed the mother to identify possible sources of smoke which her infant may be exposed to and select specific strategies for reducing passive smoking from these sources. The mother then selected strategies which she felt could be confidently achieved. The control group received no intervention.

Study outcomes were exposure to tobacco smoke (deemed to occur when smoke was produced in the infants presence), together with the amount of exposure expressed as cigarettes per day. Two psychological constructs were also used. One defined by the authors measuring the expectation of outcomes resulting from behaviours associated with exposure, and the other measuring expectations of efficacy associated with the mother"s ability to engage in these behaviours (no clear details given). The intervention produced significant and sustained changes in outcome expectations (F=22.0 p<0.001) from baseline to follow up at seven months. A marginal effect (F=3.2, p<0.08) intervention by outcome expectations. No additional effects were seen between seven and twelve months. Interpreting the results of this paper in terms of the effectiveness of the intervention is problematic as they are presented in the context of supporting the psychological model.

Stepans et al. (2006, USA) conducted an RCT (++) to determine the effect of a smoking hygiene intervention on infants of breast feeding mothers who smoke. A convenience sample of thirty five mother-infant dyads from seven postpartum units was recruited and randomly assigned to the intervention or control group. Of the twenty seven dyads completing the study, sixteen were

in the experimental group and eleven were in the control group. Infants met the following criteria: hospital birth, at least 37 weeks gestation, birth weight >2,500 grams, on oxygen for no more than 24 hours after delivery, no significant postnatal health problems. Mothers were aged 18 years or older, smoked at least five cigarettes a day, and intended to breast feed (no further demographic details). Smoking hygiene was introduced when infants weretwo weeks old and reinforced at three and five weeks.

Intervention components included: the infant was not in the same room as someone who was smoking, if the mother smoked it should occur at least 90 minutes before or immediately after breastfeeding, an air cleaner was placed in the infant"s room. All women received an ETS exposure pamphlet defining smoking hygiene and outlining the steps they could take to reduce theirinfant"s exposure. The intervention group received the pamphlet at week two;the control group received it at week five, after the completion of data collection. The outcome measures were: infant health (respiratory symptoms); urinary nicotine and cotinine levels; and smoking hygiene behaviours. No differences in infant urinary nicotine (p=0.07) or cotinine (p=0.29) levels, or between breast milk nicotine (p=0.17) or cotinine (p=0.44) levels were seen between the two groups. There were also no differences between frequency of respiratory symptoms in either the control or intervention groups when week two was compared with three and five. Only 27% of women in the intervention group implemented all aspects of thesmoking hygiene intervention.

Sockrider et al. (2003, USA) conducted an. RCT (++) to examine the effect of an intervention to sustain prenatal smoking cessation postpartum in order to reduce infant ETS exposure. 485 women were involved in the intervention, termed project PANDA at 28 weeks gestation. 87% completed data at baseline and the twelve month follow up and were included in the analysis (N=325). The women had an average age of 28 and were of varied SES (income) and ethnicity (White 73%, Black 13%, Hispanic 13%, Other 1%). Current smokers made up 66% of the sample (83% of these reporting smoking 100 or less cigarettes per week prior to pregnancy), with the rest

having quit smoking (34%). The intervention consisted of a home smoking control index comprising four items: mother smokes in home; partner smokes in home; other household smokers are asked to smoke outside; and visitors are asked to smoke outside. These indices were used to classify homes as either having a smoking policy in effect, having no policy or no policy was needed.

The intervention consisted of families receiving one video tape and five newsletters for the women (and a different set for the partners), distributed by mail between twenty eight weeks gestation and six weeks postpartum. The newsletter included specific messages about protecting infants from ETS exposure, a sign to designate the home as smoke free and tips on relapse prevention. Control (usual care) subjects received messages about ETS exposure only as part of standard counselling from infant paediatric care or community education.

The study outcome measures were: the home smoking control index; reported tobacco smoking in the home; and validation of self reported smoking in the home using nicotine monitors. Of those who needed to control smoking in the home, 63% had a home smoking policy in effect at three months, 60% at six months, and 64% at twelve months. Predictors of having a policy at sixmonths included having a policy at the previous assessment, having confidence in limiting infant ETS exposure in the home, and perceiving a difficultly in preventing exposure. A significantly larger proportion of mothers who reported not smoking post partum were classified as having a policy in effect at each post partum interview (all p<0.02). Home nicotine concentrations were associated with self reported home ETS status at six and twelve months post partum (r=0.53 and r=0.55, both p<0.001). When compared with controls, smokers who received the smoking intervention were significantly more likely to restrict smoking in the home (58% compared to 29% allowed smoking, significance level not provided). The authors conclude that early establishment of a policy appears to be important for ensuring sustained ETS avoidance over time.

# Evidence statement 3.

Good evidence from four studies looked at programmes to implement individually adapted smoke free home polices:

Chilmonczyk et al. 1992 (USA) RCT+ Strecher et al. 1993 (USA) RCT+ Stepans et al. 2006 (USA) RCT++

or the individual delivery of a more generic policy: Sockrider et al. 2003 (USA) RCT++

These interventions generally had problems with low compliance and loss to follow up. However, Sockrider et al. 2003 demonstrated a significant reduction in smoking as a result of their home smoking control index.

# 4.6.4. Motivational interviewing interventions

Two papers report findings from interventions which were based on the use of motivational interviewing to promote smoke free homes. However, only one reported on effectiveness. The second paper is included here for information, but does not contribute to the evidence statement.

Emmons (2001, USA) conducted an RCT (++) to determine whether a motivational intervention for smoking parents of young children would lead to reduced household passive smoking exposure. The study population consisted of 323 current smokers or recent quitters with a child or grandchild under three years old in the household; and who were able to read and speak English or Spanish. Participants were recruited through primary care settings: family practice, obstetrics, and paediatric departments of eight community health centres serving diverse, low-income populations. In total 685 potential participants were contacted. 304 of these refused; 86 were ineligible and 4 took part in a pilot intervention. Data in the study are from the 279 participants

who provided a baseline household air sample. 141 smokers were randomised to the control (self-help) group and 150 smokers were randomised to the Motivational Interviewing group. The study population was of mean age 28 years, mostly female (91.5%), of low income and mixed ethnicity (White 46%; Black 21%; Hispanic 21%; Other 14). They smoked on average 14 cigarettes per day (SD=9.3) and the average length of timesmoking was 11.8 years (SD=7.7). More than 30% of participants had a partner who smoked. Children in the households were aged less than 3 years.

The intervention consisted of Motivational Interviewing (MI) in one 30-45minute session conducted in the participant"s home by a trained health educator. This was followed by four telephone counselling calls. Feedback about household nicotine levels was provided after the final follow-up assessment. A key component of the intervention was feedback from baseline household air nicotine assessments and assessment of the participants" carbon monoxide level, followed by tailored goal-setting. The control group underwent a programme of "Self Help" through printed materials sent by post. Both groups were provided with smoking cessation manuals, passive smoke reduction tip sheets and a resource guide on community-based health and social services resources.

The study measured exposure levels of environmental nicotine at baseline, three, and six months via nicotine concentration ( $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) in the TV room and kitchen, together with reported smoking cessation and cigarette consumption. The six month nicotine levels were significantly lower (p<0.05) in the MI households. Repeated measures analysis of variance across baseline, three month and six month time points showed a significant time by treatment interaction, whereby nicotine levels for the MI group decreased significantly. The nicotine levels for the self-help group increased, but were not significantly different from baseline. There were no significant differences in smoking cessation rates between groups at any of the follow-ups, and no change in smoking rate between groups at any of the follow-up assessments. The authors suggest that a six month follow-up period does not allow for evaluation of long-term changes in household exposure.

Al-alaway et al (2008, UK) conducted a before and after study (-) with members of the public aged between 16 and 65, in 13 neighbourhood renewalareas in Doncaster (no further demographic details given). The intervention was delivered by staff from Doncaster smoking cessation service, Doncaster council, South Yorkshire Fire Service, Sure Start and two midwives. Training in motivational interviewing was given. Respondents were selected via routine contact with frontline staff and asked whether they wanted to make their homes smoke free. If they agreed to participate they were provided with a leaflet offering a choice of three "promises" (Gold – smoke free home; Silver – smoking only in one room and never in the presence of children; Bronze – never smoke in the presence of children). In total 825 "promises" were returned after initial contact, of which, 523 (63%) were from current smokers. Non smokers (386, 95%), and smokers who had just quit (10, 91%) were more likely than smokers (271, 52%) to opt for a gold promise (p<0.001). Due to time constraints, 230 participants were randomly selected to receive follow up by postal questionnaire (81) or telephone survey (149).

The most common motivators to keep promises were: the health of children (26%) and a cleaner house/decor (12%). Feelings after making the promise included: healthy/health conscious (20%), responsible (17%), caring for others (17%), a good parent (15%) and a sense of achievement (11%). The selection of participants for follow up (although random) may have introduced bias into this study. Also, no data on the effectiveness of the intervention in relating to maintaining a smoke free home is presented. This paper provides information on an intervention but cannot be used to contribute to an evidence statement as the effectiveness of the intervention is not considered.

#### Evidence statement 4.

Good evidence from one study which reported on the use of motivational interviewing to promote smoke free homes demonstrated a significant decrease in nicotine levels in intervention households over six months (however, this was not supported by self reported smoking rates).

Emmons 2001 (USA) RCT++

#### 4.6.5. Professional training intervention

Narce-Valente and Kligman (1992, USA) conducted a before and after study (+) to assess the pre intervention and post intervention screening and counselling activities of physicians with regard to passive smoking. Patients of twenty eight physicians were sampled from the University of Arizona Family Practice Residency Program (106 office visits). The visits were by children aged five years or younger seen for diagnosis of upper tract respiratoryinfection, bronchitis, pneumonia or otitis media and their families (no further demographic details).

The two part intervention consisted of a two hour educational seminar for the physicians and a passive smoking chart reminder documentation system. The seminar contained information on the health effects of passive smoking and on techniques for physicians to use in counselling parents on the reduction of exposure of children to ETS. In addition, a newly developed office-based chart reminder consisting of a stamp in red ink on a flow chart could be used to document whether a child was exposed to smoke at home, and if so act as a reminder to counselling which could be offered.

The study outcome was physician screening and counselling regarding passive smoking. Of the twenty eight physicians, eleven attended the seminar. In comparing pre and post intervention parental surveys there were increases in passive smoking screening (17% vs. 32% p=0.03) and counselling (19% vs. 46% p=0.03) activities of physicians. Chart documentation of these activities however showed very little change regardingscreening (2% vs. 6% p=0.10) or counselling (4% vs. 6% p=0.64). Screening and counselling increased as a result of the intervention, but the effect on those who attended the seminar versus those who did not was not considered. This makes it difficult to draw any conclusions on the effectiveness of the intervention from these results.

#### Evidence statement 5.

One study reported on the effect of an educational intervention on the screening and counselling activities of physicians with regard to passive smoking.

Narce-Valente and Kligman 1992 (USA)BA+

This study did not consider the effect of those who attended the intervention compared to those who did not so the effectiveness of the intervention is unclear.

# 4.7. Discussion

# 4.7.1. Summary of identified research

The searches identified seventeen papers that met the inclusion criteria for smoke-free homes (although three did not fully consider the effectiveness of the intervention and so are included here for information only, they do not contribute to the evidence statements). The studies described here are biasedtowards interventions conducted in the USA (ten of seventeen), with only one conducted in the UK. Therefore there may be some reservations with respect to the applicability of the interventions in a UK population.

Interventions were categorised in terms of those which were based on counselling; counselling plus additional aspects; individually adapted smoke free home policies; motivational interviewing and also staff training. This categorisation system may not sufficiently differentiate the detail of different interventions, but represents one way of effectively dividing the evidence.

The review findings indicate limited evidence regarding the success of interventions to reduce environmental tobacco smoke. Data from the included papers suggests only very weak associations between counselling interventions and smoke free related outcomes. One study reported on the effect of an educational intervention on the screening and counselling activities of physicians however, the effectiveness of the intervention is unclear. There was mixed evidence in regard to interventions which combine

counselling with other additional interventions, such as the provision of written materials or telephone support.

There was also mixed evidence from studies reporting on interventions which were based on the use of motivational interviewing to promote smoke free homes, and also evaluations of individually adapted smoke free home plans. It is important to note that many studies which indicated positive effects found these in self-reported measures only. There were also limitations throughout the papers in terms of study quality (especially sample size) and poor reporting of results in relation to effectiveness of the interventions. These factors need to be taken into account when considering the evidence.

## 4.7.2 Research questions for which no evidence was identified

No evidence was identified on the cost effectiveness of the interventions. In addition there were no papers which considered media campaigns. The distribution of health promotion materials were only considered as a part of multi component interventions, where their effectiveness was not considered independently.

# 4.7.3 Evaluating the impact of different approaches

Evaluation of this type of intervention has the potential to use more reliable outcome measures than may be the case for other interventions in the public health field. The use of nicotine monitors and cotinine measures (from both infant and mother) for example, provide well-established outcome measures which do not rely on self reporting. However, the results obtained from different measures were, on occasion, contradictory, and some studies still relied on selfreporting for their outcomes.

Across the studies there was a lack of intervention fidelity, with large numbers of participants not adhering to the intervention. This, along with limited follow up in many cases makes it difficult to recommend specific intervention types or components.

### 4.7.4 Adverse or unexpected outcomes

No interventions reported on adverse outcomes.

#### 4.7.5 Applicability in the UK context

Care should be taken when considering the potential applicability of the majority of these studies to the UK context as nearly all were conducted outside the UK and differences in service delivery, financial considerations, and staffing provision may be significant. However many of the non-UK populations were sufficiently similar demographically to allow comparison.

# 4.7.6 Implications of the review findings

The literature in general is not well developed, especially in terms of good quality effectiveness and cost effectiveness studies. The literature has a substantial bias towards interventions conducted in the USA (with only one study conducted in the UK identified), which will have implications for applicability in the UK.

The review considered a range of interventions encompassing counselling, counselling plus additional aspects, individually adapted smoke free home programmes, motivational interviewing and also staff training. The findings indicate limited evidence regarding the success of these interventions to reduce environmental tobacco smoke. Concerns regarding design, outcome measures and data collection for many of the studies require any recommendations drawn from this literature to be treated with caution.

## 5. RESULTS OF REVIEW TWO

#### 5.1. Quantity of the evidence available

The searches identified twenty two papers that met the inclusion criteria (outlined in section 3.2). Of these, ten reported qualitative data and nine reported quantitative cross-sectional data (surveys). An additional three papers provide narrative descriptions of issues relating to delivery of interventions in the findings section (see Table 8). The two papers by Cooke et al. (1998 & 2001) are from the same study; however provide different setsof data. The earlier paper reports findings from the baseline survey prior to the commencement of an intervention, and the later paper reports staff views of the intervention. The paper by Lando et al. (2001) examines data from two intervention studies using different intervention programmes, and thus reports data from two sets of participants.

Cross-sectional	Bishop et al. 1998
(survey)	Claper et al. 1995
	Cooke et al. 2001
	Cooke et al. 1998
	Glover et al. 2008
	Grange et al. 2006
	Hartmann et al. 2007
	Jordan et al. 2006
	Walsh et al. 1995
Qualitative	Abrahamsson et al. 2005
interviews	Arborelius & Nyberg 1997
	Everett et al. 2005
	Lowe et al. 2002
	McCleod et al. 2003
	McCurry et al. 2002
	Nichter et al. 2007
	Tod 2003
Qualitative focus	Anderson 2002
group	Lowry et al. 2004
Narrative as part of	Katz et al. 2008
findings	Lando et al. 2001
	Solomon & Flynn 2005

## Table 8. Included papers by study design

# 5.2 Populations and settings

The papers encompass studies from five European countries, with three reporting British studies, one reporting data from Northern Ireland, one from France, and two from Sweden. Seven papers report data from the United States of America, five papers (four studies) from Australia, two papers from New Zealand, and one from South Africa (see Table 9)

STAFF		
Abrahammson et al. (2005)	Midwives. 2-24 years experience in antenatal work. All female. Age 27-61.	Sweden
Bishop et al. (1998)	Antenatal clinic staff Midwives + Doctors.	Australia
Clasper & White (1995)	Hospital Midwives, Community Midwives, GPs, Obstetricians.	GB
Cooke et al. (1998)	Antenatal clinic staff Midwives + Doctors.	Australia
Cooke et al. (2001)	Antenatal clinic staff. Midwives + Doctors. 23 smokers. Mean length of clinical experience= 10 years.	Australia
Everett et al. (2005)	Doctors in public sector hospitals.	South Africa
Glover et al. (2008)	GPs + Midwives 82% European 71% aged 35-54 years 99% Midwives female, 46% GPs.	New Zealand
Hartmann et al. (2007)	Staff working in prenatal care. Obstetricians, Midwives, Family Physicians, Nurses, Assistants.	USA
Jordan et al. (2006)	Obstetricians + Gynaecologists. Male 59%, White 80%, non smokers 80%, working in suburban locations 53%. Average 15 years of experience, average age 46. 76% worked in private practice.	USA
Lowe et al. (2002)	Medical Superintendents + Directors of Nursing/Head Midwife	Australia

 Table 9. Included papers by population characteristics

McCleod et al.	Midwives	New
(2003)	9 had received smoking	Zealand
	smokers 7 ex smokers 2	
	smokers.	
	Years in practice - 1 less than	
	5, 6: 5-10 years, 2: 16-20	
	years, 7: more than 20 years.	A ( )
Walsh et al.	Medical Directors + Nursing	Australia
(1995)	66% clinics in rural city or town	
	26% in city suburb, 8% inner	
	city.	
SERVICE USERS	Dragnant waman what ware	
Anderson (2002)	smoking	U5A
	Described as primarily lower	
	income, lower educated	
	women, most in their 20s.	
	Nearly half had other children.	
Arborelius &	Women who had smoked	Sweden
Nyberg (1997)	birth during previous few	
	months.	
	Age 20-38.	
	All low level of educational	
	attainment.	
	Skilled, unskilled workers + 5	
	unemployed.	
Grange et al.	Post-partum women. Given	France
(2006)	birth the same day or 2 days	
	before.	
	18% smoked during pregnancy	
	13% gave up during	
	pregnancy.	
Katz et al. (2008)	Black/African-American or	USA
	Latino pregnant women.	
	Resident in District of Columbia	
	English speaking	
	Pregnancy less than 28 weeks	
	gestation	
	Smokers only 54%, smokers	
	and depressive symptoms	
	11%, smoking and partner	

Lando et al. (2001)	Pregnant women smokers. Current and recent smokers (within 30 days prior to conception) Mean age 28 + 24 years 44% + 26% had not smoked in the previous 7 days. RCT - 88% Caucasian, 82% married or living with partner, 64% employed full time, 17% college graduates.	USA
Lowry et al. (2004)	Pregnant women smokers "mainly women from deprived areas , social class C2D and E".	GB
MCCleod et al. (2003)	Women within 4 months of giving birth. All smoked at conception, 4 stopped during pregnancy, 4 reduced, 3 continued to be regular smokers. Age 21-36. 11 European ethnicity, 2 Maori.	New Zealand
McCurry et al. (2002)	Pregnant women Age 16-38 years "Committed smokers"	Northern Ireland
Nichter et al. (2007)	Low income pregnant women. 4 <sup>th</sup> or 5 <sup>th</sup> month of pregnancy All smoking at the time of pregnancy, 64% had continued to smoke during pregnancy, although all had attempted to reduce at some point. 62% Anglo American, 21% Mexican American, 11% African American, 6% multi ethnic. Most women in "high stress relationships", one quarter in positive, stable relationships.	USA
Solomon & Flynn (2005)	Pregnant women attending a women infants and children programme identified as a smoker.	USA
Tod (2003)	Pregnant women smokers South Yorkshire Age: 19-38	GB

The papers include findings from staff participants (eleven studies), and pregnant women (ten studies). Only one paper reported data from both staff and service users (McCleod, 2003). No papers were found reporting data on women planning a pregnancy.

Of the staff participants, two papers (Abrahammson et al., McCleod et al.) report data from midwives, one paper (Everett et al.) considers doctors, four papers (Bishop et al., Cooke et al., Cooke et al., Glover et al.) include antenatal clinic midwife and doctor participants, one paper considers obstetricians and gynaecologists (Jordan et al.), two papers report data from teams of four or five different professions (Clasper & White, Hartmann et al.), and two papers (Lowe et al., Walsh et al.) consider senior hospital staff(medical superintendents and senior midwives/medical and nursing directors).

The papers reporting service user participants include both women who were currently pregnant and smoking (eight papers), and women who had recently given birth and smoked at some time during the pregnancy (three papers). Of papers reporting currently pregnant women, Lando et al. (2001) reports data from two sets of participants where 46% in one group and 26% in the other group reported that although they were recent smokers, at the time of data collection they had not smoked in the previous seven days. The study by Nichter et al. (2007) also contains women who were not currently smoking in the sample, with 64% confirming they were still smoking at the time of data collection. The McCleod et al. (2003) study of women following birth also contains four of the eleven participants who stopped smoking prior to the birth (although does not record if this was still the case at the time of data collection).

Four papers (Anderson, 2002, Arborelius & Nyberg, 1997, Lowry et al., 2004, Nichter et al., 2007) describe the women study participants as being of low income, or low education, or low socio-economic status and thus may be of particular importance in considering health inequality issues. A UK study (Tod, 2003) took place in a health action zone. In addition, one paper (Katz et al., 2008) reports finding from Black/African-American or Latino pregnant women

in the USA which may also suggest lower socio-economic circumstances. This study includes not only pregnant women smokers, but also pregnant women with depressive symptoms and subject to partner violence. As more than 50% of the sample were smokers this paper has been included in the review, however the particular population characteristics may need consideration.

## 5.3 Quality of the evidence available

The methodology checklist outlines fourteen key questions to be considered when rating a qualitative study:

- 1. Is a qualitative approach appropriate?
- 2. Is the study clear in what it seeks to do?
- 3. How defensible is the research design?
- 4. How well was the data collection carried out?
- 5. Is the role of the researcher clearly described?
- 6. Is the context clearly described?
- 7. Were the methods reliable?
- 8. Is the data analysis sufficiently rigorous?
- 9. Are the data rich?
- 10. Is the analysis reliable?
- 11. Are the findings credible?
- 12. Are the findings relevant?
- 13. Are the conclusions adequate?
- 14. How clear and coherent is the reporting of ethics?

Each of these aspects is then considered and a judgement made as towhether the criteria have been fulfilled and the checklist item can be considered to be appropriate/clear/reliable/rigorous or otherwise the criteria has not been fulfilled and the item is inappropriate/unclear/unreliable/not rigorous/poor.

Of the ten qualitative papers, one was rated as ++, six rated as +, and three papers were rated as – for quality (see Table 10).
# Table 10. Quality rating of included qualitative papers.

- \*\* Appropriate/clear/reliable/rigorous/rich
- \* Inappropriate/unclear/unreliable/ not rigorous/poor
- 0 Unsure/unable to judge

Paper	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	Quality
															grade
Abrahamsson et al. 2005	**	**	**	**	**	**	0	*	**	0	*	**	*	**	+
Anderson 2002	**	**	**	*	0	*	0	*	**	0	*	**	*	0	-
Arborelius & Nyberg 1997	**	**	**	**	**	**	0	*	**	*	**	**	**	0	+
Everett et al. 2005	**	**	**	**	0	0	0	**	**	*	**	**	*	0	+
Lowe et al. 2002	0	**	**	*	*	**	0	*	*	0	0	*	*	0	-
Lowry et al. 2004	**	0	**	0	*	0	0	*	*	0	0	0	**	0	-
McCleod et al. 2003	**	**	**	**	**	**	0	**	**	**	**	**	**	**	++
McCurry et al. 2002	**	**	**	0	0	*	0	**	**	0	**	0	**	**	+
Nichter et al. 2007	**	**	0	0	**	*	0	**	**	**	**	**	**	0	+
Tod 2003	**	**	**	0	0	*	0	**	**	**	**	**	++	++	+

# 5.3.1 Limitations on study quality

The included papers report data from qualitative and cross sectional study designs, on some occasions forming part of a larger intervention study. During the sifting process studies using other designs such as randomised controlled trials were considered for inclusion however these studies had no relevant information in the findings section.

The main limitation on quality relates to the use of single methods of data collection within all the included studies. Although the concept of reliability in qualitative research is controversial, the use of and comparison of data from multiple methods (triangulation) is often considered to add strength/depth to the findings. Only one paper (McCleod et al., 2003) received a ++ rating.

Although this paper, as with the others, used only a single data collection method, it was felt that the higher rating was justified in view of the rigorous data collection and analysis process, and richness of the data provided. This is the only paper also to include data from both staff and recently pregnant women smokers.

In addition to these ten qualitative studies, the paper set includes nine crosssectional studies and three narrative report studies. The three studies reporting findings only as narrative, rather than data would rate as – for quality, but are simply referred to as "narrative" in the findings in order to distinguish them.

As indicated earlier, the cross-sectional studies are judged in terms of any potential confounding factors and/or whether there is potential for measurement bias. Four papers provide no details regarding the design and construction of the survey tool (Bishop et al., 1998, Glover et al., 2008, Grange et al., 2006, Walsh et al. 1995). Two papers describe a pilot phase (Clasper & White 1995, Cooke et al., 2001). One paper reports that they used a survey that had been adopted in a previous study (Cooke et al., 1998) and one describes the development of the tool from a review of the literature (Jordan et al., 2006). All these studies use self-report measures creating considerable opportunities for bias due to incomplete or inaccurate recall of events during pregnancy, and the use of largely untested measurement instruments. Also, in relation to staff participants, self report of behaviour maybe very different to actual behaviour.

#### 5.4 Review findings

Analysis and synthesis of the themes within the findings of the included papers, suggests a number of key recurring themes relating to the delivery of interventions to stop smoking in pregnancy. These are:

- 1 Whether or not the subject of smoking is broached when pregnant women are seen by health professionals
- 2 The advice/recommendations given by health professionals

- 3 The way that information and advice is communicated
- 4 The intervention provided during and after a consultation
- 5 Whether or not policies/procedures/protocols are in place
- 6 Record keeping and follow up
- 7 The knowledge and skill base of staff
- 8 Time constraints
- 9 Resource constraints
- 10 Staff perceptions of ineffectiveness
- 11 Differences between professional groups
- 12 Obstacles to accessing interventions.

# 5.4.1 Whether or not the subject of smoking is broached when pregnant women are seen by health professionals

Seven papers provide evidence regarding the frequency with which health professionals routinely broach the subject of smoking with pregnant women or recent mothers. Anderson et al., 2002, (Qualitative study -) described "variation" amongst pregnant women in the USA regarding whether smoking cessation had been discussed with them. Similarly McCurry et al., 2002 (Qualitative interview study +) found that most pregnant women smokers in the sample reported that health professionals in Northern Ireland had at sometime asked about their smoking behaviour "however not all". Grange (2006) in a survey of women in sixty maternity hospitals in France a few days after delivery, reported that 76% of women who were smoking at the start of pregnancy said that they had been asked about tobacco consumption by a clinician or midwife. Of the women who continued to smoke during their pregnancy, it was reported that 21% said that they had not been questioned on the subject.

In a survey of a range of maternity service staff in Britain, Clasper and White (1995) reported a much higher rate of 96% of participants agreeing that they routinely asked about the smoking status of pregnant women. Glover et al. (2008) found similar figures of 92% of GPs and 82% of midwives in New Zealand reporting that they usually asked pregnant women about their

smoking status. Cooke et al. (1998) in a similar survey in Australia antenatal clinics, reported a figure of 83% of staff agreeing that they assessed smoking status. Everett et al. (2005) in a survey of doctors in South Africa report a more mixed picture of practice, with some doctors not noting smoking status during a consultation, or giving cessation advice only where there was a health problem associated with smoking or where there was a history of miscarriage or stillbirth. These surveys report whether or not participants may have enquired about smoking status, although not at which point in time, and require retrospective recall of practice.

Four papers provide evidence regarding why not all health professionals may discuss smoking status with all pregnant women. Abrahammson et al., 2005 (Qualitative interview study +) outlines the experiences of midwives in Sweden. This study describes health professionals sometimes avoiding the issue of smoking due to previous experiences of attempted persuasion or informationgiving having a negative impact on the relationship between the midwife and the pregnant woman. The study highlights the key perceived importance to participants of establishing a good mutual relationship, and building cooperation through this relationship and respect for what the woman wanted. The authors suggest that midwives perceived a potential conflict between discussing smoking in pregnancy, and increasing a woman"s sense of guilt.

McCleod et al., 2003, (Qualitative interview study ++) describe midwives perceptions in New Zealand that asking women about smoking status was challenging, although the perceptions of pregnant women in the study was that it should be a part of a midwives job. This study, which formed part of a larger experimental intervention, used a laminated card with six statements about smoking status which the midwife showed to the woman and asked her to choose the one that best described her smoking status. The midwives reported that this was a useful way of addressing the perceived challenge of broaching the subject.

A focus group study (Lowry et al., 2004, Qualitative -) describes the perspective of women participants attending an antenatal clinic in the UK. The study was undertaken to inform the development of smoking cessation programme, and the authors describe the crucial role of relationships betweenwomen and health professionals, although report this in the narrative conclusions rather than study findings.

Katz et al (2008) provide supporting narrative evidence regarding the concerns staff have, in respect to the potential for discussion of smoking to damage relationships. This study is a randomised controlled trial of a ten session clinic-based intervention for pregnant African-American women. The study targeted personal smoking, environmental tobacco smoke and alsopartner violence. The authors describe that adjustments were made to the content of the intervention in regard to both violence and personal smoking "if a woman simply did not want to discuss their experiences on this issue furtheror the facilitator thought the relationship might be jeopardised". It is reported that for 5% of the sessions some of the content regarding personal smoking was omitted, and for a further 5% of sessions, the content was changed from personal smoking impact to environmental tobacco smoke risks.

## Evidence statement 1.

Two qualitative studies and five survey studies provide evidence that not all staff ask all pregnant women about their smoking status during consultations.

McCurry et al., 2002 (N Ireland service users) Qual+

Anderson et al., 2002 (USA service users) Qual-

Surveys - Grange et al. 2006 (France service users), Clasper & White 1995 (UK service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers).

These findings are from studies of both staff, pregnant women smokers and recent mothers across a range of countries including two from the UK. One study reports data from a lower income/educated population (Anderson et al. 2002 (USA service users) Qual-).

Four studies provide evidence that staff may not ask about smoking status due to concerns regarding damaging the relationship between themselves and a pregnant woman. McCleod et al. 2003 (New Zealand service users) Qual++ Abrahammson et al. 2005 (Sweden service providers) Qual+ Lowry et al. 2004 (GB service users) Qual-

Katz 2008 (USA) Narrative.

#### 5.4.2 The advice/recommendations given by health professionals

Five qualitative studies, three surveys, and two narrative reports describe the content of consultations regarding smoking between healthcare staff and pregnant women smokers. A survey of women in France (Grange et al., 2006) found that 53% of women who had continued to smoke during pregnancy reported receiving no information about the benefits of giving up smoking, and 77% said that they had not received any information leaflet. Minimal advice was reported by 16%. Interestingly, 63% of this same group of continued smokers said that they would not have liked any more support or information.

Further evidence is provided by Anderson (2002) in a focus group study of women in the USA (Qualitative study -). None of these women participants who were currently pregnant smokers described "a thorough attempt to explain what smoking was doing to the baby, how quitting lowers risks, and how to go about trying to quit". In a study by Arborelius and Nyberg (1997 Qualitative interview +) nine of the thirteen Swedish women stated that they would have given up if they had been given proof that smoking was dangerous or that the baby would be harmed. McCurry et al. (2002 Qualitative interview +) report that the pregnant women in their study in Northern Ireland perceived that they had been advised rather than strongly persuaded to give up smoking.

Nichter et al. (2007 Qualitative interview +) report the perception of mixed messages from doctors amongst pregnant women in the USA. One of the participants described how she was encouraged to cut down her smoking, but had also been told that if cutting down/quitting was becoming very stressful that she should stop, as stress could harm the baby more. Other women described receiving advice to quit, but the majority reported that they received no messages that were helpful, describing it as being "just a policy" for health professionals to ask and give a pamphlet.

Everett et al. (2005 Qualitative interview +) indicate concerns amongst some staff regarding the consultations. This study of doctors in South Africa describes participants as characterising their approach as mostly exhorting

79

women to stop smoking, which they were aware was inadequate. Other data relating to staff perceptions however suggest a more positive picture. Cooke et al. (1998) reports that 81% of staff in an antenatal hospital clinic in Australia describe that they provide education regarding the risks/effects of smoking. Clasper and White (1995) report a higher figure in UK hospital practitioners of 96% declaring that they explain the risks of smoking, and 67% offering advice regarding how to stop.

The narrative findings in a paper comparing two different interventions in the USA (Lando et al. 2001) describe how staff delivering the intervention programme struggled to actively engage women in the discussion of issues pertaining to smoking. Also, this paper describes how many paediatricians preferred to discuss environmental tobacco smoke rather than maternal smoking "since the baby not the mother was the patient". The narrative of the Katz et al. (2008) study also describes how discussion could be refocused on environmental tobacco smoke issues when personal smoking discussion became too difficult.

## Evidence statement 2.

Five qualitative studies and three surveys provide evidence that the information and advice provided by health professionals can be perceived as insufficient or inadequate by some women and by professionals themselves. There is the suggestion that advice could be more detailed and explicit, and that professionals find discussion of individual smoking behaviours challenging.

Anderson et al. 2002 (USA service users) Qual-Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+, Arborelius & Nyberg 1997 (Sweden service users) Qual+, McCurry et al. 2002 (N Ireland service users) Qual+, Nichter et al. 2007 USA service users) Qual+ Surveys - Grange et al. 2006 (France service users), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White 1995 (GB service providers).

Three of the studies report data from a lower income/lower educated/deprived area (Anderson et al., Arborelius & Nyberg, Nichter et al).

# 5.4.3 The way that information and advice is communicated

Five qualitative papers report findings regarding the way or manner in which staff discuss smoking issues with pregnant women.

Anderson et al., 2002 (Qualitative focus group -) describe the perceptions of women in the USA study that the health professional was "preaching" or "nagging" which resulted in counterproductive discussions. Also, some women reported that they had been insulted by the professional"s condescending tone, and had left the consultation feeling resentful. Arborelius and Nyberg 1997 (Qualitative interview +) similarly describe that ten of the thirteen women in this Swedish study stated that a midwife should not be authoritarian, should not exhort, pressure or nag. Two of the

participants made positive comments in particular about midwives they had encountered who were friendly and never negative.

A UK study (Lowry et al. 2004 Qualitative focus group -) similarly reports that women are particularly sensitive to the approach and tone used by a professional, being disparaging of anything "preaching" or "hard hitting". They emphasis the importance of an approach that is "ongoing support" rather than "nagging". They also describe the perception of mixed messages amongst pregnant women, reporting the view that professionals were nagging them to quit but not following through this advice with enthusiasm or empathy.

Tod (2003) echoes this perception of the negative effective of advice given in a judgemental manner (Qualitative +). Some of the UK women participants in this study described how the perception of being judged led to them continuing to smoke as they were upset and saw it as a position of defiance. Only one study reporting staff perceptions includes data relating to the method of communication between staff and pregnant women smokers. Everett et al. (2005) describes how five of the fifteen South African doctors expressed the view that a more caring and empathetic approach could improve communication.

#### Evidence statement 3.

Five qualitative papers describe how the style or way that information/advice is communicated to pregnant women smokers can impact on how the advice or information is received. Concerns regarding advice being construed as nagging or preaching are reported, together with the recommendation that that a more caring, empathetic approach may be helpful.

Arborelius & Nyberg 1997 (Sweden service users) Qual+ Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+ Tod 2003 (GB service users) Qual+ Lowry et al. 2004 (GB service users) Qual-Anderson 2002 (USA service users) Qual-.

#### 5.4.4 The intervention provided during and after a consultation

Four survey papers plus one qualitative paper provide evidence regarding interventions provided as part of a consultation or subsequently. Cooke et al. (1998 & 2001) describe the practice of midwives and doctors in an antenatal clinic in Australia. The earlier paper reporting baseline data found that 54% of staff reported giving out pamphlets on the effects of smoking, and 10% offering a video on smoking. 57% gave counselling on methods to quit, 29% aself-help quit booklet and 15% negotiated a quit date. 42% offered a referral on to other services. The study reports that more than half (57%) of the clinicians recommended that clients cut down smoking rather than quit.

The later paper reports findings following dissemination of a stop smoking programme with multiple components to antenatal clinic staff. The study found that the number of different types of intervention that were offered to pregnant women by staff changed following the intervention. There were significant increases in particular in patient education, counselling, and use of the programme"s self-help quit booklet (p<0.001).

Grange et al. (2006) reports that 77% of women in this French study who smoked throughout pregnancy, said that they had not been given an information leaflet, and 91% had not been offered a specialised consultation. Hartmann et al. (2007) report service provider perceptions in the USA, indicating that 91% of staff sampled in prenatal care reported having at least one smoking cessation resource available. The authors describe that in order for staff to operate at the level of best practice, they should have access to at least one material counselling resource to use with pregnant women smokers.

Glover et al. (2008) report the knowledge level of GPs and midwives regarding smoking cessation in New Zealand. This survey linked the likelihood of staff recommending particular interventions with their perceptions of which were the most effective. 60% of participants reported that they usually provide smoking cessation counselling to pregnant women. Reported recommendation of nicotine replacement therapy was low with only 34% of GPs and 31% of midwives likely to recommend nicotine gum. 93% of staff

reported that they usually discus the adverse effects of smoking during pregnancy with smoking patients at the first visit. The study also reports percentages of staff advising quitting versus cutting down. 71% of GPs and 11% of midwives said that they advise patients to stop smoking completely. 80% of midwives and 28% of GPs said that they would advise cutting down initially with a view to stopping altogether.

A qualitative study (McCurry et al. 2002 Qualitative +) describes GPs as having only a minimal role in ongoing smoking cessation intervention in Northern Ireland. Most women in this study reported having been given leaflets, books, information about specialist clinics and help lines. Only a few reported being offered personal support by their midwife and none received help in developing a quit plan.

#### Evidence statement 4.

One qualitative study and four surveys provide evidence that there is variance in practice amongst staff in regard to the type of intervention offered during and following a consultation, such as whether a leaflet is offered, whether there is referral on to a specialist programme, or whether ongoing personal support is offered.

McCurry et al. 2002 (N Ireland service users) Qual+

Surveys - Cooke et al. 2001 (Australia service providers), Grange et al. 2006 (France service users), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers), Hartmann et al. 2007(USA service providers).

#### 5.4.5 Whether or not policies/procedures/protocols are in place

Four papers outline the potential significance of whether or not a service has well-defined procedures in place, detailing the care that should be provided for pregnant women smokers. A survey by Cooke et al. (1998) associated having a policy/procedure in place with an increase in the number of smoking interventions offered by healthcare staff in Australia (effect size 0.1 p<0.01).

Hartmann et al. (2007) report that only 20% of staff working in prenatal care in the USA said that they have a written protocol for smoking cessation. Clasper and White (1995) in a UK survey found a low figure of 6% of staff using guidelines covering advice and help which should be given to pregnant smokers. Qualitative data (Everett et al. 2005) from South African doctors suggests that these participants were unaware of available guidelines for counselling pregnant women.

#### Evidence statement 5.

There is evidence from one qualitative study and two surveys that there is limited knowledge/availability/use of guidelines/protocols in practice.

Everett et al. 2005 South Africa service providers Qual+ Surveys - Clasper & White, 2005 (UK service providers), Hartmann et al. (USA service providers).

There is evidence from one survey that that having guidelines/protocols in place may be associated with an increase in the number of smoking interventions offered.

Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers).

#### 5.4.6 Record keeping and follow up

Evidence from four qualitative studies, three surveys and a study narrative relates to record keeping practices and follow up after initial consultation.

Arborelius and Nyberg 1997 (Qualitative interview +) report the perception of Swedish women who had smoked during pregnancy, that midwives who systematically asked about their smoking and kept a record of their consumption were viewed positively. McCleod 2003 (Qualitative interview ++) in contrast reports UK midwives" concerns that continued asking about smoking could have a negative effect on women who may not be ready to make changes. The same study however confirms that some women valued the ongoing enquiries throughout their pregnancy. The importance of being able to tell the midwife that they had succeeded in making changes, no matterhow small, in response to brief enquiries about progress at each visit was described. The study also highlights that approaches need to be tailored to individuals. It suggests that repeated enquiry needed to be associated with the extent to which women were ready to make changes, as if women were clear that they did not want to many any changes, ongoing enquiry was less welcome.

Nichter et al., 2007 (Qualitative interview +) contains data from one participant in this study of low income women in the USA, who reported that she was aided in her quitting attempts by regular telephone calls she received from a telephone help line.

Everett et al. 2005 (Qualitative interview +) describes that some doctors in South Africa did not note smoking status during a consultation, initially or at follow up appointments. The Clasper and White (1995) survey suggests that around 95% of UK health professionals record the smoking status in the notes. However, only 49% reported that they monitor or review smoking status throughout the pregnancy. Glover et al. (2008) provide figures of 98.5% of midwives and 84.5% of GPs reporting that they routinely record the smoking status of patients in New Zealand.

Grange et al. (2006) describe the perception of women in this study in France that 84% had not been asked about their attempts to give up. Narrative in the Lando et al. (2001) study comparing two interventions in the USA describes the tendency for practitioners to stop discussing smoking once a woman had quit, opening up the possibility of relapse.

## **Evidence statement 6.**

Evidence from four qualitative studies, three surveys and a study narrative suggests that record keeping practices and follow up enquiry may be inconsistent amongst practitioners. Pregnant women smokers differed in their views regarding the frequency with which they should be asked about their smoking.

McCleod et al. 2003 (New Zealand service providers) Qual++ Arborelius & Nyberg 1997 (Sweden service users) Qual+ Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+ Nichter et al. 2007(USA service users) Qual+ Surveys - Clasper & White 1995 (GB service providers), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers), Grange et al. 2006 (France service users) Narrative - Lando et al. 2001(USA).

# 5.4.7 The knowledge and skill base of staff

Three qualitative studies, seven surveys and one narrative report describe concerns regarding the knowledge and skill base of staff in relation to smoking cessation in pregnant women.

Abrahammson et al. 2005 (Qualitative +) describes midwife concerns in Sweden regarding their competence to deal with the challenge of broaching the subject of smoking in pregnancy. McCleod et al. 2003 (Qualitative interview ++) similarly use the term challenging when reporting midwives" efforts to ask about and support pregnant women smoking in New Zealand. Everett et al. 2005 (Qualitative +) describe doctor"s concerns that they are ill equipped and lack knowledge in particular regarding how to motivate pregnant women to cease smoking.

These themes are echoed in the survey by Walsh et al. (1985) who report lack of staff training in counselling smokers was rated as very important by 49% of nurses, and 34% of medical staff in Australian antenatal clinics. Also, work by Cooke et al. (1998) in Australia describes participants rating themselves as "more willing than able" to counsel for smoking cessation and a lack of training as being an important barrier to smoking cessation services. In this sample of 204 midwives and doctors, 17% reported that they had been offered in-service training in the past 18 months on smoking cessation interventions, with 11% having attended a programme. 66% reported that training and support for staff in this area was inadequate. The authors report the association between having recent training in smoking intervention, and an increased number of smoking interventions offered to women (Effect size 0.13 p<0.001).

A UK study by Clasper and White (1995) similarly reports that staff perceive a lack of knowledge and skills, with 53% of the hospital midwives, community midwives, GPs and obstetricians perceiving that they were insufficiently trained. More training and more time were the factors mentioned most commonly as ways to make their smoking cessation counselling more effective. 23% of the participants declared that they enjoyed giving counselling, 60% reported that it was difficult. Bishop et al. (1998) describe a tendency for staff to use personal experience of smoking, quitting or non- smoking to influence the content of their consultations. Hartmann et al. (2007) report in their survey of staff in the USA working in prenatal care, that 48% had no formal training in smoking cessation intervention, and 9% reported a lack of confidence in their personal intervention skills. Jordan et al. (2006) describe clinicians being unsure of where to send patients for further treatment, however only a small number (3%) identified low confidence/perception of ineffective intervention as a barrier to using a smoking cessation method.

In the narrative findings of a paper comparing two interventions, Lando et al. (2001) describe the role of staff and service provider attitudes in relation to successful implementation of smoking cessation interventions. The authors describe the need for staff and service providers to be "psychologically

88

readied to deliver an intervention", and that developing the skills and comfort level to carry out an intervention successfully took time.

## Evidence statement 7.

Three qualitative studies, seven surveys and one narrative report suggest that staff perceive that they have limited skills and knowledge to implement successful smoking cessation interventions.

(McCleod et al. 2003 (New Zealand service users) Qual++, Everett et al. 2005, (South Africa service providers) Qual+, Abrahammson et al. 2005 (Sweden service providers) Qual+ Surveys - Walsh et al. 1985 (Australia service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Cooke et al. 2001 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White, 1995 (GB service providers), Bishop et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Hartmann et al. 2007 (USA service providers), Jordan et al. 2006 (USA service providers) Narrative - Lando et al. 2001(USA).

# 5.4.8 Time constraints

Seven surveys, two qualitative studies, and study narrative findings describe staff concerns regarding the impact of time constraints on providing smoking cessation services to pregnant women. Bishop et al. (1998) and Cooke et al. (1998), identify lack of time as a key barrier, similarly Glover et al. (2008) describe a lack of time during a consultation as a key reason for participants not asking women about smoking status. Clasper and White (1995), in theonly UK survey describing this aspect, report doctors and midwives quoting more training and more time as the ways to make their counselling more effective. Hartmann et al. (2007) similarly identify time constraints as the most commonly acknowledged barrier to intervention. The Jordan et al. (2006) survey has a slightly different emphasis, with the vast majority of obstetrician and gynaecologist participants in the USA perceiving no barriers preventing them from using a smoking cessation method (5As), although 10% did identify lack of time as a constraint.

Lowe et al., 2002 (Qualitative interview -) collected data from medical superintendents and senior midwives at hospitals enrolled in a smoking cessation programme in Australia, but currently not providing the intervention. The staff interviewed were "not convinced" that they could overcome the barriers of staff time and lack of administrative support. In another qualitative study, Everett et al., 2005 (Qualitative interview +) reported that the doctor participants perceived that their efforts would be more effective if they had more time for discussion during consultations.

In a narrative discussion of the implementation of two interventions in the USA, Lando et al. describe lack of staff time as one of the key hindrances to programme delivery.

#### Evidence statement 8.

Two qualitative studies, seven surveys and one narrative provide evidence that staff perceive that lack of time is a significant barrier to the implementation of smoking cessation interventions.

Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+ Lowe et al. 2002 (Australia service providers) Qual-Surveys - Bishop et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White 1995 (GB service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers), Hartmann et al. 2007 (USA service providers), Jordan et al. 2006 (USA service providers), Walsh et al. 1985 (Australia service providers) Narrative - Lando et al. 2001(USA).

#### **5.4.9 Resource constraints**

In addition to the time constraints reported above, six surveys, one qualitative study and narrative study findings make reference to staff concerns regarding limited resource availability.

Walsh et al. (1995) report that 39% of nurses and 24% of medical staff in their study in Australia identified too few staff as a "very important" barrier to their involvement in providing smoking cessation programmes. This is echoed by Lando et al. (2001) in narrative findings outlining how the use of temporary staff, and decrease in nursing staff had impacted on the delivery of a smoking cessation intervention.

Cooke et al. (1998) describe lack of good quality materials as a barrier to smoking cessation, Bishop et al. (1998) echo these findings, with participants in this study also describing a lack of patient education materials. Hartmann et al. (2007) associate having at least one material counselling resource available to be associated with best practice (Odds ratio 9.6). Jordan et al. describe a lack of reimbursement for services in their study of obstetricians and gynaecologists in the USA, and Lowe et al. (2002) a lack of administrative support.

Everett et al. (2005) report that doctors in their South African study declared that they would be receptive to the introduction of smoking cessation interventions only if it brought additional staff in to the system, and was independently administered and funded.

## Evidence statement 9.

One qualitative study, six surveys and narrative from one study suggest that staff perceive that limited resources in the form of either staffing or patient education materials impact on the delivery of interventions.

Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+

Surveys - Walsh et al. 1985 (Australia service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Bishop et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Hartmann et al. 2007 (USA service providers), Jordan et al. 2006 (USA service providers), Lowe et al. 2002 (Australia service providers).

Narrative - Lando et al. 2001 (USA).

These papers report findings from Australia and the USA with no UK studies which may require consideration in terms of applicability to the UK context.

# 5.4.10 Staff perceptions of ineffectiveness

Seven surveys and two qualitative studies report staff perceptions regarding the limited effectiveness of interventions and pessimism regarding the potential for their input to effect any change.

Bishop et al. (1998) report findings that the Australian antenatal clinic staff they surveyed perceived that lack of client motivation was an immovable barrier to them effecting any change. Clasper and White (1995) in the UK found that only 56% of the staff they surveyed viewed smoking cessation counselling given by health professionals as reducing levels of smoking in pregnant smokers. Hartmann et al. (2007) similarly provide figures of 68% of staff working in prenatal care identifying lack of patient interest as a barrier to intervention. Jordan et al. (2006) report 7% of staff identifying pregnant smokers not being responsive to suggestions, and previous failures (6%) contributing to the barriers preventing them from using a smoking cessation method.

Cooke et al. (1998) also quote pessimism about the effectiveness of smoking advice as being a barrier to smoking cessation interventions. Walsh et al. (1985) report 25% of nurses and 21% of medical staff identified pessimism about the effectiveness of smoking advice as a "very important" barrier to them being involved in providing smoking cessation programmes. In relation to this pessimism regarding the potential for effectiveness of intervention, the Glover et al. (2008) survey reports that 33 of 147 GPs and 74 of the 203 midwives indicated that they knew very little about the effectiveness for pregnant women of cessation treatments.

Abrahammson et al. 2005 (Qualitative interview +) also describes staff pessimism regarding their potential to effect change, and previous experiences of having negative responses from women when the subject of smoking had been broached. The data includes participants reporting that based on previous experience "informing does not work". Everett et al. 2005 (Qualitative interview +) similarly outline frustration among the doctor participants at their lack of success in encouraging women to stop smoking. The doctors reported that while smoking was important, in the particularpopulation they worked with in South Africa, their patients had other competing and often more important health needs associated with low socio- economic status.

Katz et al. (2008) provide data relevant to these pessimistic views of staff from pregnant women service users via a telephone debriefing at the end of an intervention. 29% of those who had not attended any sessions reported that they did not feel that they needed/wanted to participate. 22% of those who had only attended one to three sessions reported that they were not sure why or did not know why they did not attend any further sessions.

# Evidence statement 10.

Two qualitative studies and seven surveys suggest that staff perceptions regarding the limited effectiveness of interventions may impact on their delivery of services.

Abrahammson et al. 2005 (Sweden service providers) Qual+ Everett et al. 2005 (South Africa service providers) Qual+ Surveys - Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers) Bishop et al. 1998 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White 1995 (GB service providers), Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers) Hartmann et al. 2007 (USA service providers), Jordan et al. 2006 (USA service providers), Walsh et al. 1985 (Australia service providers).

One paper describes a lack of firm reasons for non attendance given by women who did not attend a smoking intervention programme (Katz et al. USA).

# 5.4.11 Differences between professionals

Four surveys highlight that there are differences in typical practice between professional groups. Cooke et al. (1998) found differences between doctors and midwives in terms of their likelihood of referring on to other services (midwives were more likely to refer on (p<0.001). Also, midwives were more likely to advise clients to gradually reduce, whereas doctors were more likelyto advice clients to quit by abrupt cessation (p<0.01). Cooke et al. (2001) in addition found that following training, midwives were more likely than doctors to use at least one of the programme components (58% versus 22%).

Clasper and White (1995) echoed these findings in the UK, indicating that midwives were more likely to carry out a range of smoking cessation information and counselling interventions than doctors (p<0.01). Midwives reported asking about smoking, advising smokers how to stop, and monitoringand reviewing smoking status throughout pregnancy more often than doctors.

Glover et al. (2008) similarly identified differences between midwives and GPs in terms of the percentage who recorded smoking status (98.5% of midwives, 84.5% of GPs), likelihood of asking about smoking status at first visit (GPs 92%, midwives 82%). As with the Cooke et al. study, this work also suggested that doctors were more likely to advise women to stop smoking completely, whereas midwives were more likely to advise cutting down initially with a view to stopping (80% versus 20% RR 2.86 CI 2.18-3.74). GPs were also more likely to give stop smoking advice at each antenatal visit as opposed to only discussing it if it was raised by the woman (69% versus 47% RR 1.45 CI 1.2- 1.75).

#### Evidence statement 11.

Four surveys provide evidence that typical practice in regard to smoking cessation advice and management of care can vary between doctors and midwives.

It is reported that General Practitioners are more likely to advise women to quit smoking completely, whereas midwives are more likely to advise gradual reduction. Also, the evidence suggests that midwives are more likely to refer on to other agencies and record smoking status. GPs were more likely to raise the subject of smoking at subsequent consultations than midwives.

Surveys - Cooke et al. 1998 (Australia service providers) Cooke et al. 2001 (Australia service providers), Clasper & White, 1995 (GB service providers), Glover et al. 2008 (New Zealand service providers).

#### 5.4.12 Obstacles to accessing interventions

Two narrative reports and one qualitative study describe barriers that may discourage potential service users taking up offered intervention programmes.

Katz et al. (2008) describe the recruitment issues encountered during a randomised controlled trial intervention in the USA. Data was collected via a

telephone debriefing with a sample of participants, describing factors quoted by participants as reasons for not attending. As described previously, some participants were unable to give a reason. However, 24% of those who did not attend any sessions reported that the sessions being too long was a significant obstacle. The average length of each session is reported by the authors to be 35 minutes, with the programme consisting of ten sessions.17% of those who attended only one to three sessions similarly identified the sessions being too long as a reason for their non attendance. 17% of this group also reported that the timing of the sessions was wrong in relation to the stage of their pregnancy (programme began during later stages of pregnancy) or that they only attended when they also had a clinic appointment.

Solomon and Flynn (2005) report on the implementation of a telephone support intervention. The authors identified that 22% of referrals for the programme that they received from clinic staff were never reached by telephone, even allowing for eight attempts at initiating the calls. 22% received only one contact, which the authors attributed to women accepting the referral when offered but later declining when contacted.

Tod 2003 (Qualitative interview +) report data from a UK study. Pregnant women smokers in this study reported that their mobility to attend smoking cessation services was very limited due to a lack of transport and alternative child care. They reported that only domiciliary or very local services would be suitable for them, and suggested that the provision of crèche facilities, appointment systems or telephone counselling could be suitable service delivery options.

#### Evidence statement 12.

One qualitative study and two narrative reports describe obstacles to pregnant women smokers accessing services as including: the length of sessions; difficulty making telephone contact; and a lack of transport or child care.

It is suggested that domiciliary or very local services, the provision of crèche facilities, appointment systems or telephone counselling could be suitable service delivery options.

Tod 2003 (GB service users) Qual+ Narrative - Katz et al. 2008 (USA service users), Solomon & Flynn 2005 (USA service users).

#### 5.5 DISCUSSION

This review has considered the delivery of services for pregnant women smokers, and for women smokers following childbirth. No studies were identified relating to women smokers planning a pregnancy. The review identified 22 papers reporting 12 areas where the literature describes potential barriers or enablers to uptake of these services.

These areas are: whether or not the subject of smoking is broached when health professionals; pregnant women are seen by the advice/recommendations given by health professionals; the way that information and advice is communicated; the intervention provided during and after a consultation; whether or not policies/procedures/protocols are in place; record keeping and follow up; the knowledge and skill base of staff; time constraints; resource constraints; staff perceptions of ineffectiveness; differences between professional groups; and obstacles to accessing interventions.

The evidence underpinning these aspects is from qualitative and crosssectional studies, including only one high quality qualitative study, together with six good quality qualitative studies. The cross-sectional studies report data from surveys almost exclusively designed for the study and largely un- tested, with potential for bias due to self-report and retrospective recall.

In regard to the broaching of the subject of smoking with pregnant women and recent mothers who smoke, the papers suggest that a high proportion (but not all) staff routinely ask about smoking status. Qualitative papers describe the proportion as "variation" and "most but not all". The surveys report 76% to 96% routine inquiry. The lower of these two figures is from pregnant women report, with the others all from professional self-report. The highest figure (96%) is from a UK study of health professionals, however no corresponding data from women in the UK were found in the peer-reviewed literature. The papers provide some insight into why intentions may not be always translated into practice, with the suggestion that concerns regarding damaging the relationship between professional and pregnant woman may be important, and also as will be discussed later, time constraints and differences between professional groups may also be significant in whether the subject of smoking and smoking cessation intervention is broached.

In terms of the advice and recommendations given by health professionals, the papers report variation in practice and some dissatisfaction amongst pregnant women regarding the content and level of advice and information. There is the suggestion that not all women are provided with information leaflets, and also that there may be a need for a more thorough/more strongly persuasive explanation with the inclusion of evidence or "proof" of the potential harm. Differences between women regarding preferences for information and follow-up discussion suggest the importance of individual- tailored advice and challenge of providing content appropriate to each woman"s needs/wishes. Narrative from intervention studies conveys the perceived difficulties experienced by health professionals in providing advice. As reported in relation to broaching the subject of smoking, differences in

98

approach between professionals such as cutting down versus quitting, may lead to variation and potentially conflicting advice/information.

Not only the content of the advice, but also the way that a message is conveyed, is reported to be important, and challenging in the papers. Studies report that the tone and approach used may impact on a woman"s willingness to consider smoking cessation. In contrast to the findings above regarding the need for strongly persuasive explanations, "preaching" or "hard hitting" interactions can be perceived as acting as a barrier to a woman considering stopping or reducing smoking.

Findings regarding the content of the intervention provided during a consultation and offered subsequently, indicate variance in practice. Studies report around 57%-60% of professionals may offer smoking cessation counselling. The report of leaflets being provided varied considerably between studies, with reporting of 23%, or 54% or "most" of the time. Recommendation of nicotine replacement therapy was reported as low in one study, and also rates of referral on to other specialist services and personal support may be low.

Variance in practice may indicate a lack of policies or procedures, or lack of adherence or knowledge. Two of the cross-sectional studies included make the association between having well-defined procedures and good practice/increased intervention. A UK study suggests a low figure of 6% of staff reporting that they use guidelines to underpin their consultations with pregnant women or recent mothers who smoke.

The noting of smoking status on records and ongoing monitoring is examined in the included papers, with evidence that record keeping practices may be inconsistent (around 85%-95% self report that smoking status would be recorded). A UK study, while reporting the higher of these figures for recording status, provides data suggesting a follow up rate throughout pregnancy of only 49%.

99

The review indicates a perception amongst staff that they have limited skills and knowledge regarding smoking cessation interventions, and that perceivedlack of time and resources are significant barriers to both discussion during consultations and providing interventions. The views of pregnant women smokers were also very mixed in regard to the advice and information that they had received with a perception of insufficient information and lack of clarify of message.

Possibly linked to these negative staff perceptions of skills, time and resources is the review finding regarding pessimism amongst staff regarding the potential for their input to be effective in achieving smoking reduction or quitting amongst pregnant women. Studies report that staff previous experiences of failure to effect any change may impact on their interactions with current and future clients.

Survey data suggests variation in practice between different professional groups, in particular regarding the recommendation of quitting smoking versus cutting down, but also in regard to procedural aspects such as recording status, and repeat advice giving. There is the suggestion that midwives have greater concerns regarding maintaining the relationship between themselves and the pregnant woman, and are more likely to recommend cutting down rather than quitting initially. These differences may indicate different professional ethos and approaches, however offer the potential for a pregnant woman to receive contradicting advice.

In regard to specific aspects of interventions that may be barriers or facilitators to uptake, only a limited number of papers provided detail regarding this. The data suggests that the length of individual programme intervention sessions may be influential. Also, the potential for telephoneadvice to be problematic in terms of achieving contact. A UK study suggests that transport considerations and child care for other siblings are important in enabling pregnant women to take up any smoking cessation intervention that may be offered.

The review suggests that a number of aspects of professional practice in relation to pregnant women smokers may need clarifying, including record keeping, the content of advice, ongoing management and review, also referrals on. The review suggests that professionals perceive a need for greater training specifically in this area, and also that the greater use of protocols may further develop consistency in practice. It is suggested that professionals view providing advice and intervention to pregnant women smokers to be challenging, further suggesting a need for greater support for their practice via established protocols and/or training. The papers reviewed indicate evidence of a perception of ineffectiveness/pessimism towards intervention amongst some service providers which has the potential to become a cycle of self-fulfilling prophecy. Further dissemination of any available evidence regarding the effectiveness of different interventions specifically in relation to pregnant women, may be beneficial in providing practitioners and service users with evidence-based choices.

# 6. RESULTS OF REVIEW THREE

## 6.1. Quantity of the evidence available

The searches identified four papers that met the inclusion criteria. No restrictions had been placed in terms of study design. However, all identified studies analysed sections of data from randomised controlled trials.

Group analyses	Li et al. 1993
from a prospective	England et al. 2001
randomised	
smoking cessation	
intervention	
Group analyses	Secker Walker & Vacek 2002
and comparison of	Secker Walker et al. 1998
data from two	
prospective	
randomised	
smoking cessation	
interventions	

## Table 11. Included papers by study design

### 6.2 Populations and settings

The papers all report studies carried out in the United States of America.

Table 12. Incluc	led papers by	population	characteristics
------------------	---------------	------------	-----------------

Li et al. 1993	Women recruited from four maternity clinics USA	Mean age: 23 Mean years education: 12 Ethnicity: quitters 73% and reducers 49% Black	N=78 quitters N = 144 reducers	Mean no. of cigarettes smoked at baseline: quitters – 5.5 (SD 6.6), reducers – 11.3 (SD 7.6)
England et al. 2001	Women recruited from three "public clinics" USA	Mean age: 21 Mean years education: 44% less than 12 years Ethnicity: quitters 86% and reducers 82% Black	N = 224 quit before enrolled, 127 quit after enrolled N=227 reducers	Mean no. of cigarettes smoked at baseline: quitters – 5.1 (SD 5), Reducers – 18 (SD 13.5)

Secker- Walker & Vacek 2002	Women recruited from maternal infant care and adolescent clinic USA	Mean age: 23 Education: 12% had attended high school Ethnicity: Less than 2% non White	N = 36 quitters N= 204 reducers	Mean no. of cigarettes smoked at baseline: Quitters – 9.6 (Cl 7-12) Reducers – 14.3 (Cl 12-18)
Secker- Walker et al. 1998	Women recruited from prenatal service USA	Mean age: 23 Education: 33% up to High School, 44% High School, 23% above High School Ethnicity: 98.5% White	N = 149 recent quitters N = 224 reducers	Mean no. of cigarettes smoked at baseline: 13 (SD 7) entire sample (not subdivided into quitters/reducers)

# 6.3 Quality of the evidence available

The methodology checklist outlines seventeen aspects to be evaluated when rating a correlation or association study: relating to the population; the method of selection of exposure group; the outcomes; and the analyses.

1. Is the source population or source area well described?

2. Is the eligible population or area representative of the source population or area?

3. Do the selected participants or areas represent the eligible population or area?

4. How was selection bias minimised?

5. Was the selection of explanatory variables based on a sound theoretical basis?

- 6. Was the contamination acceptably low?
- 7. How well were likely confounding factors identified and controlled?
- 8. Is the setting applicable to the UK?
- 9. Were the outcome measures and procedures reliable?
- 10. Were the outcome measurements complete?
- 11. Were all the important outcomes assessed?

12. Was there a similar follow up time in exposure and comparison groups?

13. Was follow-up time meaningful?

14. Was the study sufficiently powered to detect an intervention effect (if one exists)?

15. Were multiple explanatory variables considered in the analyses?

16. Were the analytical methods appropriate?

17. Was the precision of association given or calculable: Is association meaningful?

Each of these aspects is then considered and a rating of ++, + or - is assigned to each, with a summary rating for internal and external validityusing the scale below.

# Table 13. Criteria used for grading of internal and external validity

Code	Quality criteria
++	Indicates that for that particular aspect of study design, the study has been designed/conducted in such a way as to minimise the risk of bias
+	Indicates that either the answer to the checklist question is not clear from the way the study is reported, or that the study may not have addressed all potential sources of bias for that particular aspect of study design
-	Should be reserved for those aspects of the study design in which significant sources of bias may persist
Nr	Not reported – the study fails to report how they have/might have been considered
Na	Not applicable

Of the four papers, all were rated as + for quality (see Table 14).

Table 14. Quality	rating o	of included	papers.
-------------------	----------	-------------	---------

	England et al. 2001	Li et al. 1993	Secker- Walker et al. 1998	Secker- Walker & Vacek 2002
Population	I		L	
1	+	+	+	+
2	+	+	+	+
3	+	+	+	+
Method of selection of	of exposure			
4	+	+	+	+
5	+	+	++	++
6	Na	Na	Na	Na
7	+	+	+	+
8	+	+	+	+
Outcomes				
9	++	++	++	++
10	++	++	++	++
11	++	++	++	++
12	++	++	++	++
13	++	++	++	++
Analyses				
14	Nr	Nr	Nr	Nr
15	+	+	++	+
16	++	++	+	++
17	-	++	-	-
Summary validity rati	ng			
Internal	+	+	+	+
External	+	+	+	+
Summary quality rating	+	+	+	+

# 6.3.1 Limitations on study quality

A key limitation found in all studies was the degree of reporting of population characteristics. The papers tend to report basic demographic details such as age, educational level and ethnicity and describe participants as being recruited via clinics. However, details of the source population are poorly described, with information regarding the sampling process and representativeness also being very limited. This may be related to the papers reporting only a section of data from the intervention trial, rather than the full trial findings.

The studies scored better in regard to the outcomes and theoretical underpinning of outcome measures, with all studies using infant birth weight, and the well-established biochemical measure of cotinine level in urine or saliva in addition to the self-reported measure of the number of cigarettes smoked per day. The Secker-Walker et al. (2002) paper whilst providing data relating to quitting versus reducing, has the main purpose of examining different levels of reduction (more than 50% versus less than 50%) rather thancomparing quitting versus reducing subgroups. Due to the way that the information is presented, data relating to the self-report measure for quitting versus cutting down groups only can be compared.

Follow-up timings were the same for study sub-groups, however there was some lack of clarity regarding the timing of follow up data collection across the studies. Li et al. (1993) report that baseline data was collected at the first prenatal visit, and end point data at the end of pregnancy (>= 32 weeks). England et al. describe baseline data as being obtained at "the first or second prenatal visit" and end point data collected "in the third trimester" with a minimum timing between baseline and end point measures as being at least eight weeks. Secker-Walker & Vacek (2002) outline the first measure as being at mean 14.6 weeks (SD 7 weeks), and the end point visit being mean 35 weeks (SD 1.2 weeks). Secker-Walker et al. (1998) report similar data of the first visit at 14 weeks (SD 6 weeks) and the end point as being 36 weeks (SD 1.5). The standard deviation of six/seven weeks for baseline measures seemswide.

In terms of analyses, none of the papers reported power calculations. Significant data regarding subgroup sample sizes and baseline smoking levels were not included in the Secker-Walker et al. (1998) paper. Secker-Walker & Vacek (2002) use Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) to compare subgroups. Li et al. (1993) also provide ANOVA calculations, together with multiple regression analyses. The Secker-Walker et al. (1998) paper calculates correlation coefficients and regression equations including p values, although provides only sparse details regarding the analysis and lacks confidence intervals or standard deviations. The England et al. (2001) paper examined data using

106

general linear models and regression smoothing techniques. Both this paper and the Secker-Walker & Vacek (2002) paper do not include standard deviations, although provide confidence intervals.

As will be described fully in subsequent sections, two of the papers (Secker-Walker & Vacek (2002) and England et al. (2001) whilst being graded as + for quality, present challenges in extracting the data required to answer this research question. As with a number of the papers which seemed initially relevant, but were later excluded, the objective of these two papers relates to smoking in pregnancy and reducing consumption and quitting. However, they had the main aim of exploring different comparisons to that under scrutiny in this review. In the papers that were excluded it was not possible to identify quitters versus reducers in the data. In these two papers data for these two groups is identifiable, however full statistical analysis is not described. Due to the small number of papers identified for the review and the ability to identify these relevant data sets, these papers have been included. It was considered whether they should be graded lower than the other papers, although it is not the quality of the paper that is poor. Rather, they are intending to answer a different research question, therefore it was felt that this lower quality grading would be unjustified.

#### 6.4 Findings

#### 6.4.1 Outcome measures

The included papers report both self-reported number of cigarettes smoked per day, and also cotinine levels. Li et al. (1993) use salivary cotinine whereas Secker-Walker et al. (1998), Secker-Walker & Vacek (2002) and England et al. (2001) use urine cotinine levels. The papers do not include any discussion regarding their selection of urine versus salivary cotinine as a measure. Li et al. (1993) describe the advantage of cotinine as being a stronger measure compared with self-reported cigarette consumption. Also, they highlight that smokers who change their smoking behaviour may compensate to maintain the same nicotine dose by switching brands, varying the depth of inhalation orpuff volume or rapidity of smoking. They suggest that use of a biochemical

measure is therefore critical rather than relying on self-report numbers of cigarettes smoked. In addition to birth weight, the Li et al. (1993) paper is the only study to consider gestational age as an outcome.

The Secker-Walker et al. (1998) paper includes an examination of the self-report versus biochemical measure data. They report correlation coefficients of 0.6 (p<0.001) between reported cigarette consumption and urinary cotinine at both baseline and end point. Also, self-reported changes in cigarette consumption were significantly related to changes in urinary cotinine concentrations (r = 0.31 p<0.001).

The health outcome under study in all papers was infant birth weight, measured in grams. Secker-Walker & Vacek (2002) and Secker-Walker et al. (1998) describe this data as being collected from the labour and delivery logor hospital discharge summary. Similarly, Li et al. report using medical records. England et al. (2001) report that birth weight was obtained from women at the post partum visit for 86% of participants and from maternity summary or birth certificate records for the remaining 14%.

#### 6.4.2 Health outcomes

The review found limited evidence regarding the health impact of reducing smoking in pregnancy. England et al. (2001) and Secker-Walker et al. (1998) report numerical increases (but not significance levels) in birth weight ofinfants born to pregnant smokers who reduce their intake, versus those who quit. Secker-Walker et al. 2002 suggest that birth weight differences may only be significant in women who reduce to more than 50% of their daily intake (from 20 to 10 cigarettes per day). Li et al. (1993) report significantly greater birth weight (77g) in infants born to pregnant smokers who quit versus those who reduce their intake (see Table 15). All four papers differ slightly in the way that data regarding women who reported reducing their cigarette consumption and/or had reduced levels of cotinine between baseline and end point were classified and three papers differ slightly in the way that data on women who reported reducing their cigarette consumption and/or had reduced levels of cotinine between baseline and end point were classified. In
terms of measurement timings, all papers report measures at baseline and end point of the trial only, with some lack of clarity regarding the timing of the end point data (see 4.3.1 Limitations on study quality). Patterns of smoking between these data collection points is based only on the self-report data therefore, with cotinine levels only indicating current and recent (within seven days) smoking patterns. Details of the four studies reviewed are presented in this section.

Study	Key finding
England et al. 2001	Quitting rather than reducing cigarette use (self-
(+)	reported) was associated with an increase of 286g (CI
	193-376) versus 32g (CI 32-95) in infant birth weight.
	By cotinine measure, the quit group had 197g (CI 94-
	301) increase in birth weight compared to 21g (CI 52-
	95) increase in the reduced group. The increases are in
	relation to women who did not change. No significance
	levels reported.
Secker-Walker &	Compared with women who quit, there was a mean
Vacek 2002 (+)	difference of 210g lower infant birth weight for woman
	who reduced their cigarette consumption by 50% or less,
	and 146g lower infant birth weight for women who
	reduced their cigarette consumption by more than 50%.
	There was no significant difference in infant birth weight
	amongst women who quit smoking compared to those
	who reduce by less than 50% (adjusted for cigarette
	consumption at first visit) p value not provided, self-
	report data only.

### Table 15. Reported health outcomes

Li et al. 1993 (+)	Quitting rather than reducing cigarette use was
	associated with an increase in infant birth weight of
	167g. Significant (p=0.04). Odds ratio of having a low
	birth weight infant 1.18 for quitters compared to 1.73 for
	reducers.
	Smoking reduction appeared to have little or no
	beneficial effect on gestational age compared with
	quitting smoking (mean 39.2 SE +/- 4 versus mean 38.8
	SE +/- 3).
Secker-Walker et	Quitting was associated with a increase of 89/189g in
al. 1998 (+)	infant birth weight compared to reducing from 20 to 10
	cigarettes per day (SD or p values not reported).

The England et al. (2001) paper examined data from the Smoking Cessation in pregnancy project, which included participants from three states in the USA and collected data between 1987 and 1991. The study aimed to examine any association between tobacco exposure during pregnancy and infant birth weight, together with any association between the timing of exposure totobacco and infant birth weight. There were five subgroups: women who quit before enrolment in the programme; women who quit after enrolment; women who reduced consumption; women who increased consumption; and those who did not change. These groups are defined by both self-report and cotinine measures with a 50% cut off, thus those with less than 50% reductionin reported smoking and/or cotinine level were classified by this study as "did not change".

The analysis used general linear models to generate mean adjusted birth weights for women who reduced their consumption by 50% or more and those who did not change, and regression smoothing techniques to characterise the relationship between birth weight and early exposure versus birth weight and third trimester exposure (with third trimester exposure being associated with

significantly lower birth weight). This study therefore had a slightly different research question in part to the one examined in this review. However, the study findings while being reported in terms of patterns of exposure also report baseline and outcome data within five subgroups, three of which (reduced, quit before enrolment and quit after enrolment) are able to provide information relevant to this review. The subgroup sample sizes of n=277 reducers, n=224 quitters before enrolment and n=127 quitters after enrolment are the largest of the four papers.

While reporting outcomes for all five groups in tabular form, the study data disappointingly in the narrative is examined in terms of a comparison between quitters and those who did not change, and reducers and those who did not change. While means and confidence intervals can be extracted and compared for reducers and quitters the paper does not report analysis or significance levels for these comparisons. From the tabular data, quitting rather than reducing cigarette use (self-reported;  $\geq$ 50% reduction) was associated with an increase of 286g (CI 193 - 376) versus 32g (CI 32 - 95) in infant birth weight. By cotinine measure, the quit group had a 197g (CI 94 - 301) increase in birth weight compared with the 21g (CI 52-95) increase in thereducer group ( $\geq$ 50% reduction).

However, the findings of this study are complicated by baseline differences between the groups indicating that quitters were lighter smokers prior to the intervention than reducers. Smokers who quit at enrolment reported smoking a mean 5.1 (SD 5) cigarettes per day, while the mean was 18 (SD 13.5) for those who reduced consumption. Cotinine levels also echoed this difference with 812 ng/ml (SD 870) for quitters and 2,788 (SD 2,013) for reducers at enrolment. In addition, the authors report that this pregnancy was the first child for a greater percentage of women who quit compared with continued smokers, and also that women who quit had a lower mean age.

In the Secker-Walker & Vacek (2002) paper the subgroups are also divided by level of reduction for both self-report and cotinine level (more than 50% and less than 50%) in addition to quitters by self-report. The main purpose of the

paper however, is to examine potential differences between these two groups of reducers rather than the reducers and the quitters. As in the above study, the data for all three groups is presented in tabular form. However, theanalysis carried out focuses on the two groups of reducers.

The authors adopt a three sub-group analysis, comparing self-report data for women who quit, with those who reduced consumption by less than 50%, and those who reduced consumption by 50% or more. Also, they divide data on urinary cotinine levels into participants who had levels that reduced less than 50% and participants whose levels reduced 50% or more between baseline and end point. All three of these subgroups are of relevance to this review, therefore it is possible to extract some general findings, but not significance levels. The use of a cutoff for cotinine levels that is not fully explained complicates extracting data relating to these outcomes.

From the narrative report, there was no significant difference in infant birth weight amongst women who quit smoking compared to those who reduced by less than 50% (adjusted for cigarette consumption at first visit) p value not provided, based on self-report data only. The tabular data provides an adjusted infant birth weight of 3203g (CI 3128-3278) for the reducers of less than 50%, an adjusted mean birth weight of 3267g (CI 3124-3410) for the reducers of more than 50%, and an adjusted mean birth weight of 3413g (CI 3270-3556) in the quit group – therefore an adjusted mean difference of 210g less for the lesser reducers and 146g less for the greater reducers compared with the quitters. These findings are not examined in the body of the paper.

The study findings are complicated by baseline differences in self-reported smoking and cotinine levels indicating that those who reduced their cigarette consumption were heavier smokers than those who quit. The authors provide figures of mean cigarettes smoked per day as 9.6 (CI 7.3-11.8) for quitters and 12.9 (CI 11.8-14) and 15.7 (CI 13.7-17.7) for reducers of less than 50% and more than 50% respectively. The figure for both types of reducers was significantly different from quitters (p<0.05). These differences amongst the reducers are also supported by differences in the urine cotinine measure, with

significantly higher cotinine at baseline for women who substantially (more than 50%) reduced their cotinine during the trial. The subgroup who reduced their cigarette consumption by more than 50% reported smoking 15.7 (CI 13.7-17.7) cigarettes per day and had a cotinine concentration of 4766 (3916- 5801).

Similarly, data adjustment must be considered in interpreting the findings. Secker-Walker & Vacek (2002) provide infant birth weight data in both adjusted and not adjusted forms. Adjusted figures are given based on both cigarettes per day at first visit, and also urine cotinine level at first visit. The adjustment is of key importance to the findings as the average birth weight of infants of women who reported quitting smoking after their first visit was significantly greater than that of women whose reduction in cigarette consumption was less than 50% (3446g CI 3298-3594 versus 3203g CI 3127-3278, respectively). However, after adjustment for the number of cigarettes smoked at first visit, the authors report that this difference was no longer statistically significant (3413g CI 3270-3556 versus 3203g CI 3128-3278, respectively).

The urinary cotinine measure in the same study is more problematic to interpret due to the study implementing a cutoff value of 500 ng/ml or less. The authors report that both groups of reducers had infants with significantly lower birth weights than women whose cotinine levels were below the cutoff point for quitting at their last visit (p<0.05). However, it is not possible to determine from the paper which of the participants were below the cut off at last visit as only first visit cotinine levels are reported. It is possible that this "below the cutoff group" may have been quitters. The authors provide data for adjusted birth weight by first visit cotinine level (difference of 21g and 33g) but make no mention of this comparison between the two reducers groups andthe quit group in the narrative.

The Li et al. (1993) paper has the purpose of a general evaluation of the impact of smoking reduction on infant birth weight and gestational age using cotinine levels. It therefore examines data from five subgroups including women who have never smoked, quitters, and reducers. The authors provide data by cotinine levels of 100 ng/ml or less (described as likely to be infrequent smokers, smokers with low nicotine intake or light smokers of less than 5 per day), 101-200 ng/ml, and more than 200 ng/ml. Reducers are defined as having a changed cotinine level between baseline visit and end point of either at least 60 ng/ml reduction if baseline level was more than 100 ng/ml, or alternatively a 20 ng/ml reduction if baseline level was 100 ng/ml or less. The authors describe a reduction of 20 ng/ml as being roughly equivalent reducing smoking by three cigarettes per day. In addition they subdivide data into racial groups (Black versus White). The quitters and reducer groups are of relevance to this review. ANOVA and linear contrasts are used to examine differences between the groups for the birth weight and gestational age outcomes, and multiple regression analyses to assess any group differences including adjustment variables.

The study reports higher birth weights in infants born to mothers who had quit smoking in pregnancy versus those who had reduced smoking (adjustedmean birth weight 167g heavier (3242 versus 3075 p = 0.04). Interestingly, the data also indicates that mean birth weights were higher in infants of women who had quit smoking during pregnancy than mothers who had never smoked, which is not discussed in the findings. The paper also presents odds ratio data, calculating an adjusted odds ratio of having a low birth weight infant to be 1.73 (Cl 0.96 – 3.12) for infants of reducers. The difference between birth weight in infants of quitters versus reducers was significant (p<0.05).

In terms of gestational age, the paper provides an adjusted gestational age of 39.4 mean weeks (SE +/- 4) for quitters and 38.8 mean weeks (SE +/- 3) for reducers. As may be expected, the narrative findings outline that smoking reduction appeared to have little or no beneficial effect on gestational age compared with quitting smoking although no significance levels are provided for a quitters versus reducers comparison.

The study examines the potential for differences among the two racial groups included in the study (Black and White). This data is reported as a comparison between smokers and never smokers, and reducers and no change however, with no comparison made between reducers and quitters by race.

As with the previous two studies, the findings of the Li et al. (1993) study are complicated by baseline differences between the groups indicating that quitters were initially lighter smokers than were reducers. The authors report quitters smoking a mean of 5.5 (SD 6.6) cigarettes per day versus reducers smoking 10.8 (SD 8). The authors also report other differences in baseline characteristics between women who quit and women who continued smoking (includes reducers, no changers and unknown). The quitter group started prenatal care earlier, weighed more at the onset of care and had a higher percentage of black patients, in addition to having a higher number of self-reported light smokers. Adjusted data is only provided for birth weight, with adjustment according by mother's age, race, height, weight at entry and gestational age at delivery.

The Secker-Walker et al. (1998) paper has the purpose of comparing the effect of reductions in cigarette consumption on infant birth weight. It analyses sections of data from two trials that took place in the USA in 1984-87 and 1988-92. The authors report data in four subgroups based on the reported cigarette consumption measure, and four subgroups based on the urinary cotinine measure. They group data into those who smoked 20 cigarettes a day throughout pregnancy, those who cut down after the first prenatal visit from 20 to 10 cigarettes a day, those who smoked 20 cigarettes a day but quitafter the first visit and stayed non smoking, and those who quit before the first visit and stayed non smoking. The latter three of these subgroups are of relevance to this review.

For urinary cotinine levels there is also a similar four subgroup division, with cotinine level staying at 2,000 ng/ml (smoked throughout pregnancy) cotinine level reduced from 2000 to 1000 ng/ml (cut down after first visit), cotinine level reduced from 2000 to 50 ng/ml (quit after first visit and stayed non smoking)

and cotinine level of 50 ng/ml (quit before first visit and stayed non smoking). Similarly, the latter three of these subgroups are of relevance to this review.

The study used correlation and regression analyses to examine how cigarette consumption, urinary cotinine levels and changes in smoking duringpregnancy were related to birth weight. From the data the authors built a model suggesting how four scenarios of smoking behaviour could predict gains in birth weight. One of the smoking behaviours used in the model is cutting down from 20 to 10 cigarettes after the first visit, another is quitting before the first antenatal visit and staying non smoking, and the third of interest to this review is smoked twenty cigarettes at first visit, quit after this visit and stayed non smoking.

Using this model, the authors suggest that the adjusted birth weight of an infant born to a woman who cuts down from 20 to 10 cigarettes a day after thefirst visit would be 3300g. An infant born to a woman who quit before the first visit would have a birth weight of 3489g. An infant born to a woman who quit after the first visit would have a birth weight of 3389g. Thus quitting earlier or later in the pregnancy would result in an increase of 189g or 89g respectively in infant weight compared with reducing. The authors provide a mean cigarette consumption for the entire study population only and do not comparegroup differences at baseline.

Similarly, data adjustment must be considered in interpreting the findings. Secker-Walker et al. (1998) provide both adjusted and non adjusted figures, with adjustment based on estimated gestational age at the first visit, however report that this had no effect on the findings. England et al. (2001) included adjustment for infant sex and gestational age at delivery. They also explored hours of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in the third trimester, however did not include this in the final model.

#### Evidence statement 1.

There is limited evidence from four good quality studies that quitting versus reducing cigarette consumption during pregnancy is associated with increased infant birth weight of between 89 and 254g

England et al. 2001 Association analysis+ (USA) Secker-Walker et al. 1998 Association analysis+ (USA) Secker-Walker & Vacek 2002 Association analysis + (USA) Li et al. 1993 Association Association analysis + (USA)

Two of the studies provide very little statistical analysis regarding the significance of these numerical differences between quitters and reducers. Only one study (Li et al. 1993 +) provides odds ratios, with OR 1.18 for quitters having a low birth weight infant compared to OR 1.73 for reducers. Baseline differences between quitters and reducers in all these studies may be significant.

These papers all examine data from studies carried out in the United States of America which may have implications for applicability to a UK setting.

#### Evidence statement 2.

There is limited evidence from one good quality study that the reduction in cigarette consumption required to make a significant impact on birthweight needs to be of the magnitude of more than 50% (among women smoking 20 cigarettes per day) to lead to a statistically significant increase in birth weight

Secker-Walker & Vacek 2002 Association analysis + (USA)

This paper examines data from studies carried out in the United States of America and may thus have implications for applicability to a UK population.

### 6.5. DISCUSSION

The review identified four papers that provide evidence regarding potential health consequences of pregnant women reducing their cigaretteconsumption rather than quitting. Interpretation of the data within these papershas been constrained by the studies having differing objectives to a comparison between quitting and reducing, although having women exhibiting these smoking behaviours within their sample. Two of the papers report data from more than fifteen years ago, which may limit their applicability to current evidence. All the papers report empirical work carried out in the USA, which may limit applicability to a UK population.

While indicating numerical differences in birth weight between infants born to mothers who quit smoking during pregnancy and those who carried on smoking but reduced their intake, three of the included papers provide only limited analysis regarding the order of magnitude of these differences instatistical terms such as probability size, effect size or odds ratios.

Three of the papers report differences in characteristics of the quitting versus reducing sample sub groups that may impact on the link between quitting and greater increases in infant birth weight. The data suggests that women who tend to quit smoking before or at the start of pregnancy tend to be lighter smokers than those that continue, including those that reduce their consumption. The reducers in the studies may therefore still have relatively high daily cigarette consumption.

Indeed, baseline daily cigarette consumption should be considered when interpreting findings demonstrating a benefit from a reduction of 50%; in the case of the Secker-Walker and Vacek (2002) study. This finding relates to participants who reduced from 20 to 10 cigarettes per day. A reduction of 50% from 10 to five cigarettes per day may not have the same impact and further research would be required to explore this.

The linking of low levels of smoking with greater improvements in birth weight is highlighted in two of the other studies. Li et al. (1993) report in their findings, that the largest increases in birth weight were observed in infants born towhite women smokers with lower baseline cotinine values of 100ng/ml or less. Secker-Walker et al. (1998) also suggest that cigarette consumption has to reduce significantly to low levels in order to have an impact on infant birth weight. These studies suggest that there may be a threshold level in terms of the number of cigarettes smoked, above which there is a negative impact on infant birth weight. If so, women may need to reduce to this maximum in orderto have any beneficial impact, rather than a general or percentage reduction.

Another issue that may be of importance in considering the health consequences of smoking reduction in comparison to quitting duringpregnancy is the timing of quitting and reduction. England et al. (2001) found an association between third trimester exposure to smoking and negative impact on birth weight. Similarly, Secker-Walker et al. (1998) found higher birth weights in babies born to women who quit sooner rather than later, and all quitters compared with reducers. These findings suggest that cessation and reduction earlier in the pregnancy may be preferable in terms of impact on birth weight.

There are some key methodological issues within the four studies reviewed that complicate the comparison and synthesis of study findings. The papers differ slightly in the way that data regarding women who reported reducing their cigarette consumption and/or had reduced levels of cotinine between baseline and end point were classified. In addition, all papers report measures at baseline and end point of the trial only, with some lack of clarity regarding the timing of the end point data (see 4.3.1 Limitations on study quality). Patterns of smoking between these data collection points is based only on the self-report data therefore, with cotinine levels only indicatingcurrent and recent (within seven days) smoking patterns.

The papers included in this review suggest that there are benefits in terms of higher birth weight to be gained from quitting smoking as opposed to cutting down. However, further work is needed to examine the degree of the difference to establish whether it is statistically (and clinically) significant.Further work is needed to examine the relationship between the level of smoking and these potential health benefits.

## 7. Appendices

# Appendix 1. Extraction tables for included studies

### Extraction tables Review one

1. Study	1.Sampling	Population	1. Details of	1. Outcome	Study findings/key themes	Limitations of
reference	strategy	characteristics	intervention	2. Method of		study identified
2. Research	2. Sample		2. Details of any	analysis		by
question	achieved		comparator			authors/reviewer
3. Funding	3. Method of		3. Data collection			
4. Study	allocation		method for qual			
design/Quality			studies			
1. Al-alawy et al.	1. "Members of	UK setting: 13	1. Delivered by staff	1. Promises	825 "promises" covering 823 children returned after	Identified by
(2008)	the public" were	Neighbourhood Renewal	from Doncaster	received broken	initial contact:	reviewer:
	"randomly	Areas in Doncaster	smoking cessation	down into	567 (69%) gold; 221 (27%) silver and 37 (4%)	1. No ethics
2. To determine	selected" and		service, Doncaster	percentages of	bronze.	approval (authors
the impact of a	informed of	"Members of the public"	council, South	gold/silver/bronze		justified this by
smoke-free homes	smoke-free homes	included if:	Yorkshire Fire Service,		Of the 825, 523 (63%) were from smokers: 271(52%)	calling the study a
initiative in	promise through	• Aged between 16 &	Sure Start and two	Follow-up: Self-	gold; 206(39%) silver; 46 (9%) bronze	"local service
Doncaster	routine contact	65	midwives who were	reported		development
	with frontline	Lived in NRS areas	given motivational	motivation to	Non-smokers (386/301, 95%) and smokers who had	evaluation")
3. Not stated	staff.		interviewing training.	keep promise,	just quit $(10/11, 91\%)$ were more likely to opt for	2. Sampling frame
	2. 825 promise	No details given of	Respondents were	self-reported	gold promise than smokers (271/523, 52%) (p<0.001)	and method of
4. Before/After -	slips were	participant characteristics	asked by frontline staff	feeling after		randomisation not
	returned.	or details of:	if they wanted to make	making promise	Follow-up (n=82, 36% response rate)	specified
	Of those agreeing	Ethnicity ,Age,	their homes smoke-free	and self-reported	Most common motivations to keep promise were	3. No details
	to participate in	Gender, Socio-economic	and provided with a	of location of	health of children (26%), children (12%) and cleaner	given of how
	follow-up	status	leaflet offering a choice	smoking after	house or decoration $(12\%)$ .	many approached
	(n=755), 230 were		of three promises:	making promise	Feeling after making promise: 20% felt healthy or	to make promise
	"randomly		Gold – To make home		health conscious, 17% felt responsible, 17% felt they	(original sample)
	selected" due to		completely smoke free		cared about the health of others, 15% reported they	4. No details
	time and resource		at all times		felt a good parent and 11% felt a sense of	provided
	constraints. Of		Silver – To allow	2. Statistical	achievement	regarding the
	these 230, 81		smoking in 1 room	analysis:		validity or
	were sent postal		only and never in			reliability of the
	questionnaire, 149		presence of children	Chi-squared test		questionnaire
	were contacted		Bronze – To never	used for		used

for a talonhone	smalta in prosonas of	hymothesis testing	5 No dotaila
for a telephone		inypomesis testing	$\frac{1}{2}$ . No details
survey.	children	of association	given as to now or
3. Method of	2. No comparator	between type of	why the 230
allocation stated	specified	promise made and	selected for
as being random	3. Not applicable	smoking status.	follow up were
(but no details			divided into
provided as to			postal
how this was			questionnaire
achieved)			group (n=82, 10%
· ·			response), or
			telephone survey
			group (n=74, 50%
			response). The
			low response rate
			was not
			commented on by
			authors as a
			notential source
			of bios
			6 Statistically
			0. Statistically
			findings may be
			undermined given
			the numerous
			sources of bias
			arising in study
			-1
			Identified by
			authors:
			1. Possibility of
			selection bias

1. Arborelius and	1. No clear	Healthy population.	1. Intervention:	1. Outcomes:	In south west health district nurses were trained in	Comparisons
Bremberg (2001).	sampling strategy,	Country: Sweden	6 steps:	parental smoking	1996. Since 1996 the annual average decrease in	indicate that the
2. To assess the	not obvious RCT	No demographic data	Five preparatory steps	rates.	parental smoking for all subgroups was 1.6%. The	introduction of
development,	design.	given.	(establishing readiness		fraction of smokers was significantly lower in the	smoke free
spread and	2. 28 families	-	to change in child	2. Analysis: X <sup>2</sup>	years covered by the intervention compared with the	children was
evaluation of a	included		health organisation –	(no methodology	preceding years ( $p < 0.001$ to $p < 0.008$ : X <sup>2</sup> test).	accompanied by
national child			survey of nurse"s	given).		decreasing rates
health-care-based			present practices,		In the rest of Stockholm county training occurred in	of parental
counselling			establishing of routines		1997. Before that year, no decrease was seen in	smoking.
method targeting			for surveillance –		smoking of parents of 0-4 week old infants. In	-
environmental			routine recording of		parents of infants up to 8 months, smoking decreased	No direct
tobacco smoke.			smoking status,		by 0.9% between the two years studied. The decrease	comparison -
3. Swedish			developing new		was statistically significant for both mothers and	comparison was
National Institute			counselling method –		fathers (p=0.009 and 0.005 X <sup>2</sup> ). In 1997 (first year of	before
of Public Health,			smoke free children,		intervention), the average decrease was 2.7%. The	intervention data.
Swedish Cancer			piloting of smoke free		fraction of smokers was significantly lower than the	
Society.			children, dissemination		years preceding the intervention (p<0.001).	Confounder: not
			and training.			possible to
4. Before/After -			Smoke free children			determine rates of
			counselling method			smoking decline
			developed based on			in non pregnant
			Bandura (1997) self			population – may
			efficacy concept.			just be part of a
			Discussions took place			trend (authors).
			at normal health care			
			visits and included:			
			Knowledge of passive			
			smoking.			
			Discussion of charting			
			tobacco smoke in the			
			environment.			
			At first follow up			
			discussing current			
			smoking habits and			
			suggest changes.			
			At second follow up,			

1. Chilmonczyk et al 19921. Inclusion criteriaHealthy population. County: USA m=103 mother/infant pairs 28 family practitioner and intersention1. Intervention1. Outcome Infant urine cotinine mother to report urine cotinine emasurement as 2 monthsI dentified by revolvem roviewer: noviewer: mother to report urine cotinine emasurement as 6% lower in the intervention physician for wellI dentified by revolvem about usual careI dentified by revolvem roviewer: mother to report urine cotinine emasurement as 2 months intervention a individualised form physician for well to provide to provide monthsI dentified by revolvem an individualised form physician providing specific reducing infant physician for well to provide monthsI dentified by revolvem an individualised form physician providing specific smoking habitsI dentified by revolvem an individualised form physician providing specific smoking habitsI dentified by about usual care3. Davis Foundation, Falmouth, MaineInfant urine to provide urine sample – 518 parents consented and Form the consented and from the consented and from the consented and from the consented and from the from the from the from the from the consented and from the from			support habit changes and discuss problems. Step six (final intervention step): study the effects on parental smoking using routine data. 2. No comparator (compared to before training/intervention)			
non-compliers	1. Chilmonczyk et al 19921. Inclu criteria Smokin2. To test a low intensity physician''smore cigarett physician''s office-based strategy using infant urine cotinine, aimed at ETS exposure1. Inclu criteria Smokin more ingarett physician''s office-based child vi asked for to provi reducing infant3. Davis Foundation, Falmouth, Maine1. Inclu criteria Smokin garett 	sion Healthy population. Country: USA g 10 or n=103 mother/infant pairs 28 family practitioner and paediatrician offices and 2 who hospital based clinics in infants to Maine en for well Ethnicity: No details given sit were Age: or consent Mean age infants: 1.75 de months tion about Mean age mothers 24 years g habits Education: vide infant Mean number of years ed and smoked/day 18.5 tive of 518	<ol> <li>Intervention</li> <li>Physician telephoned mother to report urine cotinine result and to explain its meaning. Mothers were then sent an individualised form letter signed by the physician providing specific recommendations for changing household smoking habits</li> <li>Comparator There was a control group. Details of ,,usual care" not given</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>1. Outcome         Infant urine             cotinine             measurement at 2             months post             intervention         2. Comparison of             intervention and             control group             using mean log             ratio (skewed             data)</li></ol>	Follow up urine cotinine measurements at 2 months were obtained in 27 (52%) of infants from the intervention group and 29 (57%) of the controls. The mean log ratio of the follow-up to initial urine cotinine measurement was 6% lower in the intervention group than the control group, but this different was not statistically significant.	Identified by reviewer: No details given about usual care in control group Identified by authors Low compliance with follow up urine sample. Analysis performed on compliers and non-compliers suggest that the two groups were similar except for the mother"s level of education which was lower in the group of non-compliers

	reported that they smoked 10 or more cigarettes/day and these 103 formed study sample. 2. 103 mother/infant pairs: Intervention -52 pairs; Control - 51 pairs 3. Random assignment by computer on an individual basis to intervention or control group					
1. Emmons (2001)	1. Inclusion	Healthy population.	1. Intervention:	1. Outcomes:	The 6-month nicotine levels were significantly lower $(p<0.05)$ in MI households. Repeated measures analysis of variance across baseline, 3-month and 6-month time points showed a significant time by treatment interaction, whereby nicotine levels for the MI group decreased significantly. The nicotine levels for the self-help group increased but were not	Identified by
2. To determine	criteria: Current	Country: USA	Motivational	Exposure levels		reviewer:
whether a	smokers or recent	Low income population.	Interviewing (MI): 30-	of environmental		External validity
motivational	quitter; having	n=291	45 minutes MI session	nicotine at 6		for purposes of
intervention for	child or	Ethnicity: White 46%;	in participant"s home	months measured		review –
smoking parents	grandchild under	Black 21%; Hispanic 21%;	with trained health	by nicotine		children"s age less
of young children	3 years in	Other 14%.	educator and 4 follow-	concentration		than 3 years
will lead to	household; able to	Age: Mean age 28.4 years	up telephone	(μg/m <sup>3</sup> ) in TV	significantly different from baseline.	Identified by authors:
reduced	read and speak	Gender: Women 91.5%	counselling calls. Key	room and kitchen	There were no significant differences in smoking	
household passive	English or	Single parents 50%	component of	Secondary	cessation rates between groups at any of the follow-	

smoking exposure	Spanish.	Mean educational level	intervention was	outcomes:	ups and no change in smoking rate between groups at	i. Study sample
3. National	Participants	11.3 years	feedback from baseline	Repeated	any of the follow-up assessments.	represents
Institutes of	recruited through	Average cigarettes smoked	household air nicotine	measures for		approximately
Health; Liberty	primary care	14/day (SD=9.3) and	assessments and	kitchen nicotine		52% of those
Mutual Insurance	settings: family	average length of time	assessment of the	levels across		contacted about
Company; the	practice,	smoked 11.8 years	participant"s carbon	baseline, 3-month		the study.
Boston	obstetrics, and	(SD=7.7)	monoxide level	and 6 month time		However, once
Foundation;	paediatric	More than 30% of	followed by tailored	points		enrolled, the drop-
NYNEX	departments of 8	participants had a partner	goal-setting.	Smoking		out rate and loss
	community health	who smoked.	2. Control Group –	cessation and		to follow-up were
4. RCT ++	centres serving		"Self Help": Received	cigarette		relatively low.
	diverse, low-	Age of children in	printed materials* in	consumption rates		ii. 6 month
	income	households not given.	mail. Feedback about			follow-up period
	populations.	Only information	household nicotine	2. Method of		does not allow for
	685 potential	regarding children"s age	levels was provided	analysis		evaluation of
	participants	can be taken from	after the final follow-	Based on		long-term changes
	contacted. 304 of	inclusion criteria that they	up assessment.	intention to treat.		in household
	these refused; 86	would be under 3 years of		Concentration		exposure.
	were ineligible	age.	*Both groups were	data positively		
	and 4 took part in		provided with smoking	skewed (as is		
	a pilot		cessation manuals, a	typical for most		
	intervention. 323		passive smoke	exposure data) so		
	participants were		reduction tip sheets and	natural log		
	consented and		a resource guide on	transformation		
	randomised and		community-based	applied to these		
	of these 32 were		health and social	data and all		
	not available for		services resources.	subsequent		
	baseline data			analyses.		
	collection within			Repeated		
	the timeframe			measures		
	needed.			ANOVA for		
	2. 291 participants			secondary		
	were followed for			outcome analysis		
	6 months. Data in					
	study are from the					
	279 participants					

who provided			
baseline			
household air			
sample			
141 smokers			
randomised to			
control (self help)			
control (self-fierp)			
group and 150			
smokers			
randomised to			
Motivational			
Interviewing			
group.			
3. Unit of			
randomisation			
was the individual			
family. A			
computer-			
generated			
randomisation			
table was used.			
Randomisation			
information was			
kent from the			
study staff until			
the baseline			
assessment was			
completed.			

1. Fossum et al	1. Five (out of 24	Healthy population.	1. Intervention:	1. Outcomes	Self reported smoking:	Identified by
(2004) 2 To evaluate the	on basis of	Country: Sweden $n=41$	Smoke-free children"	• Self-reported	intervention group and 8/14 in control group)	reviewer: Outcomes for
2. TO evaluate the	highest maternal	Participants selected from	"Shloke-nee children -	smoking with	Before the intervention mean cotinine level was	FTS assessment
counselling	smoking	mothers using community	intervention aimed at	saliyary	185ng/mL in the intervention group and 245ng/mL in	not clearly
method (Smoke-	prevalence and no	child health centres.	increasing self-efficacy	cotinine	the control group. Cotinine levels were reduced in the	specified
free Children) on	previous nurse	Ethnicity: No details	applied in a routine	estimation at	intervention group (165ng/mL) and increased in the	speemee
protecting infants	training in the	Age range: No details	clinical setting.	1 month	control group (346ng/mL). Cotinine levels increased	Identified by
from ETS	counselling	Socioeconomic status: No	Delivered by Child	before birth	by 40% in control group and diminished by 10% in	author:
3. Funding:	method to be used	details	Health Nurses (CHNs).	and 3 months	the intervention group. (p=0.27) Yet after the	Potential selection
National Institute	in study. Inclusion	Education:	CHNs in intervention	after birth	intervention, the mothers themselves reported more	bias – lower
of Public Health;	criteria: Swedish-	9 (22%) had $\leq$ 9 years	group received 2 day	• Assessment	smoking in the intervention group than in the control	participation rate
Swedish Cancer	speaking mothers	schooling;	training and a follow	of child"s	group, only weak correlations were found between	in control group
Society; Swedish	who had given	30(73%) had $> 10-12$	up session in method	exposure to	self-reported smoking and cotinine.	and possible
Heart and Lung	birth to a healthy	years schooling;	by pre-trained leader	ETS by recall		of CHNs in the
Foundation;	Child. Child Health Contrac	for 2 (5%)	using standardised	(elicited by		or CHINS in the
Sweatsh Asthma	I DEALIN CENTRES	$101 \angle (J70).$	i programme. Training	trained		

Association; Stockholm County Asthma and Allergy Foundation; Solstickan Foundation 4. RCT +	single Child Health Nurses (CHNs) and enrol on average 50 newborn children per year. CHCs used by 99% of parents. In the selected five counties, 17 Child Health Nurses (CHNs) formed an intervention group and 20 CHNs a control group. Groups matched on size of community and prevalence of smoking. 2. 41 mothers participated: 26 in the intervention group, 15 in the control group 3. Method of allocation not specified.	Only one child in the family 18 (44%)	recorded role playing and feedback. 2. Comparator Control group comprised mothers attending Child Health Clinics run by CHNs who did not receive the training.	interviewers blind to intervention or control group) • Questionnaire assessment of CHN"s counselling method 2. Analysis ANCOVA and non-parametric tests; Mann- Whitney, Chi- squared, Fisher"s exact test and Spearman rank correlation.		
1. Greenberg et al (1994)	1. Inclusion criteria	Healthy population. Country: USA	1. Intervention	1. Outcomes Exposure to	121 infants of smoking mothers completed study.	Identified by authors:
2 To dotormina if	bad to weigh at	(North Carolina)	4 nurse home visits	tobacco smoke –		Frequent data
2. To determine If	loost 2000 g ot	n=933	during 1° 6 months of	expressed as	Among these there was a significant difference in	collection could
nome-based	hinth he free of	Ethnicity:	life, lasting	cigarettes per day	trend over the year between the intervention and the	have interacted
intervention	birth, be free of	Black -35%	approximately 45	smoked in	control groups in the amount of exposure to tobacco	with the
programme could	significant	White – 64.3%	minutes each.	infant"s presence		intervention

reduce infant	postnatal medical	Age (mothers)	Intervention involved	Environmental	smoke. Infants in the intervention group were	programme to
passive smoking	problems. Infants	Mean years 25.7	counselling,	nicotine	exposed to 5.9 fewer cigarettes per day at 12 months.	produce the
and lower	were recruited	Smokers: 25.2%	information giving	absorption	There was no difference in infant urine cotinine	intervention
respiratory illness	from three	Mean cigarettes/day	(verbal and booklets),	measured by	excretion. The prevalence of lower respiratory	effects, but further
	hospitals where	13.8	jointly going through	urinary cotinine	symptoms was lower among intervention group	two-way ANOVA
3. National Heart,	approximately	Education	worksheets, target	Respiratory health	smoking mothers whose head of household had no	analysis suggested
Lung and Blood	80% of the local	Less than high school	setting and other	measured by	education beyond high school (14.6% in intervention	that the
Institute, National	population births	graduate – 23.6%	materials such as signs	incidence of acute	group and 34% controls)	intervention
Institutes of	occur. Informed	High school graduate	and stickers.	lower respiratory		program reduced
Health	consent and	35.7%	One of the full and one	illness during 1 <sup>st</sup>		the amount of
	demographic data	More than high school	of the reduced data	year of life		exposure to
4. RCT +	all aligible infants	40.7%	collection groups	(mother report of		tobacco smoke
	Mothers declining		received the	cough or wheeze)		independent of
	to enrol were asked		intervention.	and prevalence of		the data collection
	for demographic			persistent lower		process.
	data and a		Comparator	respiratory		There were
	description of their		There were 2 control	symptoms at		statistically
	smoking habits.		groups – one with full	lyear.		significant
	2. Out of 2332		data collection and one	-		differences in the
	eligible infants		with reduced data			characteristics of
	final study sample		collection. The only	2. Intention to		those who
	was 933 infants.		contact with the control	treat analysis.		dropped out of the
	[1241 unavailable		groups was for data	Repeated		study. Of the 275
	for study due to		collection.	measures models		participants not
	lack of consent			used to analyse		completing the
	(1111) or not $(120)$			relationship		study, there were
	contactable (130).			between the		higher proportions
	158 randomly			intervention and		of black, younger
	provide baseline			exposure to		and less-educated
	data to enable the			tobacco smoke.		mothers and
	effect of data					mothers who
	collection					smoked.
	processes to be					However, the
	assessed]					authors comment
	3. A computer-					that the strength
	×					of the differences

generated list of			were weak.
random numbers			Self reported
for each of the			measures of
three hospitals to			exposure to
assign infants to			tobacco smoke
one of the four			could have been
groups: full data			biased with
collection			intervention group
intervention or			mothers more
control or reduced			likely to report
data collection			lower levels
intervention or			However the
control. After 168			stability of the
infants were			
assigned to the			intervention effect
reduced data			persisted for at
collection groups,			least / months
infants were			after the last
randomly assigned			intervention and
to only the two full			the authors
data collection			suggest this
groups to provide a			means that bias
sufficient number			does not
of infants for those			completely
analyses requiring			explain the
a full data set.			positive results.
However, if a			The possibility of
family dropped out			maternal reporting
of the study or was			bias regarding
removed from the			lower respiratory
study, the next			symptoms was
family that			addressed in part
enrolled was			by the
automatically			information given
assigned to the			to mothers
same group as the			The lack of
family that was			association
			association

	1					1 (
	IOSI.					between
						intervention and
						urine cotinine
						concentrations is
						not suggested by
						authors to indicate
						a failure of the
						intervention in
						view of what they
						state as the
						limitations of this
						method as a
						measure of
						passive smoking.
1. Hovell et al	1. Inclusion	Healthy population.	1.Intervention	1. Children"s	Mothers' reports of children's exposure to	Identified by
(2000)	criteria: English	Country: USA	Seven individualised	reported exposure	their smoke in the home declined in the counselled	reviewer:
2. To test the	and Spanish	Low income homes in San	counselling sessions (3	to ETS in and	group from 27.30 cigarettes/week at baseline, to 4.47	1. Enrolled those
efficacy of	speaking mothers	Diego	in person, 4 by	outside the home	at three months, to 3.66 at 12 months and in the	who signed
behavioural	who smoked at	n=108	telephone) based on	both from	controls from 24.56, to 12.08, to 8.38. The	consent forms
counselling for	least two		shaping procedures	mothers and other	differences	first – possibility
smoking mothers	cigarettes a day.	Ethnicity:	(behavioural strategies	sources of ETS.	between the groups by time were significant	of selection bias
in reducing young	Excluded	Black- 23 (21%)	for change). Range of	Collected at	(P = 0.002). Reported exposure to smoke from all	at enrolment to
children"s	breastfeeding	Hispanic- 30 (28%)	mean duration of	baseline, 3, 6 and	sources showed similar declines, with significant	study stage.
exposure to	mothers and those	White- 51 (47%)	sessions 12.6 to 28	12 months by	differences between groups by time ( $P = 0.008$ ). At	However, the two
environmental	without a	Other- 4 (4%)	minutes. Counselling	interview.	12 months, the reported exposure in the counselled	groups were well
tobacco smoke	telephone.	Single parent:	delivered by graduate	Children"s urinary	group was 41.2% that of controls for mothers' smoke	matched in
3. Robert Wood	Sample taken	50 (46%)	students with 20 hours	cotinine	(95% confidence interval 34.2% to 48.3%) and was	demographic and

Johnson	from women who	Employed: 13 (12%)	of training and weekly	concentrations,	45.7% (38.4% to 53.0%) that of controls for all	dependent
Foundation	attended sites of	Education:	supervision.	collected at	sources	variables
Smoke-Free	the supplemental	< High school 42 (39%)	1	baseline, 3 and 12	of smoke. Children's mean urine cotinine	suggesting
Families	nutrition	High school 27 (25%)	2. Control group	months.	concentrations decreased slightly in the counselled	successful random
Programme	programme.	Trade school 8 (7%)	mothers received usual	Mothers" saliva	group from 10.93 ng/ml at baseline to 10.47 ng/ml at	assignment.
(Grant No 027946	2. 108 women	College attended 28 (26%)	nutritional counselling	cotinine	12 months but increased in the controls from 9.43	_
SFP) and Centre	(out of possibly	College graduate 3 (3%)	of the supplemental	concentrations.	ng/ml to 17.47 ng/ml (differences between groups by	
for Behavioural	eligible 1147	Mothers" mean age	nutrition programme	Environmental	time $P = 0.008$ ). At 12 months the cotinine	
Epidemiology and	families) who	(years): 28.75	and brief advice to quit	nicotine monitors	concentration in the counselled group was 55.6%	
Community	were the first to	Children"s mean age	smoking and not	placed in room of	(48.2% to 63.0%) that of controls.	
Health	sign consent	(months): 14.2	expose their children to	greatest exposure		
	forms were	Mean no, cigarettes	ETS	for a randomly		
4. RCT ++	enrolled and 3.	smoked/day 12.4		selected half of		
	Randomly			the intervention		
	assigned to			families.		
	counselling or			(Laboratory staff		
	control condition			blinded to identity		
	by sealed			and group		
	envelope.			assignment)		
	Random numbers			2. Analysis based		
	used to stratify			on intention to		
	assignment by			treat.		
	three ethnic			Differential rate		
	groups.			of change in		
				reported exposure		
				and cotinine		
				estimates of		
				exposure relied on		
				analyses of		
				repeated measures		
				over time.		
				Estimated power		
				to detect		
				differential		
				change between		
				groups exceeded		

		0.80 for all		
		dependent		
		variables. Effects		
		of counselling		
		analysed using the		
		generalised		
		estimating		
		equations		
		approach		
		with linear		
		components of		
		time as "within		
		subjects"		
		factors and the		
		interaction as a		
		between		
		subjects" factor.		
		Authors		
		calculated		
		differential		
		change from		
		baseline to end of		
		follow up and		
		then repeated this		
		for baseline to		
		three months		
		(counselling		
		effect) and from		
		three months to		
		end of follow up		
		(maintenance		
		effect)		
		,		
	1		1	

1. Kallio et al.	1. Randomized	Healthy population.	1. Intervention families	1. Self reported	At child"s 8 years of age, mothers and fathers of the	Counselling
(2006)	prospective	Country = Finland.	received individualised	parental smoking,	intervention [control group], 29 (10.1%) [45 (15.1%)]	regarding
2. To determine	intervention trial.		and detailed child	reported tobacco	and 43 (19.7%) [60 (25.15)] smoked regularly.	smoking parents
whether repeated	Families of 5mth	At 8 months (study onset)	targeted lifestyle	exposure of	Smoking habits in the intervention and control groups	and children"s
infancy-onset	old infants were	33.2% of fathers and 17%	counselling at each	children, serum	did not differ.	exposure to ETS
lifestyle	recruited at the	of mothers smoked.	visit. Intervention	cotinine for	Serum cotinine concentrations did not vary between	needs to be
counselling alters	well baby clinics		comprised mainly	parents and	genders or between children of the intervention and	specific and
parental smoking	in Turku, Finland.	No other demographic	dietary counselling	children.	control group.	intense, repeated
and children"s	Allocated at	details given.	aimed at reducing	2. The distribution		frequently
exposure to	random		saturated fat, total fat,	of serum cotinine	Both parents of 29 children smoked daily. Serum	throughout the
tobacco smoke.	2. N=540		and cholesterol in the	was highly	cotinine values were higher than those of children	years and
3. Finnish Cancer	intervention		child"s diet. Other	skewed so a	from no smoking families (p=0.007).	attention also has
Research	N=522 control.		lifestyle factors	logarithmic		to be paid to
Foundation and	3. Random		including smoking,	transformation	Overall, children"s serum cotinine values correlated	eliminating other
others.	number		sedentary lifestyle and	was applied and	poorly with reported amount of exposure (r=0.094	sources of ETS
	allocation. No		overweight were	non-parametric	p=0.57).	other than those
4. RCT ++	concealment.		discussed. At the	models used.		caused by
			Child"s age of 5,		As there were no difference in smoking habits	parental smoking.
			parents received a		between the intervention and control groups at child"s	
			booklet about the		age 8 years, it suggests that general discussions about	
			adverse health effects		cardio risk factors with parents do not remarkably	
			of smoking.		influence smoking habits.	
			2. Families of			
			intervention and			
			control groups met a			
			paediatrician and			
			dietician first at 1 to			
			3mth intervals and 4 to			
			6mth intervals			
			respectively At 2-7			
			years both groups took			
			place at 6mth intervals,			
			and annually thereafter.			
						1

1.Lee (2008)	Two phase study.	Healthy population.	Intervention	1.Outcomes		Identified by
2. To test an	First phase used	Country: China	Phase 1:	(Intervention)	Participants" post-intervention scores were	authors
intervention	focus groups to	<u>Phase 1: n=55</u>	Two rounds of focus	Self reported	significantly higher than their pre-intervention scores,	i. Sample was a
designed using	explore	Age (women)	groups. First round	knowledge and	indicating a significant increase in knowledge,	convenience
the knowledge,	knowledge and	<u>&lt;</u> 25: 29.4%	with open questions to	attitudes	changes in attitudes towards stronger disapproval,	sample so may
attitudes and	perceptions.	26-30: 56.9%	explore knowledge,	measured by	and an increased likelihood of taking assertive action	not be
behaviours of	Second phase was	>30: 13.7%	attitudes and	questionnaire pre	when exposed to secondhand smoke in the family.	representative of
pregnant women	the pilot	Education (women)	behaviours and idea	and post	Participants with some knowledge of the harmful	the population.
regarding second	intervention.	<high 25.5%<="" school="" td=""><td>gathering used to</td><td>intervention.</td><td>components of secondhand smoke increased from</td><td>ii. No comparison</td></high>	gathering used to	intervention.	components of secondhand smoke increased from	ii. No comparison
hand smoke in the	1. Convenience	High school 43.6%	design pilot		32.7% to $92.2%$ (P <.01), while those with some	group
home.	sample. Inclusion	>High school 30.9%	intervention. Second	2. Analysis	knowledge of the diseases caused by secondhand	iii. Small sample
3. Partly funded	criteria: non	Education(husband)	round of focus groups	Percentage	smoke increased from 19.5% to 74.2% (P <.01).	size
by the Fogarty	smokers who had	<high 21.5%<="" school="" td=""><td>with same participants</td><td>change in self</td><td>Approximately, 38% of the participants started the</td><td>iv. No evaluation</td></high>	with same participants	change in self	Approximately, 38% of the participants started the	iv. No evaluation
International	husbands who	High school 27.5%	to test messages and	reported	program with some knowledge of the harm of	of the relative
Centre, National	smoked	>High school 51%	concepts.	knowledge and	secondhand smoke to the pregnancy and the foetus,	effectiveness of
Institutes of	2. First phase:	Monthly family income	Phase 2: Intervention	attitude.	and this figure improved to 73.4% after the	the different
Health,	55 participants for	(RMB)	Communication	Statistical analysis	intervention (P <.01). Most participants already were	components of the
Bethsheda,	focus groups	<1000 3.7%	activities. First contact	for significance	aware of the benefits of a smoke-free environment at	intervention
Maryland	recruited from	1000-2999 38.9%	at hospital event with	using Chi square	home. The high pre-intervention percentage of 82.8%	model.
	pregnant women	3000-5000 22.2%	motivational speeches	method.	improved even higher to $95.3\%$ (P <.05). The	
4. Before/After +	attending 3	>5000 35.2%	by authoritative		percentage of participants who disliked and strongly	
	hospitals for	Phase 2	figures, video, role play		disliked being exposed to secondhand smoke	
	prenatal care.	Age (women)	and games designed to		increased from 50.7% before the intervention to	
	Second phase:	<u>&lt;</u> 25: 383%	practice tactics and		82.8% after the intervention (P <.01). Before the	
	128 non-smoking	26-30: 48.4%	instil feelings of self-		intervention, a high percentage of the participants	
	pregnant women	>30: 13.3%	efficacy. Resource		reported that they were likely to take assertive action	
	with smoking	Education (women)	booklet provided.		when exposed to secondhand smoke from their	
	husbands	<high 10.2%<="" school="" td=""><td>Hospital records of</td><td></td><td>husband. The high percentage of 92.2% increased to</td><td></td></high>	Hospital records of		husband. The high percentage of 92.2% increased to	
	recruited and	High school 36.2%	participants flagged to		98.4% after the intervention (P $<$ .05). When the	
	followed up for	>High school 53.6%	enable systematic		source of exposure was other family members, the	
	16 weeks.	Education(husband)	reinforcement of		likelihood of assertive action was 56.2% at the pre-	
		<high 11.7%<="" school="" td=""><td>messages from</td><td></td><td>intervention period, lower than when the source of</td><td></td></high>	messages from		intervention period, lower than when the source of	
	3. Method of	High school 27.3%	clinicians at all		secondhand smoke was the husband. But this	
	allocation –	>High school 61%	checkups. Telephone		percentage increased to 86.7% after the intervention	
	convenience	Monthly family income	hotline provided for		(P <.01)	
	sample used. No	(RMB)	counselling and			

	control group.	<1000 6.4% 1000-2999 39.2% 3000-5000 36% >5000 18.4%	reinforcement. Bi- weekly telephone consultation provided by researcher and a final round up event to share experiences. 2. No comparison group			
<ol> <li>Narce-Valente and Kligman (1992).</li> <li>Chart audits and post visit parental survey to assess the pre intervention and post intervention screening and counselling activities of physicians with regard to passive smoking</li> <li>Funding?</li> <li>Before/After +</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Patients were sampled from the University of Arizona Family Practice Residency Program.</li> <li>N = 28 physicians.</li> <li>129 office visits qualified for the study, after exclusions n=106 (80.3%) Of the 28 physicians, 11 attended the seminar.</li> <li>No allocation method discussed.</li> </ol>	Country: USA. Children aged five years or younger seen for diagnosis of upper tract respiratory infection, bronchitis, pneumonia or otitis media.	<ol> <li>The two part intervention consisted of a 2 hour educational seminar for the physicians and a passive smoking chart reminder documentation system.</li> <li>A 2 hour seminar contained information on the health effects of passive smoking and on techniques for physicians to use in counselling parents on the reduction of exposure of children to ETS. In addition a newly developed office based chart reminder consisting of a stamp in red ink on a flow chart could be used to document whether a</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Physician screening and counselling regarding passive smoking.</li> <li>Chi squared to test for significant differences pre and post test.</li> </ol>	In comparing pre and post intervention parental surveys there were increases in passive smoking screening (17% vs32% p=0.03) and counselling (19% vs46% p=0.03) activities of physicians. Chart documentation of these activities however showed very little change regarding screening (2% vs6% p=0.10) or counselling (4% vs6% p=0.64). Screening and counselling increased as a result of the intervention.	

1. Rather et al.(2001)       Data for this study were collected as part of an RCT       Healthy population.       1. Intervention       1. Self-report of birth and during first 3 monking status       At 6 months postpartum, 76% of the women reported that they did not allow people to smoke in their protect bay from       Intervention       At 6 months postpartum, 76% of the women reported       Identified by that they did not allow people to smoke protect bay from       Intervention       I. Self-report of that they did not allow people to smoke protect bay from       At 6 months postpartum, 76% of the women reported       Identified by that they did not allow people to smoke protect bay from         2. To explore if the concern for the concern for the concern for the inhorm       Ethnicity and soci- economic status: No details given other than stating women in the sample were ,socio- economically and culturally "diverse to the first' year of the infant"s life in protecting the before their       Ethnicity and stopped smoking during pregnancy, smoking etapset smoking status       Age range: 15 to 40 smoking status       Mearterse smoking status       Some women (<10%) described additional actions and earder during ETS.       Statistical analysis prevention.         that for the batting stopped during remironmental child from environmental child from environmental child from environmental child from environmental child from environmental child from environmental child from environmental child from environmental child from environmental child from environmental stopped during tobacco smoke, pregnancy, gave birth to healthy 3. British Columbia       Age range: 15 to 40 birth to healthy birth to healthy birth to healthy binfants and could       Age range: 15				child was exposed to smoke at home and if so act as a reminder to counselling which could be offered.			
Poundation, theParticipantsIdentified byNational Healthrecruited from aauthor:research andpool of 8837LimitedDevelopmentwomen screenedgeneralisabilityProgramme; thefor studydue to low (60%)Canadianeligibility over aparticipation rate	<ol> <li>Rather et al.(2001)</li> <li>To explore if the concern for their unborn baby"s health leading to pregnant women stopping smoking was carried over to the first year of the infant"s life in terms of protecting the child from environmental tobacco smoke.</li> <li>British Columbia Medical Services Foundation; the National Health research and Development Programme; the Canadian</li> </ol>	Data for this study were collected as part of an RCT testing the efficacy of a smoking relapse prevention for women who had stopped smoking during pregnancy. 1. Inclusion criteria: Participants smoked cigarettes before their pregnancy, stopped during pregnancy, gave birth to healthy infants and could be contacted by telephone. Participants recruited from a pool of 8837 women screened for study eligibility over a	Healthy population. Country: Canada n=251 Ethnicity and socio- economic status: No details given other than stating women in the sample were "socio- economically and culturally" diverse Age range: 15 to 40 Living with partner: 84%	<ol> <li>Intervention         Delivered at time of             birth and during first 3             months postpartum.      </li> <li>Included nurse-             delivered telephone             support, relapse             prevention and             information about the             adverse effects of             smoking and             environmental tobacco             smoke. Primary             purpose of intervention             to assist participants in             maintaining smoking             cessation.         </li> <li>No details of             comparator given.         </li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Self-report of smoking status and efforts to protect baby from ETC elicited through interviews at 6 and 12 months following delivery. Self reports of smoking status were verified with assessments of carbon monoxide in expired air.</li> <li>Percentages of self reported outcomes.</li> </ol>	At 6 months postpartum, 76% of the women reported that they did not allow people to smoke in their houses. 77% removed ashtrays, 9% displayed no- smoking signs and 90% tried to ask people to smoke outdoors. At 12 months, 76% reported not allowing smoking in the house, 89% removed ashtrays, 8% displayed no smoking signs and 85% tried to ask people to smoke outdoors. At 6 months, 78.5% reported no difficulties in making homes smoke free, this increased to 87% at 12 months. Some women (<10%) described additional actions aimed at reducing ETS. The women who relapsed to smoking were slightly more likely to smoke in their houses at 6 months than those who remained abstinent (26.5% vs. 21%) and this gap widened at 12 months (26% vs. 15%).	Identified by reviewer: Incomplete description of methods, characteristics probably due to it being a paper reporting on data collected for larger trial on smoking relapse prevention. Statistical analysis limited: percentages given but no indications of statistical significance. No control group specified. Identified by author: Limited generalisability due to low (60%) participation rate

Health Decearch	nariad in 1006 in			
ricalul Kesearell	five Greater			
4 RCT ++	Vancouver			
4. KC1 + 1	teaching			
	hospitals			
	2  Of  416  alignitude			
	2. OI 410 eligible			
	women, $251$			
	(60%) consented			
	to participate.			
	Non-participants			
	mainly differed in			
	terms either of			
	high confidence			
	about remaining			
	as non-smokers or			
	intention not to			
	remains abstinent,			
	thereby seeing no			
	benefit of			
	participating in a			
	relapse prevention			
	programme.			
	Minimal loss to			
	follow up –			
	interviews were			
	completed with			
	241 (96%) and			
	238 (95%)			
	participants at 6			
	and 12 months			
	respectively.			
	3. Method of			
	allocation not			
	specified			
	-			

1. Severson et al	1. Inclusion	Healthy population.	1. Intervention	1.Outcome	At 2 and 4 months postpartum, 87% of smokers and	Identified by
(1994)	criteria: any	Country: USA	Began at hospital after	Self-reports of	74% of quitters reported receiving advice to quit or	Reviewer
2. To study the	mother who	-	delivery. Received	receipt of	stay quit. 83% of smokers and 66% of quitters	
effectiveness of	reported smoking	n=2890	written materials* after	materials elicited	received advice on passive smoke exposure. About	Outcomes of
an intervention to	in the month prior		birth and additional	by telephone	70% mothers reported receiving materials on passive	interest not
reduce infant	to pregnancy and	No demographic	intervention and further	interviews.	smoking. The video was seen by about 50% of	reported in study
exposure to	who had a ,,well	information given about	materials at the first	Smoking status,	mothers.	
environmental	baby".	participant mothers.	four well baby visits,	quit attempts and		Details of
tobacco smoke			generally occurring at	knowledge of	Comparison of number of quit attempts and	participant
during regularly	2. 49 paediatric		2-3 weeks and 2, 4 & 6	ETS elicited	knowledge of ETS between the 2 arms of the study	characteristics not
schedules,	practices in		months after birth.	through mailed	not reported as apparently data not available at time	specified.
paediatric well	Oregon recruited		Intervention delivered	questionnaire at 6	of report.	
care visits	to study. Of		by paediatricians, nurse	months and one		Too little details
3. National Heart,	these, 26 practices		practitioners and	year postpartum.		about methods
Lung and Blood	(72 providers)		physician"s assistants)			and analysis to
Institute	were randomised		and involved 5 steps	2. Percentages		enable proper
	to the Extended		including			appraisal.
4. RCT +	intervention and		encouragement to quit			
	23 practices (56)		or stay quit, facts about			Identified by
	providers to the		passive smoke			authors:
	minimal or usual		exposure, soliciting			Implementation of
	care condition.		quit date if relevant,			intervention
	1224 mothers in		giving out materials			problematic with
	control ("minimal"		and encouraging			variability in the
	condition) and		mother to watch video			distribution and
	1666 in the		on passive smoking.			collection of
	Intervention					health surveys
	("extended"		2. Comparator			and in the
	condition)		"Minimal" group			delivery of the
	3. No details of		received materials in			messages and
	method of		hospital after birth.			materials.
	allocation					
	specified.		All mothers at birth			
			(regardless of smoking			
			status) received a brief			
			message from the			

			paediatrician about the health effects of passive smoking on infants and a package of materials (letter, brochure and sign) designed to reduce passive smoking exposure			
<ol> <li>Sockrider et al. (2003).</li> <li>Examines the effect of an intervention to sustain prenatal smoking cessation postpartum. Reduce infant ETS exposure</li> <li>National heart, lung and blood institute.</li> <li>RCT ++</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Prospective randomised single blind trial.</li> <li>485 women involved in project PANDA at 28 weeks gestation who reported not smoking for 28 days before enrolment.</li> <li>87% completed data across the 12 month FU and were included in the analysis.</li> <li>N=325.</li> <li>Method of allocation not described.</li> </ol>	Healthy population. Women Average age 27.7 White 73%, Black 13%, Hispanic 13%, Other 1%. 67% employed full/part time. Current smoker 66% (83% 100 or less cigarettes per week prior to pregnancy), quit 34%. Varied SES (income).	1. A home smoking control index composed of four items (mother smokes in home, partner smokes in home, other household smokers are asked to smoke outside, visitors are asked to smoke outside) was used to classify homes as: having a smoking policy in effect, no policy or no policy needed. Those who needed to control smoking received one video tape and five newsletters for the women (and a different set for the partners) distributed by mail between 28 weeks gestation and 6 weeks	1. Home smoking control index, reported tobacco smoking in the home, validation of self reported smoking in the home using nicotine monitors. 2. Logistic regression using a stepwise approach. Due to skewedness inverse values were used for ETS exposure (more closely approximated to normal).	Of those who needed to control smoking in the home, 63% had a home smoking policy in effect at 3mths, 60% at 6mths, and 64% at 12mths. Predictors of having a policy at 6 months included having a policy at the previous assessment, confidence in limiting infant ETS exposure in the home, perceived difficultly in preventing exposure. A significantly larger proportion of mothers who reported not smoking post partum were classified as having a policy in effect at each post partum interview (all p<0.02). Home nicotine concentrations were associated with self reported home ETS at 6 and 12 months post partum (r=0.53 and r=0.55, both p<0.001). When compared with controls, smokers who received the smoking intervention were significantly more likely to restrict smoking in the home (58% compared to 29% allowed smoking) (p value etc not given). Early establishment of a policy appears to be important for ensuring sustained ETS avoidance over time.	P value for headline result (intervention increased likelihood of ETS restriction policy in smokers).

<ol> <li>Stepans et al. (2006).</li> <li>The effect of a smoking hygiene intervention on infants of breast feeding mothers who smoke.</li> <li>American Nurses Foundation</li> <li>RCT ++</li> </ol>	1. Convenience sample of 35 mother-infant dyads from seven postpartum units was recruited and randomly assigned to the intervention or control. Of the 27 dyads completing the study, 16 were in the experimental group and 11 were in the control.	Infants met the following criteria: hospital birth, at least 37 weeks gestation, birth weight >2,500 grams, on oxygen for no more than 24 hours after delivery, no significant postnatal health problems. Mothers were aged 18 years or older, smoked at least five cigarettes a day, and intended to breast feed.	newsletter included specific messages about protecting infants from ETS exposure, a sign to designate the home as smoke free and tips on relapse prevention. 2. Control (usual care) subjects received messages about ETS exposure only as part of standard counselling from infant paediatric care or community education. 1. Smoking hygiene was introduced when infants were two weeks old and reinforced at 3 and 5 weeks. Intervention components included: infant was not in the same room as someone who was smoking, if the mother smoked it should occur immediately after, or at least 90 minutes before breastfeeding, a hepa room clear air cleaner was placed in the infant"s room. All women received an	1. Infant health (respiratory symptoms) and urinary nicotine and cotinine levels, smoking hygiene behaviours. 2. ANOVA	No differences in infant urinary nicotine and cotinine levels, or breast milk nicotine and cotinine levels between the two groups No differences between frequency of respiratory symptoms in either the control or intervention groups when week 2 was compared with 3 and 5.	Only 27% of women in the intervention group implemented all aspects of the smoking hygiene intervention.
--	---	--	--	--	---	--

			ETS exposure pamphlet defining smoking hygiene and outlining the steps they could take to reduce their infant"s exposure. The intervention group received the pamphlet at week two; the control group received it at week five, after the completion of data collection.			
<ol> <li>Strecher et al. (1993).</li> <li>The role of a theoretical framework in an intervention program designed to reduce infants exposure to ETS</li> <li>Funding?</li> <li>RCT +</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Infants were enrolled at birth (three hospitals) and randomly assigned to intervention/contr ol.</li> <li>2332 eligible infants were born.</li> <li>Many mothers declined consent or could not be contacted after enrolment.</li> <li>Intervention N=292 Control N=293.</li> </ol>	Healthy population. Country USA. Infants had to have no significant postnatal problems and a healthy birth weight. No other demographic data.	1. Four intervention nurse home visits (experienced public health nurse) between 3 weeks and 6 months of age. Follow up data collected at 1 year. Each visit lasted 45 minutes. The nurse defined passive smoking, identified positive and negative outcomes relating to exposure to tobacco smoke. Expectations were addressed through verbal reinforcement and by worksheets which allowed the mother to: identify possible sources of smoke which her infant	1. Exposure to tobacco smoke (deemed to occur when smoke was produced in the infant"s presence). Amount of exposure expressed as cigarettes per day. Two psychological constructs used: Expectation of outcomes which result from behaviours associated with exposure and expectations of efficacy	No significant baseline differences. The intervention produced significant and sustained changes in outcome expectations (F=22.0 p<0.001) from baseline to follow up at 7 months. A marginal effect (F=3.2, p<0.08) intervention by outcome expectation interaction effect was also found over this period with the intervention having the greatest effect on mothers reporting initially low outcome expectations. No additional effects were seen from 7 to 12 months.	Interpreting the results of this paper is problematic as they are presented in the context of supporting the psychological model.
			was or may be exposed to, select specific strategies for reducing passive smoking from these sources. The mother then selected strategies which she felt could be confidently achieved. 2. Control = no intervention.	associated with mother"s ability to engage in these behaviours. 2. Analysis of co- variance.		
---------------------------	-------------------------------------	---------------------------------------	---	---	---	-------------------------
1. Vineis et al (1993)	1. All parents of newborn babies in	Healthy population. Country: Italy	1. Intervention Short counselling (15	1.Relevant outcomes	38% of smoking fathers and 59% of mothers reported not smoking in presence of children; 35% of fathers	Identified by reviewer:
	the town of Rivoli	n=1015	minutes) by nurse and	Self reports of	and 17% of mothers reported smoking between 1 and	Non-random
2. A population	contacted with	Inclusion Criteria: All	delivery of 3 booklets -	numbers of	5 cigarettes; 15% of fathers and 13% of mothers	allocation of
based non-	questionnaire. Of	parents of newborn babies	one on home accident	cigarettes smoked	reported smoking between 6 and 10 cigarettes.	participants to
randomised trial	those attending	living in the town of	prevention, one on	in presence of	Results are not reported for the differences between	control and
to evaluate the	first vaccination	Rivoli.	health effects of active	children by	intervention and control groups, other than that "little	intervention
effectiveness of	appointment the	Characteristics of	smoking and one on	mothers and	change in smoking habits between the intervention	group.
an educational	local health unit,	population not specified	health effects of ETS in	fathers. This	and the control group was noted 2 and 4 years after	
campaign in	40% were	other than that there was a	children. Intervention	outcome also	the intervention.	Outcomes not
preventing the	assigned to	"high proportion of blue	period lasted 2 years	analysed by social		reported in terms
exposure of	intervention, 60%	collar workers". Education	and two and four years	class.		of ETX exposure
young children to	to control.	and employment status	fallow we	Amolyzia		Identified by
parental tobacco	Allocation was	was analysed in relation to	ronow up	Analysis		authors:
sinoke.	not random and	smoking habits and the	questionnaires were	reicemages		autions.
3 Piemonte	appointments	intervention	population			contamination
Regional	according to date		2 Comparator			between groups in
Administration:	of delivery.		The control group did			terms of booklet
Ricerca	2. Eligible		not receive the			exposure may
Biomedical	population 1142		counselling or the			have led to the
Finalizzata,	families.		booklets			modest
Regione Piemonte	Questionnaires					effectiveness of

	returned by 1015					the smoking
4. $nRCT +$	(89% response					intervention
	rate). $402/1015$					
	allocated to					
	intervention group					
	and 613/1015 to					
	control group.					
	8 1					
	3. Non random					
	method of					
	allocation –					
	allocated					
	according to date					
	of birth of baby					
1 7 1 1	1 E '1'		1. T. 4	1.0.4		D
1. Zakarian et al $(2004)$	1. Families were	Healthy population.	1. Intervention:	1. Outcomes:		Results indicate
(2004).	recruited from	Country: USA	Counselling based on	Measures of	Farent reported measures indicate that, in both groups	acceptable test-
2. RCT to test the	le salela slimiter in	Contraction of the contraction o	Social learning theory.	children s E I S	(intervention and control, children's exposure to	relest reliability
h al and a second		Ethnisiten eshite 760/	Mothers were offered	exposure and	mother's tobacco smoke in the nome, and to an	
	two systems.	Elinicity: white 76%,	seven benaviour	mother s	tobacco smoke, declined sleepily from baseline to six	measures.
counselling	clinics generated	$A_{act} = 20.1 (6.2)$	counsening sessions	SHIOKING, Massured by	monus post test (p<0.001), and remained level	
program for	a list of all	Age. 29.1 (0.5) Gandary famala	Sessions 1, 2 and 7	mother"s reports	from baseling to past test and no difference in ground	
abildron"a	five years and all	40% single perents	sessions 1, 5 and /	Children <sup>®</sup> uninerry	was absorved over time, this abange was statistically	
cillaren s	mothers were	40% single parents	occurred in person at	continuing	was observed over time, this change was statistically	
tohaaaa smale	approximate of for	nor weak 12.8	conne sites, other	comme	significant for mother s indoor smoking rate ( $p=0.47$ ) and mother is total smoking rate ( $n=0.002$ ). There was	
(ETS)	talambana	per week: 12.8 Meen shild ago in monther	sessions over the	concentrations –	and momer's total smoking rate (p=0.003). There was	
(E15).	telephone	ivican cinici age in months:	phone. Counselling	sample collected		

3. Maternal and	screening.	17.6 (10.0)	included behavioural	at each study	no significant change over time for children"s urinary	
child health	Inclusion criteria:		contracting for	measure.	cotinine levels.	
bureau, US	English or	2. Control: "Measures	reducing children"s	Mother and other		
Department of	Spanish speaking	only" (no details)	ETS: developing long	parent"s smoking		
Health and	mothers with		and short term goals	status (self		
Human services.	children younger		for shaping household	reported).		
	than 4. Children		behaviours, and low or	Nicotine		
4. RCT ++	exposed to a		no cost rewards for	monitoring -one		
	minimum of two		success. Mothers used	week before six		
	of their Mother"s		pictorial charts to self	month interview,		
	cigarettes a day.		monitor smoking.	in three rooms in		
	Current breast		Those who asked for	the home.		
	feeders were		assistance to stop			
	excluded.		smoking were provided	2. Method of		
	2. Of the 3448		with a "quit kit" (no	analysis;		
	mothers		details) and a referral	Based on		
	telephoned, 1584		to community	intention to treat		
	were screened,		programmes. No	analysis. Cross		
	and 191 (12.1%)		formal smoking	sectional group		
	qualified to		cessation counselling	differences		
	participate. The		was provided.	examined using		
	first 150 were			one way		
	enrolled.		Counsellors received	ANOVA.		
	3. Families were		6hrs of individual and	Mothers smoking		
	randomised to		group training and	cessation assessed		
	intervention or		supervision and had	with Pearson"s		
	control after		monthly meetings to	chi-squared.		
	baseline		review mother"s	Mothers who		
	measures. The		progress. Standardised	were lost to		
	study was a		reports were completed	follow up and not		
	randomised,		for each session.	measured were		
	double blind			counted as		
	control trial with a			smokers.		
	two group repeat					
	measures design.					
	Assignment was					

stratified by child			
age, ethnicity and			
clinical site.			
Random number			
lists were			
generated for each			
strata.			
Intervention n=76			
Control n=74			

## **Extraction tables Review Two**

<ol> <li>Study reference</li> <li>Research question</li> <li>Funding</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Sampling strategy</li> <li>Sample achieved</li> <li>Method of allocation</li> </ol>	Population characteristics	<ol> <li>Details of intervention</li> <li>Details of any comparator</li> <li>Data collection method for qual studies</li> </ol>	1. Outcome 2. Method of analysis	Study findings/key themes	Limitations of study identified by authors/ reviewer
<ol> <li>Abrahammson et al. (2005)</li> <li>What are the experiences of midwives approaching women smokers in antenatal care?</li> <li>Funding: Kristianstad University</li> </ol>	Purposive sampling for variation in interests, participation in specific training, geographical location of work, age and duration in the position. 24 participants of 27 invited.	N=24. Sweden. Midwives. 2-24 years experience in antenatal work. All female. Age 27-61. All had been involved in recent training as part of a smoke free project including motivational interviewing training.	Qualitative interview study. 20 conducted in person, 4 via telephone.	Phenomenogra- phic approach. Developing a set of story types to make sense of individual experiences.	Avoiding the issue of smoking linked to previous experiences of persuasion or information giving having a negative influence on the relationship between midwife and pregnant woman, or having a lack of competence to deal with the situation. Importance of informing the women to better understand how smoking influenced the baby''s wellbeing. However experience was that this "informing" did not work. Mutual relationship seen as a tool that would encourage the woman to think over the smoking issue. Conflict between information-giving which had potential to increase women''s sense of guilt which counteracted encouragement. Need to build co-operation by respect for what the woman wanted.	Midwives with lower interest in smoking issues hard to recruit, sample may differ therefore from general population.

1. Anderson (2002)	No details	N=26	Qualitative focus group	No details	Variation in whether smoking cessation had been	Authors declare
2. What are	provided	USA.	study.	regarding	discussed by physicians.	"the participants
pregnant women"s	regarding	Pregnant women who	3 focus groups run.	analysis of data.	None of the participants described a thorough attempt	were not
experiences with	sampling strategy	were smoking.			to explain what smoking was doing to the baby, how	representative of
their care provider?		Described as primarily			quitting lowers risks, and how to go about trying to	all pregnant
3. No funding		lower income, lower			quit.	women in West
declared.		educated women, most in			Some women insulted by condescending tone and left	Virginia".
		their 20s. Nearly half had			feeling resentful.	
		other children.			Discussions often reported as counter-productive due	
					to perceptions of preaching, nagging.	
					Descriptions of physicians requesting cutting down	
					only.	
1 Arborelius &	Sample obtained	N-12	$\mathbf{O}$ 1' $\mathbf{U}$ ' $\mathbf{U}$ '	TT1 4		
1. Alborenus &	Sample obtained	19-13	Qualitative interview	Inematic	9 women stated they would have given up if they had	
Nyberg (1997)	from antenatal	Sweden.	study	analysis	been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby	
Nyberg (1997) 2. What are the	from antenatal clinic registration	Sweden. Women who had smoked	study	analysis	9 women stated they would have given up if they had been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby would be harmed.	
Nyberg (1997) 2. What are the perceptions of	from antenatal clinic registration list. Contacted by	Sweden. Women who had smoked during pregnancy and	study	analysis	<ul><li>9 women stated they would have given up if they had</li><li>been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby</li><li>would be harmed.</li><li>10 women stated the midwife should not be</li></ul>	
Nyberg (1997) 2. What are the perceptions of pregnant women	from antenatal clinic registration list. Contacted by letter + telephone.	Sweden. Women who had smoked during pregnancy and given birth during	study	analysis	<ul> <li>9 women stated they would have given up if they had been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby would be harmed.</li> <li>10 women stated the midwife should not be authoritarian, and not exhort, pressure or nag.</li> </ul>	
Nyberg (1997) 2. What are the perceptions of pregnant women regarding how	from antenatal clinic registration list. Contacted by letter + telephone. 17 women who	Sweden. Women who had smoked during pregnancy and given birth during previous few months.	study	analysis	<ul> <li>9 women stated they would have given up if they had been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby would be harmed.</li> <li>10 women stated the midwife should not be authoritarian, and not exhort, pressure or nag.</li> <li>Two women reported positive experiences with</li> </ul>	
Nyberg (1997) 2. What are the perceptions of pregnant women regarding how smoking should be	from antenatal clinic registration list. Contacted by letter + telephone. 17 women who had given birth	Sweden. Women who had smoked during pregnancy and given birth during previous few months. Age 20-38.	study	analysis	<ul> <li>9 women stated they would have given up if they had been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby would be harmed.</li> <li>10 women stated the midwife should not be authoritarian, and not exhort, pressure or nag.</li> <li>Two women reported positive experiences with midwives who were friendly and never negative and</li> </ul>	
Nyberg (1997) 2. What are the perceptions of pregnant women regarding how smoking should be discussed?	from antenatal clinic registration list. Contacted by letter + telephone. 17 women who had given birth during a 2 month	Sweden. Women who had smoked during pregnancy and given birth during previous few months. Age 20-38. All low level of	study	analysis	<ul> <li>9 women stated they would have given up if they had been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby would be harmed.</li> <li>10 women stated the midwife should not be authoritarian, and not exhort, pressure or nag.</li> <li>Two women reported positive experiences with midwives who were friendly and never negative and systematically asked about smoking and kept a record</li> </ul>	
Nyberg (1997) 2. What are the perceptions of pregnant women regarding how smoking should be discussed? 3. No funding	from antenatal clinic registration list. Contacted by letter + telephone. 17 women who had given birth during a 2 month period and were	Sweden. Women who had smoked during pregnancy and given birth during previous few months. Age 20-38. All low level of educational attainment.	study	analysis	<ul> <li>9 women stated they would have given up if they had been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby would be harmed.</li> <li>10 women stated the midwife should not be authoritarian, and not exhort, pressure or nag.</li> <li>Two women reported positive experiences with midwives who were friendly and never negative and systematically asked about smoking and kept a record of their consumption.</li> </ul>	
Nyberg (1997) 2. What are the perceptions of pregnant women regarding how smoking should be discussed? 3. No funding declared.	from antenatal clinic registration list. Contacted by letter + telephone. 17 women who had given birth during a 2 month period and were recorded as	Sweden. Women who had smoked during pregnancy and given birth during previous few months. Age 20-38. All low level of educational attainment. Skilled, unskilled workers	study	analysis	<ul> <li>9 women stated they would have given up if they had been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby would be harmed.</li> <li>10 women stated the midwife should not be authoritarian, and not exhort, pressure or nag.</li> <li>Two women reported positive experiences with midwives who were friendly and never negative and systematically asked about smoking and kept a record of their consumption.</li> </ul>	
Nyberg (1997) 2. What are the perceptions of pregnant women regarding how smoking should be discussed? 3. No funding declared.	from antenatal clinic registration list. Contacted by letter + telephone. 17 women who had given birth during a 2 month period and were recorded as smokers invited.	Sweden. Women who had smoked during pregnancy and given birth during previous few months. Age 20-38. All low level of educational attainment. Skilled, unskilled workers + 5 unemployed.	study	analysis	<ul> <li>9 women stated they would have given up if they had been given proof that it was dangerous or that the baby would be harmed.</li> <li>10 women stated the midwife should not be authoritarian, and not exhort, pressure or nag.</li> <li>Two women reported positive experiences with midwives who were friendly and never negative and systematically asked about smoking and kept a record of their consumption.</li> </ul>	

1. Bishop et al.	No details	N=39	Survey study including	Thematic	Perception of lack of skills and knowledge among staff	
(1998)	regarding return	Antenatal clinic staff	scaled and free text	analysis of text	regarding smoking cessation.	
2. What do staff	rates for	Australia	responses.	data.		
identify as barriers	questionnaire	13 midwives, 26 doctors.			Tendency for staff to use personal experience of	
to reducing the		Data collection as part of			smoking, quitting or non smoking to influence content	
prevalence of		a three year smoking			of consultations.	
antenatal smoking?		intervention study				
3. No funding					Perception of lack of patient motivation as an	
declared.					immovable barrier.	
					Lack of time and the clinic setting perceived as barriers	
					against counselling smokers.	
					Lack of patient education materials.	
					Importance of public education messages, although	
					reports of misinterpretation of messages such as a low	
					weight baby being beneficial.	

1. Clasper & White	Participants	N=497	Survey	Percent	96% of participants reported that they routinely asked	Self report
(1995)	identified from	UK		Chi square	about the smoking status of pregnant women when	1
2. What is the	list of practices	Hospital midwives 253.		1	they saw them the first time.	
attitude to and	within County	community midwives 74,			95% reported that they recorded the status.	
delivery of	Durham.	149 GPs. 21 obstetricians.			96% reported that they explained the risks.	
smoking cessation	Survey sent to	,,			67% reported that they advised pregnant smokers on	
programmes	work address.				how to stop.	
amongst midwives.	reminder after 3				49% reported that they monitored or reviewed smoking	
GPs and	weeks, and				status throughout pregnancy.	
obstetricians?	second reminder				Midwives significantly more likely to carry out all	
3. Funding: none	after further 3				these activities than doctors ( $p < 0.01$ ).	
declared	weeks.					
	67% response rate				The use of guidelines covering advice and help which	
	(497/744)				should be given was 6%.	
	75% response				28% of professionals thought they had good skills in	
	from hospital				smoking cessation counselling.	
	midwives, 81%				26% reported that they enjoyed giving counselling.	
	community				60% reported that it was difficult.	
	midwives, 54%					
	GPs, 55%				53% reported that they were insufficiently trained.	
	obstetricians.				GPs reported smoking cessation counselling to be the	
					least difficult and perceived themselves to be the most	
					trained ( $p < 0.01$ ).	
					More training and more time were the factors	
					mentioned most commonly as ways to make their	
					counselling more effective (no numbers provided).	
					56% reported that smoking cessation counselling given	
					by health professionals reduced the smoking of	
					pregnant smokers.	

1. Cooke et al.	Convenience	N=204	Survey	Percent	83% of staff reported assessing smoking status.	Self-report
(1998)	sample of 23	Australia	Scaled responses.	T test	81% reported providing education regarding	-
2. What are the	hospitals within a	Antenatal clinic staff	_	Regression	risks/effects of smoking.	
smoking	geographical area.	120 midwives, 84 doctors.		analysis		
intervention	Hospitals had	Average 12 years			Midwives significantly more likely than doctors to	
practices of in	antenatal clinics	experience working in			offer written materials (p<0.01).	
antenatal clinics?	and more than	obstetrics.			Midwives significantly more likely than doctors to	
3. Funding:	500 births per	9% smokers.			refer on (p<0.001).	
Newcastle	year.					
University	All midwives and				Doctors significantly more likely than midwives to	
Australia	doctors working				advise clients to quit by abrupt cessation rather than	
	at 20 antenatal				gradual reduction (p<0.01).	
	clinics during a					
	specified two				Participants perceived themselves as more willing than	
	week period				able to consel for smoking cessation ( $p<0.001$ )	
	invited to				Barriers to smoking cessation – lack of good quality	
	complete survey.				materials, lack of training, lack of teamwork, lack of	
	63% return rate.				time, and pessimism about the effectiveness of	
					smoking advice.	
					170/ of the communic had been offered in compiles training	
					an smalling approximation activities in the past 18 months	
					and 11% had attended a programme	
					and 1176 had attended a programme.	
					Midwives more likely than doctors to report being	
					offered training in smoking cessation interventions	
					(n < 0.05)	
					66% reported training and support for clinic staff was	
					inadequate	
					Practitioner ability in terms of counselling about	
					smoking cessation and having recent training for	
					smoking intervention positively predicted the number	
					of smoking interventions offered ( $R^2 = 0.13 \text{ p} < 0.01$ ).	
					Organisational factors such as having a	
					policy/procedure in place positively predicted the	
					number of smoking interventions offered ( $R^2 = 0.10$	
					p<0.01).	
			1		Work pressure positively predicted the number of	
					smoking interventions offered ( $R^2 = 0.04 \text{ p} < 0.0001$ ).	

1. Cooke et al.	Convenience	N=182 antenatal clinic	Survey	Means,	Midwives were more likely than doctors to initially	Self report
(2001)	sample of staff in	staff.	Scaled responses	percentages	adopt (ever use) at least one of the programme	
2. Does the type of	antenatal clinics	Australia.		Logistic	components (58% vs 22%).	
dissemination	in publicly funded	Data part of intervention		regression		
affect the uptake of	hospitals with	study.		T test	Median number of components of the programme used	
smoking cessation	more than 500	118 midwives, 64 doctors.		ANOVA	in the last month was one for midwives and nil for	
programmes by	births in a	23 smokers.			doctors.	
midwives and	geographical area.	Mean length of clinical				
doctors?	23 of 25 potential	experience= 10 years.			Most commonly used component was the quit smoking	
3. Funding: New	clinics included.				pack.	
South Wales	64% response rate					
Department of	from staff.				More than three quarters of midwives and doctors	
Health					reported that lack of time, lack of teamwork, lack of	
					training and lack of high quality programmes act as	
					barriers to the use of smoking cessation education.	

1. Everett et al.	Purposeful	N=15	Qualitative interview	Thematic	Doctors reported that while smoking was important	Particular
(2005)	sampling across 5	Doctors in public sector	study	analysis	that their patients had other competing health needs of	population
2. What are the	public sector	hospitals.			a low socio-economic status population.	characteristics.
practices and	hospitals in Cape	South Africa			1 1	
attitudes of doctors	Town.				Doctors were unaware of available clinical guidelines	
regarding smoking					for counselling pregnant women or the evidence	
cessation during					regarding effectiveness of interventions.	
pregnancy?						
3. Funding:					Generally approach consisted of exhorting women to	
Research for					stop smoking. They were aware this was inadequate	
International					but felt ill-equipped to counsel women.	
Tobacco Control						
					Reported that their efforts would be more effective if	
					they had more time for discussion, a more in-depth	
					understanding of how to motivate patients, and	
					attractive resources to distribute.	
					Some doctors did not note smoking status during	
					consultation, gave cessation advice only where there	
					was a problem, or made initial enquiries but did little to	
					monitor or review the situation. Approach limited to	
					repeatedly giving advice.	
					All destants arrangeed function recording their leafs of	
					All doctors expressed instration regarding their tack of	
					success in encouraging women to stop smoking. 5	
					empethetic approach could improve communication	
					Most of the dectors expressed a positive attitude to	
					training in best prestice guidelines and the distribution	
					of a self help guide for women	
					or a sen neip guide for women.	
					Doctors reported staff would be receptive to the	
					introduction of a smoking cessation intervention only if	
					it brought additional staff in to the system, was	
					independently administered and funded, and cast	
					doctors and midwives in a supportive rather than	
					primary role.	

1. Glover et al. (2008)	Sample randomly	N= 147 GPs 203	Survey	Percent Relative risk	98.5% of midwives and 84.5% of GPs reported that
2. What is the	computer	New Zealand		Relative Hisk	on the patient record.
GPs and midwives	National database	71% aged 35-54 years			GPs more likely to ask about smoking status than
cessation, and what	of GPs and midwives.	46% GPs.			1.21) midwives at first visit (92% vs 82% RR 1.12 CI 1.03-
support is provided?	Second sample generated for	Responses for all regions of NZ.			Key reason given for not asking was the short time available. Other respondents reported that they didn't
3. Funding: Ministry of Health	midwives due to limited				see pregnant women till late in pregnancy so didn"t ask.
	contact addresses.				Several GPs commented that recording smoking status
	potential				they usually only saw a woman once to confirm
	GPs, 397				94% of GPs and 90% of midwives reported usually
	midwives) + resent one month				asking pregnant women who smoked if the wished to stop.
	later if no response.				GPs significantly more likely than midwives to report
	Response rate				advising patients to stop smoking completely. Midwives more likely to advise cutting down initially
	Midwives 57%).				with a view to stopping (80% vs 20% RR 2.86 CI 2.18- 3.74).
					GPs more likely to give stop smoking advice at each antenatal visit as opposed to only discussing it if raised
					by the woman (69% vs 47% RR 1.45 CI 1.2-1.75).
					The likelihood of recommending particular treatments compared favourably to perceptions of which were the
					most effective.
					33 GPs and 74 midwives indicated that they knew little
					of cessation treatments.
			1	4	Differences in treatments recommended by GPs and Midwives.
			1.	1	No difference in regard to NRT patches, but GPs less
					likely to refer for acupuncture or hypnotherapy. GPs more likely to refer to Quitline (RR 1.2 CI 1.09-

1. Grange et al.	Purposive	N=979 post-partum	Survey	Chi square	76% of women who smoked at the start of pregnancy	Self report
(2006)	sampling of 60	women.	Scaled response	T test	said that they had been asked about their tobacco	Sampling strategy
2. What are the	maternity	France.			consumption by a clinician or midwife.	not fully clear
perceptions of	hospitals in 4	18% smoked during			Minimal advice only was given in 16% of cases.	
pregnant women	regions in France	pregnancy, 13% gave up				
regarding smoking	with more than	during pregnancy.			Among the women who did not give up smoking 21%	
reduction?	1500 deliveries				said they had not been questioned on the subject, 53%	
3. Funding:	annually.				reported they had not been given any information about	
Association Allies	Additional				the benefits of stopping smoking, and 84% had not	
France	convenience				been asked about their attempts to give up smoking.	
	sampling of 40				77% of these women said they had not been given an	
	smaller units				information leaflet, 91% had not been offered a	
	within				specialised consultation.	
	geographical					
	proximity of					
	investigators.					
	Convenience					
	sampling of					
	women who					
	those units					
	Dredicted sample					
	size 400					
	5126 400.					1

1. Hartmann et al.	List of potential	N=549	Survey	Percent	48% reported having had no formal training in	
(2007)	participants	USA.	Scaled responses	Chi square	smoking cessation intervention.	
2. What are the	drawn up from	Staff working in prenatal	-	Logistic	20% reported having a written protocol for smoking	
smoking cessation	professional	care.		regression	cessation.	
best practice	registers.	50% obstetricians, 18%		U	90% reported at least one resource available.	
factors?	Addresses	midwives, 15% family				
3. Funding: none	available for	physicians, 13% nurses.			Most commonly acknowledged barriers to intervention	
disclosed	1 138 of 1 687	4% assistants			were time constraints (71%) lack of patient interest	
alberobea	74% response rate				(68%) limited effectiveness of interventions (39%)	
	(844) of these 295				lack of confidence in personal intervention skills (9%)	
	incomplete or				Providers reporting at least one material counselling	
	staff not currently				resource were more likely to be associated with best	
	in prenatal care				practice (OR 9.6)	
	in prenatar care.					
					Having a written protocol to identify staff	
					responsibility was associated with best practice (OR	
					2 5)	
					2.5).	
1 Jordon et al	Pandam sample	N-125 Obstatrigions/	Survey	Darcant	Vast majority of respondents perceived no barriers	
(2006)	of 200 from	Gymagaalagista	Scaled responses	T tost	reventing them from using the 5As smalling constant	
(2000) 2. What are the			Scaled responses		method	
2. What are the	of 1614	Mala 50% White 80%		ANOVA	method.	
perceptions of	01 1014.	Male 39%, while 80%,		Pearson		
physicians	22 delivery	non smokers 80%,		correlation	Lack of time identified by 10%	
regarding a	failures, 28	working in suburban			Not knowing where to send patients for treatment $\frac{1}{1 + \frac{1}{1 + \frac{1}{1$	
smoking cessation	retired or working	locations 53%.			identified by 10%.	
programme?	in other areas.	Average 15 years of				
3. Funding:	Response rate of	experience, average age			Pregnant smokers not being responsive to suggestions	
Tobacco use	50%	46.			(7%) lack of reimbursement for service (6%), previous	
prevention and		76% worked in private			failures (6%) low confidence/perception of	
control foundation		practice.			intervention ineffective (3%), not area of	
					expertise/perception smokers don"t want to quit/fear of	
					offending $(2\%)$ , other $(4\%)$ .	

1 Katz et al	Dorticipants	N-1044	Pandomised controlled	Norrotivo	Adjustments were made to the content of the	Noture of the
1. Katz et al. $(2008)$	rancipalits		trial (randomisation	description of	Adjustments were made to the content of the	nature of the
(2008)			that (faildoffisation		finter vention in terms of violence and smoking after a	population
2. Can a	prenatal clinics.	Black/Alfican-American	method not described)	intervention	iew months due to afficulties in derivering this content	
benavioural	Screening	or Launa		Issues.	and the risk of increased drop outs.	
counselling	questionnaire to	Resident in District of		Percentages		
intervention	identify women	Columbia			"If a woman simply did not want to discuss their	
improve pregnancy	who smoked, had	Over 18 years of age			experiences on this issue (smoking or partner violence)	
outcomes?	depressive	English speaking			further, or if the facilitator thought the relationship	
3. Funding:	symptoms or	Pregnancy less than 28			might be jeopardised, they were instructed to alter	
National Institute	exposed to	weeks gestation			delivery".	
of Child Health	partner violence.	Smokers only 54%,				
and Human	1,398 potential	smokers and depressive			"For the active smoking component, which focussed on	
Development/Nati	participants, 1070	symptoms 11%, smoking			both smoking cessation and significant reduction, the	
onal Center on	(76%) recruited.	and partner violence 5%,			facilitators were instructed to pursue a harm reduction	
Minority Health		all 3 risks 6%.			strategy, and to cover the environmental tobacco	
and Health					smoke topic instead".	
Disparities		Subsection of 152 women				
		also completed telephone			71% of smoking sessions fully completed. 5% of	
		debriefing after study.			sessions on smoking had content omitted and 5% of	
					sessions were changed to environmental smoke risk	
					rather than active smoking.	
					Telephone debriefing $- 17/152$ had not attended any	
					sessions. Reasons $-41\%$ the researcher had not	
					informed or advised them to come back, 29% did not	
					feel they needed/wanted to participate, 24% the	
					sessions were too long.	
					18/152 had attended 1-3 sessions.	
					Reasons $-22\%$ not sure why or did not know why did	
					not attend any more, 17% sessions too long, 17%	
					timing in relation to pregnancy/delivery wrong or only	
					participated when went to the clinic.	

1. Lando et al.	Parents	N=306 + 2055	Compares findings from	Narrative	In a large percentage of calls forming part of the	
(2001)	scheduling/attendi	USA	a RCT and a controlled	description of	delivery intervention counsellors were unable to	
2. How do 2	ng prenatal visit	Current and recent (within	before and after study.	implementation	actively engage women in discussion of issues	
different	invited to	30 days prior to	5	issues	pertaining to smoking.	
interventions for	participate by	conception) women				
maternal smoking	telephone/in	smokers.			Provider resistance and problems with the logistics of	
compare?	person.	Mean age 28 + 24 years			implementing and maintaining the intervention in a	
3. Funding:	82% uptake	44% + 26% had not			busy and rapidly changing health care setting.	
National Heart,	reported for one	smoked in the previous 7				
Lung and Blood	study, not	days.			Difficulties in system complexities and staff and	
Institute	reported for other.	RCT - 88% Caucasian,			provider attitudes.	
		82% married or living				
		with partner, 64%			Staff and providers had to be "psychologically readied	
		employed full time, 17%			to deliver the intervention" developing the skills and	
		college graduates.			comfort to perform the intervention took time.	
		No demographic detail for				
		CBA study.			Providers often stopped discussing smoking once a	
					woman quit.	
					Many paediatric providers preferred to discuss	
					environmental tobacco smoke rather than maternal	
					smoking "since the baby not the mother was the	
					patient".	
					Other hindrances – lack of time, use of temporary staff,	
					decrease in nursing staff and a shift from individual	
					visits to group visits.	

1. Lowe et al.	Sampling via	Medical	Telephone interview.	Data analysis	Hospitals not providing the programme at follow up	Respondents not
(2002)	eligibility survey.	superintendants/midwives	Part of intervention	method not	reported that they were "not convinced" that they could	identified.
2. What was the	Hospitals		study.	described	not overcome barriers of staff time to provide the	
impact of a	providing care for	Australia.			service and a lack of infrastructure support by	
smoking cessation	10 or more	Specific number of staff			administration.	
programme?	patients a year	interviewed not provided.				
3. Funding:	with Aboriginal	35 intervention hospitals.			5 hospitals reported discontinuing the programme due	
Queensland Health	or Torres Strait				to the inability to obtain supplies of the self-help	
	Island population				booklet (no individual responsible for maintaining	
	of less than 50%.				supplies or following up orders).	
	Hospitals not					
	currently					
	providing					
	antenatal smoking					
	cessation care.					
	80 potential					
	hospitals, 70					
	included.					
	Survey sent to					
	medical					
	superintendent for					
	each nospital with					
	nassed a to a key					
	antenatal member					
	of staff					
	(midwife)					

1. Lowry et al.	Recruitment via	Reported as 9 focus	Qualitative focus group	Thematic	Relationship between woman and health professional is	Ethical concerns
(2004)	door-to-door	groups in abstract, 12	study.	analysis	crucial in regard to how receptive they will be to	regarding
2. What issues face	method by trained	elsewhere in paper.	Study carried out to		messages and support.	withholding topic
pregnant smoking	market research	Number of participants	inform development of a			of focus group
women?	interviewers.	not provided. Described	smoking cessation		Women particularly sensitive to approach and tone	discussion.
3. Funding: Tyne	12 focus groups.	as "mainly women from	programme.		used being disparaging of anything "preaching" or	Lack of detail
and Wear Health	10 in 1992 and 2	deprived areas, social			"hard hitting".	regarding number
Action Zone	"more recently".	class C2D and E".				of participants.
	Participants				Perception of "mixed messages" with professionals	Lack of
	informed				nagging them to quit but not following through with	illustrative
	discussion would				enthusiasm or empathy.	quotes.
	be on health and					
	illness.				Need for ongoing support rather than ongoing	
					"nagging".	
					Supporting women needs to take account of the context	
					of their lives such as role of cigarettes in coping with	
					boredom, problems and routine.	

1. MCCleod et al.	Sample drawn	N=11 women within 4	Qualitative interview	Thematic	Midwives reported that asking women and supporting	Participants
(2003)	from participants	months of giving birth.	study.	analysis using	women in making changes was challenging.	already part of the
2. What are the	who had been in	New Zealand, North	Data part of larger	principles of		wider study.
perceptions of	the intervention	Island.	Midwifery Education for	Boyatzis for	The intervention study used a laminated card listing six	
midwives and	arm of a larger	All smoked at conception,	Women who smoke	developing	statements describing a woman"s smoking status which	
pregnant women in	experimental	4 stopped during	(MEWS) intervention	coding.	was reported as useful by the midwives.	
regard to changing	study.	pregnancy, 4 reduced, 3	study	3 members of	Concerns that asking about smoking could damage the	
smoking	Purposive	continued to be regular		research	relationship with a woman.	
behaviour?	sampling of	smokers.		involved in		
3. Funding: Health	women on the	Age 21-36.		coding.	Women reported that asking about smoking was a part	
Research Council	basis of smoking	11 European ethnicity, 2			of a midwives job.	
of New Zealand	status, outcomes,	Maori.				
	age, previous				Midwives report difficulty in identifying the women	
	pregnancy and	N=16 midwives			who would be receptive to support and those who	
	partner"s smoking	New Zealand, North			would resent any advice. Concerned about the effect	
	status. Purposive	Island.			continued asking could have on women who may not	
	sampling of	9 had received smoking			be ready to make changes.	
	midwives on the	cessation training, four				
	basis of age and	had been in control arm of			Some uncertainty about asking and how to deliver the	
	experience and	the study, three had been			information by midwives. Motivational interviewing	
	differing levels of	in breast feeding training			had been part of the intervention and was reported as	
	participation in	arm of the study.			helpful by one midwife.	
	the study.	/ non smokers, / ex				
	15 women invited	Smokers, 2 smokers.			importance of brief enquiry at every visit with women valuing heing ship to tall the midwife that they had	
	doolingd	then 5 6: 5 10 years 2:			succeeded in making changes no matter how small	
	16 midwiyos	16 20 years 7: more than			Importance of involving partner	
	invited to	20 years			importance of involving partice.	
	narticinate all	20 years.				
	agreed.					

1 McCurry et al	Pregnant smokers	N=15	Qualitative interviews	No details	Most women reported that health professionals had at	
(2002)	attending a	Pregnant women		regarding data	sometime asked about their smoking behaviour	
2 What are	hospital maternity	Resident within one		analysis	however not all	
nregnant smoker"s	unit a community	health board in Northern		anarysis		
views on smoking	midwifery team	Ireland			Women felt that they had been advised rather than	
cessation advice?	and a GP practice	Age 16-38 years			strongly persuaded to give up smoking	
3 Funding: None	were approached	Described as "committed			strongry persuaded to give up smoking.	
declared	during a 10 week	smokers" although most			Appeared that GPs took a minimal role in any further	
declared	neriod	had managed to cut down			smoking cessation intervention	
	Approach by	since becoming pregnant			shoking cessation intervention.	
	health	since becoming pregnant.			Most women had been given leaflets and books	
	nrofessional				information about clinics and help lines although only	
	Quota sampling				a few reported being offered personal support by their	
	Quota sampring –				midwife	
	an women				indwite.	
	25 norticipant				None of the women reported that they had received	
	2.5 participant				help in developing a guit plan	
	10 material				help in developing a quit plan.	
	participants did					
	not attend					
	interview, gave					
	birth prematurely					
	or miscarried.					

1. Nichter et al.	Women recruited	N=53	Qualitative interviews.	Thematic	One participant reported that she was aided in her	Limited number
(2007)	from clinics,	USA, large city	Part of a larger	analysis	quitting attempts by regular phone calls she received	of supporting
2. What factors	family practice	Low income women	longitudinal study.	Team coding.	from a telephone helpline which showed somebody	quotes.
motivate women to	offices, baby	4 <sup>th</sup> or 5 <sup>th</sup> month of			else was interested.	
quit smoking?	fairs,	pregnancy				
3. Funding: Robert	advertisements,	All smoking at the time of			Perception of mixed messages from a doctor.	
Wood Johnson	flyers in shops.	pregnancy, 64% had			Encouraged cutting down but also said if quitting was	
Foundation	No details	continued to smoke			stressful she should stop trying to quit as stress could	
	regarding	during pregnancy,			harm the baby more.	
	approach versus	although all had attempted				
	participation	to reduce at some point.			Most women had received advice from their doctor to	
	numbers.	62% Anglo American,			quit but the majority reported that they received no	
		21% Mexican American,			messages that were helpful. Several described it being	
		11% African American,			"just a policy" to ask and give a pamphlet.	
		6% multi ethnic.				
		Most women in "high				
		stress relationships", one				
		quarter in positive, stable				
		relationships.				

1. Solomon &	Women attending	N=948 women referred	Uptake data only	Percentages	22% of referrals were never reached by telephone.
Flynn (2005)	a women infants	for the programme			After 8 attempts the support person stopped initiating
2. How successful	and children	USA			calls.
was a telephone	programme				22% received only 1 telephone contact which the
support service?	identified as a				authors attribute to women accepting the referral when
3. Funding:	smoker.				offered but later declining when contacted.
Vermont	Of the 1,159				Additional participation losses due to disconnected
Department of	women who were				telephones (no figures provided).
Health	smokers 187				
	(34%) accepted				
	the telephone				
	support package				
	offered at the start				
	of the				
	programme.				
	Over 6 years 948				
	women took part				
	in the				
	programme.				

1. Tod (2003)	Convenience	N=11	Qualitative interviews	Thematic	Perception of negative effect of advice given in a	Convenience
2. What are the	sample.	Pregnant women smokers		analysis using	judgemental manner. Perception of being judged led	sample
barriers to smoking	Participants	South Yorkshire		principles of	women to continue smoking as they were upset of as a	Limited
cessation in	recruited via	Age: 19-38		Framework	position of defiance.	quotations to
pregnancy?	midwives.					support reported
3. Funding: South	Different				Women"s mobility to attend smoking cessation	findings
Yorkshire	approach by				services due to lack of transport and alternative child	
Coalfields Health	different services				care. Only domiciliary or very local services were	
Action Zone	including				accessible.	
	personal					
	invitation, general				Provision of crèche facilities, appointment systems or	
	leaflet				telephone counselling suggested.	
	distribution.					
	300 invitation					
	letters distributed,					
	18 reply slips					
	returned. Of these					
	7 could not be					
	contacted.					

1. Walsh et al.	Hospitals with	N=140	Survey	Percentages	16 barriers to antenatal staff involvement in smoking	
(1985)	antenatal clinics	83 Medical directors	Scaled responses	Means, Standard	cessation programmes identified.	
2. What are care	identified from a	108 Nursing directors	1 I	deviations	1 0	
providers	list of service	Australia			4 barriers rated as "very important" by highest	
perceptions of	providers and	66% clinics in rural city			percentage of staff were lack of staff training in	
smoking cessation?	initial letter	or town, 26% in city			counselling smokers (nursing 49% medical 34%), lack	
3. Funding: New	contact.	suburb, 8% inner city.			of time (nursing 40% medical 31%) too few staff	
South Wales	191 hospitals				(nursing 39% medical 24%) and pessimism about the	
Cancer Council	returned form				effectiveness of smoking advice (nursing 25% medical	
	confirming had an				21%).	
	antenatal clinic					
	and providing				Other factors were lack of staff teamwork (24% nurses	
	contact details for				25% medical) staff believing pregnant smokers not	
	Medical and				interested in counselling (23% nursing 20% medical)	
	Nursing Director				staff unfamiliar with role expected of them (21%	
	of antenatal				nursing 16% medical), staff being smokers themselves	
	clinic.				(21% nursing 18% medical), staff believing preventive	
	16 hospitals				medicine not part of their role (21% nursing 3%	
	excluded as				medical).	
	antenatal classes					
	only. 1 hospital					
	no medical					
	director.					
	Questionnaires					
	returned by 80%					
	of eligible					
	hospitals.					

## Extraction table Review Three

Study Details	Participant characteristics	Intervention Characteristics	Results	Comments
England et al 2001 Study design: Data from RCT Study date: 1987- 1991.	Number of patients: 1,583 Mean Age: Quit before enrol:21.6 (4.5) Quit after enrol: 21.2 (4.3) Reduced: 22.8 (4.9) No change: 23.3 (4.5)	Data from a prospective, randomized trial of women who received prenatal care in public prenatal clinics and enrolled in a program for care	Cigarettes per day at enrolment and adjusted birth weightmsdnNo change3205NR701Quit before enrol3492224Quit after enrol3491127Reducers3237277	
<b>Location:</b> USA <b>Objective:</b> To determine 1) whether reducing tobacco exposure during pregnancy increases the birth	Parity- nulliparous (%): Quit before enrol: 61.2 Quit after enrol: 59.8 Reduced: 44 No change: 38.2 Education <12yr(%): Quit before enrol: 44.6		Urine cotinine at enrolment and adjusted birth weightmCInNo change3216Nr701Quit before enrol3524Nr224Quit after enrol34133009-3581127Reducers32373173-3300277	
weight of term infants and 2) the relative effects of early- and late- pregnancy exposure to tobacco on infant birth weight.	Quit after enrol: 40.2 Reduced: 47.7 No change: 41.5 <b>Ethnicity- % black:</b> White Quit before enrol: 87.5 Quit after enrol: 86.6 Reduced: 81.6		<ul> <li>Women who smoke during pregnancy may need to reduce to low levels of exposure (less than eight cigarettes per day) to improve infant birth weight.</li> <li>after stratification by level of cigarette use at enrollment, the mean adjusted infant birth weight for women with low exposure who reduced their cigarette use was 201 g heavier than that for light smokers whose cigarette use did not change</li> <li>The mean adjusted infant birth weight for women whose using estimates.</li> </ul>	
were obtained from the Smoking Cessation in Pregnancy RCT, conducted in public	No change:89.6 Black Quit before enrol: 12.5 Quit after enrol: 13.4		<ul> <li>The mean adjusted infant birth weight for women whose urme comme concentration reduced was only 21 g heavier compared with those whose cotinine concentration did not change; this finding was not significant (p = 0.57)</li> <li>After stratifying subjects by cotinine level at enrollment,- no significant increase in mean adjusted infant birth weight among women who reduced</li> </ul>	

clinics in three	Reduced: 18.4	their cotinine concentration compared with those whose cotinine level did	
states (Colorado,	No change: 10.4	not change	
Maryland, and			
Missouri)	Gestational age at enrolment		
,	mean: NR		
Funding: Federally			
funded	Marital status- husband or partner		
	%:		
Analysis:	Quit before enrol:78.1		
<ul> <li>General linear</li> </ul>	Quit after enrol: 80.3		
models were used	Reduced: 73.7		
to generate mean	No change: 78.6		
adjusted birth			
weights for women	<b>Baseline comparability:</b>		
who reduced their	Demographic characteristics varied		
tobacco exposure	among women with different		
by 50 percent or	exposure patterns		
more and for those			
who did not	Inclusion Criteria:		
change their	• women who reported having		
exposure.	smoked within / days before		
■ Regression	thinking they were pregnant or		
smoothing	within / days before screening were		
techniques were	Diagle or White women		
used to	- black of white women		
relation between	- singleton, term mants (57 or more		
birth weight and	■ plausible birth weights (between the		
early exposure and	0.5 and 99.5 percentiles for term		
birth weight and	infants which is between 900 and		
third-trimester	5 300 g)		
exposure.	• women who delivered term infants		
	in order to evaluate the effects of		
Length of Follow	tobacco exposure on fetal growth		
Up: Self-reported	independent of potential effects on		
cigarette use and	preterm delivery.		

urine cotinine concentration were collected from 1,583 pregnant smokers at study enrollment and in the third trimester	Exclusion Criteria: NR			
Loss to Follow up: NR				
	Number of patients:	Intervention:		
Li et al., 1993	Never smokers: 476		Patients were classified into two groups by a baseline cotinine cutoff	
	Quitters: 78	The experimental group (n=400)	point of 100 ng/ based on two different classes of smokers	
Study design:	Reducers: 144	received the following during	• Smokers with cotinine levels of 100 ng/mL or less were more likely to be	
Group analyses	No change: 323	their first prenatal visit: (1) a	infrequent smokers, smokers with low nicotine intake], or light smokers	
from a prospective,	Unknown: 258	15-minute smoking-cessation	(<=five cigarettes per day).	
randomized		skills counseling session	• Reducers were defined as patients whose cotinine levels changed from	
smoking-cessation	Mean Age:	(2) a self-directed, /-day	the first baseline prenatal visit (mean gestational age+/- SD, 16+/- /	
intervention	Never smoker: $20.2 (10.1)$	smoking-cessation manual	weeks) to the end-point observation (>=32 weeks' gestational age) in one	
Study datas 1096	Quinters: $25.1(5.0)$ Reducers: $24.4(5.7)$	Cuide to Quit Smolting	of the following two ways:	
91 (Birmingham	No change: $24.3$ (6.3)	(3) individual cessation	areater than 100 ng/mL	
Trial)	Unknown: 24.5 (8.8)	reinforcement by registered	at least a 20-ng/mL reduction for natients with a baseline cotinine level	
(indi)	Clikilowii. 24.5 (0.0)	nurse or physician staff	of 100 ng/mL or less	
Location: USA	Parity: NR	members at each clinic visit	The no-change group included smokers who did not meet these criteria.	
		(4) social support methods,	A 60-ng/mL reduction was selected because a mean birth weight	
<b>Objective:</b> To	Education- years mean(sd) :	including a buddy letter, a	decrease of about 120 g has been observed with a mean cotinine level	
evaluate the impact	Never smokers: 11.2 (5.0)	buddy contract, and a buddy tip	increase of approximately 60 ng/mL (range, 138 to 284 ng/ml. A 20-	
of cotinine-	Quitters: 12.9 (3.1)	sheet.	ng/mL reduction in cotinine level is approximately equal to a reduction	
confirmed smoking	Reducers: 12.1 (2.8)		of three cigarettes smoked per day.	
reduction during	No change: 12.1 (3.1)	Control:	Continuing smokers who had a missing cotinine value at the baseline or	
pregnancy on infant	Unknown: 12.4 (3.3)		end-point observation (n=258) were classified into an unknown group for	
birth weight and		The control group $(n=414)$	smoking-reduction status.	
gestational age at	Ethnicity- % black:	1. 1. 4. 1. 1 <sup>1</sup> 1. 14		
birth	Never smokers: 93	received standardized written		

quit rate among	continuing smokers.		White	Cot	<100n	g/ml	Cot>	100ng	/ml		
the control group						-		-			
were confirmed.	Inclusion Criteria:		Baseline	m	sd	n	m	sd	n		
	Only smokers with a fetal gestational		No Change	48	32	93	151	46	73		
	age of 32 weeks or less were		Reducers	72	19	16	210	93	55		
	Single live birth		End point								
			No Change	90	78	93	164	65	73		
			Reducers	28	18	16	88	47	55		
	Exclusion Criteria:										
	Twins excluded		Ī								
				FCOL	<b>F</b> RG						
			INFANT OUT	ICON	IES						
			T. C. (1.) (1	• • •	()						
			Infant birth w	veight	(g) no	<u>t adju</u>	sted				
			N. 4	<u>m</u>	41 /	sa 711	<u>n</u> 476				
			Not smokers	21	41 71 /	/11 501	4/0				
			Deducers	21	$\frac{1}{20}$	301 651	/0				
			No change	20	20 0 42 4	597	140				
			Unknown	20	45. 35. 9	837	258				
			Ouittors vs rod	29	ia dif	052 ∓n∕01	250				
			Quitters vs red	ucers	sig un	1 p<0.	05				
			Infont hinth u	aight	(a) od	lingtod					
			<u>IIIIaiit Dirtii w</u>		<u>(g) au</u>	ijusiec	<u> </u>				
			Not smokers	21	80 1	<u>63 1</u>	76				
			Quitters	31	00 ( 12 i	63 7	8				
			Reducers	30	τ∠ V 76 /	44 1	40				
			No change	30	, 0 ·	71 I 70 2	70 27				
			Unknown	30	78	2) J 3) J	∠ / 58				
			Ouitters vs red	ucers	ia dif	52 2 Fn<01	05				
					sig ull	т h <0.	0.5				

Infant birth weight (§
Ethnicity: Black and Wh
Cot<100n
Black m sd
No Change 3068 71
Reducers 3288 136
White
No Change 3159 52 9
Reducers 3264 126 16
Low birth weight (under 2500g)
n N%
Not smokers 52 476 10.9
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Outters} & 8 & 78 & 10.3 \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{cccc} Quinters & 0 & 70 & 10.5 \\ Poducors & 21 & 140 & 15 \end{array}$
Nu l 50 227 152
No change $50  327  15.3$
Unknown 42 258 16.3
Low birth weight (under 2500g)
<u>adjusted odds ratio %, 95% CI</u>
OR CI
Not smokers
Ouitters 1.18 .50-2.75
Reducers $1.73 - 96-3.12$
No change* $1.02  1.22  2.04$
1.92 1.23-3.04
Unknown* 1.99 1.25-3.19
*compared to never smokers p <0.0

Weeks gestation at delivery- not adjusted
m sd n
Not smokers 38.6 3.1 476
Quitters 39.3 1.9 78
Reducers 38.6 2.8 140
No change 38.7 2.4 327
Unknown 37.7 4.4 258
Quitters vs no changers sig p<0.05
Weeks gestation at delivery- adjusted
<u> </u>
Not smokers 38.7 .2 476
Quitters 39.2 .4 78
Reducers 38.8 .3 140
No change 38.5 .2 327
Unknown 37.9 .2 258
Weeks gestation at delivery- adjusted
Ethnicity: Black and White
Cot<100ng/ml Cot>100ng/ml
Black m sd n m sd n
No Change 37.9 0.4 64 38.3 0.3 97
Reducers 39.1 0.7 15 38.1 0.4 54
No Change 39.4 0.3 93 38.6 0.3 73
Reducers 39.6 0.7 16 39.2 0.4 55
Proton dolivory loss than 27 who
$\frac{11}{11} \frac{11}{11} 11$
$\frac{11  1N  70}{Not smokers  58  476  12.2}$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Quincis $0 / 0 = 10.5$ Poducers 22 140 157
Reducers 22 140 15./
No shanga $42 - 227 - 122$
No change 43 327 13.2

Preterm delivery less than 37 wks- adjusted odds ratio %, 95% CI $OR$ $CI$ % $OR$ $CI$ %Not smokers476Quitters0.96.42-2.2378Reducers1.62.92-2.84140No change1.25.78-1.98327Unknown1.951.25-3.04258Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline Preterm delivery less than 37 wks-\\ \hline adjusted odds ratio %, 95% CI \\ \hline & OR & CI & \% \\ \hline & OR & CI & \% \\ \hline & OR & Simplement (1000) \\ \hline & OR & CI & \% \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & OR & OR & Finite CI \\ \hline & OR & OR & OR & OR & OR \\ \hline & OR & OR & OR & $	<u>6</u> 76 8 40 27 58		
adjusted odds ratio %, 95% CI $\underline{adjusted odds ratio %, 95% CI}$ $\underline{OR}$ $CI$ $\%$ Not smokers $476$ Quitters $0.96$ $42-2.23$ $78$ Reducers $1.62$ $.92-2.84$ $140$ No change $1.25$ $.78-1.98$ $327$ Unknown $1.95$ $1.25-3.04$ $258$ Unknown compared to never smokers sig p < 0.05	<th and="" column="" end="" of="" t<="" td="" the=""><td>6       76       8       40       27       58</td><td></td></th>	<td>6       76       8       40       27       58</td> <td></td>	6       76       8       40       27       58	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	OR CIORCINot smokers476Quitters0.96.42-2.2378Reducers1.62.92-2.84140No change1.25.78-1.98327Unknown1.951.25-3.04258Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	6 76 8 40 27 58		
OK CI $\frac{96}{70}$ Not smokersQuitters0.96.42-2.23Reducers1.62.92-2.84140No change1.25.78-1.98327Unknown1.951.25-3.04258Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	OKCI $\frac{76}{76}$ Not smokers476Quitters0.96.42-2.2378Reducers1.62.92-2.84140No change1.25.78-1.98327Unknown1.951.25-3.04258Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	<u>o</u> 76 78 40 27 58		
Not smokers          4/6           Quitters         0.96         .42-2.23         78           Reducers         1.62         .92-2.84         140           No change         1.25         .78-1.98         327           Unknown         1.95         1.25-3.04         258           Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	Not smokers         4/6         Quitters       0.96       .42-2.23       78         Reducers       1.62       .92-2.84       140         No change       1.25       .78-1.98       327         Unknown       1.95       1.25-3.04       258         Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	76 78 40 27 58		
Quitters         0.96         .42-2.23         78           Reducers         1.62         .92-2.84         140           No change         1.25         .78-1.98         327           Unknown         1.95         1.25-3.04         258           Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	Quitters         0.96         .42-2.23         78           Reducers         1.62         .92-2.84         140           No change         1.25         .78-1.98         327           Unknown         1.95         1.25-3.04         258           Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	8 40 27 58		
Reducers         1.62         .92-2.84         140           No change         1.25         .78-1.98         327           Unknown         1.95         1.25-3.04         258           Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	Reducers         1.62         .92-2.84         140           No change         1.25         .78-1.98         327           Unknown         1.95         1.25-3.04         258           Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	40 27 58		
No change         1.25         .78-1.98         327           Unknown         1.95         1.25-3.04         258           Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	No change         1.25         .78-1.98         327           Unknown         1.95         1.25-3.04         258           Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	27 58		
Unknown 1.95 1.25-3.04 258 Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	Unknown 1.95 1.25-3.04 258 Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	.58		
Unknown compared to never smokers sig p <0.05	Unknown compared to never smokers sig p $< 0.05$			
		ig p < 0.05		
Additional data	Additional data			
Moon Dirth Weight by Deer Assertion to Catining				
Mean Birth weight by Race According to Cotinine	Maan Dirth Weight by Deep According to Cotining Leve	to Cotining Lougla at Dec-lin-	rals at Dasaline and	
at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Leve	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline	vels at Baseline and	
	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Leve at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers	vels at Baseline and	
at the Like Fourt Annoing Continuing Shickers	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Levat the End Point Among Continuing Smokers	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers	vels at Baseline and	
at the Life Fourt Anong Continuing Shokers	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Leve at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers	vels at Baseline and	
at the End Fount Among Continuing Smokers	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Leve at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers	vels at Baseline and	
at the Life Fourt Among Continuing Shokers	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Levat the End Point Among Continuing Smokers	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers	vels at Baseline and	
	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Lev at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers Cotinine Level at Baseline	vels at Baseline and	
Cotinina Level at the End Form Annong Continuing Shrokers	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Lev at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers Cotinine Level at Baseline 101-200 ng/mL >200 ng/mL	vels at Baseline and	
Cotinine Level at End Point, raymL Black White Black White Black White	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Lev at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers Cotinine Level at Slack White Black White Black White	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers Cotinine Level at Baseline 101-200 ng/mL >200 ng/mL Black White	rels at Baseline and el at Baseline >200 ng/mL Black White	
Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL 101-200 ng/mL End Point, ng/mL Black White Black White Sidek White	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Lev at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers Cotinine Level at Store White Side White Side White Sint Weight, mean±SD 3110±658 3305±573 2962±682 3133±632	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers           Cotinine Level at Baseline           101-200 ng/mL         >200 ng/mL           lack         White         Black         White           2±682         3133±632         2833±485         3099:	rels at Baseline and el at Baseline >200 ng/mL Black White 2833 ±485 3099 ±715	
Cotinine Level at         S100 ng/mL         101-200 ng/mL           Cotinine Level at         End Point, ng/mL         Black         White         Black         White           ≤100         Bit         Black         White         Black         White           ≤100         Bit         Bit         S100         S100         S100           Bit         women         58         74         33         44	Mean Birth Weight by Race According to Cotinine Lev at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers Cotinine Level at S100 ng/mL 101-200 ng/mL End Point, ng/mL Black White Black White S100 Birth weight, mean ± 5D 3110 ± 658 3305 ± 573 2962 ± 682 3133 ± 632 No. of women 58 74 33 44	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers           Cotinine Level at Baseline           101-200 ng/mL         >200 ng/mL           lack         White         Black         White           2±682         3133±632         2833±485         3099: 33         44         9         1	vels at Baseline and el at Baseline >200 ng/mL Black White 2833±485 3099±715 9 9	
Cotining	Cotinine Level at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers         Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Black White         Sito       3101:658         Birth weight, mean ± SD       3110:4558         Sito       310         Birth weight, mean ± SD       3110:458         Sito       310         Birth weight, mean ± SD       310:458         Sito       305:±573         2965:±682       3133:±632         No. of women       58         74       33         Birth weight, mean ± SD       2986:±68         Sito       2846:±542       2949:±689	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers  Cotinine Level at Baseline  101-200 ng/mL  22682 3133±632 2833±485 3099 33 44 9 1 6±542 2949±689 2872±532 31005	vels at Baseline and el at Baseline >200 ng/mL Black White 2833±485 3099±715 9 9 2872±532 3100±407	
Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Shickers           Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         101-200 ng/mL           Black         White         Black           White         Black         White           Birth weight, mean±SD         3110±658         3305±573         2952±682         3133±           No. of women         58         74         33         44           101-200         Birth weight, mean±SD         2966±468         3312±466         2846±542         2949±           No. of women         19         32         48         30	Cotinine Level at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers         Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Black White         S100       Birth weight, mean ± SD         3110 ±658       3305 ± 573       2962 ± 682       3133 ± 632         No. of women       58       74       33       44         101-200       Birth weight, mean ± SD       2966 ± 648       3312 ± 466       2946 ± 542       2949 ± 689         No. of women       19       32       48       30	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers           Cotinine Level at Baseline           101-200 ng/mL         >200 ng/mL           lack         White         Black         White           2±682         3133±632         2833±485         3099± 33         44         9         1           6±542         2949±689         2872±532         31002 48         30         17         14	vels at Baseline and el at Baseline >200 ng/mL Black White 2833±485 3099±715 9 9 2872±532 3100±407 17 18	
Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Silon ng/mL         101-200 ng/mL           Silon         Black         White         Black         White           Silon         Bitrit weight, mean ± SD         3110 ± 658         3305 ± 573         2952 ± 682         3133 ±           No. of women         58         74         33         44           101-200         Bitrit weight, mean ± SD         2968 ± 468         3312 ± 466         2846 ± 542         2949 ±           No. of women         19         32         48         30           >200         Bitrit weight, meant ± SD         2853 ± 216         2367 ± 928         3049 ± 507         3037 ±	Cotinine Level at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers         Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Black White         Sito       Birth weight, mean ± SD         Sito       Sito         Birth weight, mean ± SD       2966 ± 468         Sito       Sito         Sito       Sito         Birth weight, mean ± SD       2966 ± 468         Sito       Sito	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers           Cotinine Level at Baseline           101-200 ng/mL           200 ng/mL         >200 ng/mL           lack         White         Black         White           2±682         3133±632         2833±485         3099: 33         34         9         1           6±542         2949±689         2872±532         3100: 48         30         17         14           9=507         3037±630         2875±729         3128:         328         328         328	vels at Baseline and elat Baseline >200 ng/mL Black White 2833±485 3099±715 9 9 2872±532 3100±407 17 18 2875±729 3128±425	
Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Cotining         Cotining         101-200 ng/mL           Silon         Black         White         Black         White           Silon         Bilinth weight, mean±SD         3110±658         3305±573         2952±682         3133±           No. of women         58         74         33         44           101-200         Bilinth weight, mean±SD         2965±468         3312±466         2846±542         2949±±           No. of women         19         32         48         300           >2000         Bilth weight, mean±SD         2823±216         2367±928         3049±507         3037±           No. of women         2         3         22         16	Cotinine Level at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers         Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Black White         S100       Birth weight, mean±SD         3110±658       3305±573       2962±682       3133±632         No. of women       58       74       33       44         101-200       Birth weight, mean±SD       2966±468       3312±466       2946±542       2949±689         No. of women       19       32       48       30         >200       Birth weight, mean±SD       2823±216       2367±928       3049±507       3037±630         No. of women       2       3       22       16	to Cotinine Levels at Baseline okers           Cotinine Level at Baseline           101-200 ng/mL         >200 ng/mL           lack         White         Black         White           2±682         3133±632         2833±485         3009: 33         309: 13         109: 148         30         17         14           9=507         3037±630         2875±729         3128: 22         16         22         18	vels at Baseline and elat Baseline >200 ng/mL Black White 2833±485 3099±715 9 9 2872±532 3100±407 17 18 2875±729 3128±425 22 9	
Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Sinck CIS           Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Sinck         White         Black         White           Sind         Sinck         White         Black         White         Black         White           Sind         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         White           Sind         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         White         Black         White           Sind         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         White         Black         White           Sinck         White         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck           Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck           Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck           Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck           No. of women         19         32         48         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck           No. of women         2         3         22         Sinck         Sinck         Sinck	Cotinine Level at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers           Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL           Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL           Black White           Soft wonght, mean±SD         2986±468         3312±466         2846±542         2949±689           No. of women         19         32         46         30           >200         Birth weight, mean±SD         2823±216         2367±928         3049±507         3037±630           No. of women         2         2         16           All         <th colspan="2</td> <td>Cotinine Levels at Baseline           Cotinine Level at Baseline           101-200 ng/mL           &gt;200 ng/mL           101-200 ng/mL           Black         White           Black         White           2±682         3133±632         2833±485         30099           33         44         9         11           6±542         2949±689         2872±532         31000           48         30         17         18           9=507         3037±630         2875±729         3128+           22         16         22         16           3=584         3054±649         2067±612         3107-</td> <td>Baseline       &gt;200 ng/mL       Black     While       2833±485     3099±715       9     9       2872±532     3100±407       17     18       2875±729     3128±425       22     9       2007±612     3107±409</td>	Cotinine Levels at Baseline           Cotinine Level at Baseline           101-200 ng/mL           >200 ng/mL           101-200 ng/mL           Black         White           Black         White           2±682         3133±632         2833±485         30099           33         44         9         11           6±542         2949±689         2872±532         31000           48         30         17         18           9=507         3037±630         2875±729         3128+           22         16         22         16           3=584         3054±649         2067±612         3107-	Baseline       >200 ng/mL       Black     While       2833±485     3099±715       9     9       2872±532     3100±407       17     18       2875±729     3128±425       22     9       2007±612     3107±409	
Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL          Cotining         Cotining           S100         Black         White         Black         White           S100         Bitht weight, mean ± SD         3110 ± 658         3305 ± 573         2952 ± 682         3133 ±           No. of women         58         74         33         44           101-200         Bitht weight, mean ± SD         2986 ± 468         3312 ± 466         2846 ± 542         2949 ±           No. of women         19         32         48         30           >200         Bitht weight, mean ± SD         2823 ± 216         2367 ± 928         3049 ± 507         3037 ±           No. of women         2         3         22         16           All         Bitht weight, mean ± SD         3073 ± 610         3281 ± 569         2923 ± 584         3054 ±           No. of women         79         109         103         90	Cotinine Level at the End Point Among Continuing Smokers           Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         100 ng/mL         101-200 ng/mL           Cotinine Level at End Point, ng/mL         Black White         Black White           \$100         Birth weight, mean±SD         3110±658         3305±573         2962±682         3133±632           No. of women         58         74         33         44           101-200         Birth weight, mean±SD         2986±468         3312±466         2846±542         2949±689           No. of women         19         32         45         30         >200           Birth weight, mean±SD         2823±216         2367±928         3049±507         3037±630           No. of women         2         3         22         16           All         Birth weight, mean±SD         3073±610         3281±569         2923±584         3054±649           No. of women         79         109         103         90	Cotinine Levels at Baseline           Cotinine Level at Baseline           101-200 ng/mL         >200 ng/mL           liack         White         Black         White           2±682         3133±632         2833±485         3099:           33         44         9         11           6±542         2949±689         2872±532         31000:           48         30         17         18           9=507         3037±630         2875±729         3128:           22         16         22         16           3±584         3054±649         2067±612         3107:           103         90         48         30	el at Baseline         >200 ng/mL         Black       White         2833±485       3099±715         9       9         2872±532       3100±407         17       18         2875±729       3128±425         22       9         2067±612       3107±489         46       36	

Secker Walker and	Number of patients: 240	Intervention:		■ There were no
Vacek 2002		The smoking cessation	■ For women who reduced their cigarette consumption by 50% or more,	significant
	Mean Age: 22.8 (5.1)	protocol was delivered by	the average last visit cigarettes per day was 6.3 (95% confidence interval	differences in
Study design:		trained physicians with referral	[CI]: 5.2-7.4)	average birth
RCT University of	Parity- primigravida 43%	to an on-site smoking	• For women who did not reduce their consumption to that extent, the	weight between
Vermont Trial		cessation counselor	average number of cigarettes consumed per day at the last visit, 14.8	infants of
	Education- >high school: 12%	• the first visit took place at 14.6	(95% CI: 13.6-16.0), was significantly increased from the first visit ( $p < p$	women who
Study date: 1988-		$\pm$ 7.0 weeks	.001).	continued to
92	Ethnicity- % non-white: <2%	■ last visit at 35.0 ± 1.2 weeks	• no significant difference between the average birth weight of infants born	smoke but
			to women who reduced their consumption by 50% or more and that of	reduced their
Location: USA	Gestational age at enrolment mean	Control: NR	those who reduced their consumption less than this	cigarette
	NR		the average infant birth weight of those who had a 50% or more	consumption by
Objective: To			reduction being 36 g heavier.	50% or more
examine the effects	Marital status NR		The average birth weight of infants of women who reported quitting	and infants of
of a 50% reduction			smoking after their first visit was significantly greater than that of women	women with
of smoking on	<b>Reported number of cigarettes</b>		whose reduction in cigarette consumption was less than 50%. After	lesser
infant outcome	smoked per day:12.9 (7.0)		adjustment for the number of cigarettes smoked at the first visit, this	reductions.
measures			difference in birth weight was no longer statistically significant.	<ul> <li>These results</li> </ul>
	Smoking less than 20 cigarettes per		The average last visit urinary cotinine concentration was 1,495 ng/ml	indicate that this
<b>Recruitment:</b>	day at their first prenatal visit:		(95% CI: 1,273-1,756) for those whose concentration was reduced 50%	birth weight
Obstetrics and	70%		or more and 103 ng/ml (95% CI: 66-161) for those who reduced to below	comparison does
Gynecology"s			the cutoff. The women who did not reduce their cotinine concentration	not provide a
Maternal Infant	Average urinary cotinine 3,892		by 50% had an average concentration at the last visit of 4,064 ng/ ml	valid estimate of
Care	(3,469) ng/ml,		(95% CI: 3,619 to 4,562), a significant increase compared to their first	the harm
clinic, a state-			visit ( $p < .001$ ).	reduction
supported clinic for	<b>Baseline comparability:</b>		There was no significant difference between the average birth weight of	associated with a
under-served	The women did not differ		infants born to the women whose urinary cotinine was reduced by 50%	reduction of
women, and in the	significantly with regard to race,		or more and that of those with lower urinary cotinine reductions, the	50% or more in
Adolescent clinic	education, or percentage		average infant birth weight of those who had a 50% or more reduction	cigarette
	primigravida		being 21g lighter.	consumption
Funding:	from the 157 women who were		The average infant birth weights for these two groups of women were	during
	excluded from the study because of		significantly lower than the average infant birth weights for women with	pregnancy.
Analysis:	loss to follow-up or incomplete		urinary cotinine belowthe cutoff at their last visit. These differences were	
<ul> <li>Analysis of</li> </ul>	data. However, the excluded		slightly smaller after adjustment for cotinine levels at the first visit, but	
variance was used	women were on average 1 year		they remained statistically significant.	
to compare the	younger, and fewer (43%) received			

groups with	Medicaid. Both groups smoked an						
respect to infant	average of about 13 cigarettes per						
birth weight and	day at the first prenatal visit, but the	<u>Cigarettes per day a</u>	at first v	visit			
smoking levels at	average urinary cotinine level was		m	CI	n		
first visit.	significantly lower for the excluded	Reduction <50%	12.9	11.8-14	160		
The Student-	women: 3,284 ng/ml compared with	Reduction >50%	15.7	13.7-17.7	44		
Newman-Keuls	3,892 ng/ml for the women	Quitters	9.6	7.3-11.8	36		
procedure was	included in the study	Reduction of >50% s	ig diff f	rom reduction	<50% p	< 0.05	
used for making							
multiple pairwise	Inclusion Criteria:	<u>Cigarettes per day a</u>	and Infa	<u>int birth weig</u>	<u>ht (g)-</u> a	djusted	
comparisons	current smokers		m	CI	n		
among the three	singleton births	Reduction <50%	3203	3128-3278	160		
groups. Analysis		Reduction >50%	3267	3124-3410	44		
of covariance was	Exclusion Criteria:	Quitters	3413	3270-3556	36		
used to assess	■Non- English						
differences in birth	known psychotic disorder						
weight after		<u>Urine cotinine at fir</u>	st visit				
adjustment for the			m	CI	n		
level of smoking		Reduction <50%	2868	2506-3281	139		
at the first visit.		Reduction >50%	4766	3916-5801	48		
<ul> <li>Identicalanalyses</li> </ul>		Quitters	1906	1408-2578	36		
were performed							
using urinary		Both groups of reduc	ers sig d	liff from wom	en with l	evels below cutoff	
cotinine levels to		p<0.05					
determine		Reduction of >50% s	ig diff fi	rom reduction	<50% p	< 0.05	
percentage							
reduction in		Urine cotinine and l	[nfant b	irth weight (	<u>g)- adju</u> s	sted	
smoking and its			m	CI	n		
effect on infant		Reduction <50%	3214	3133-3295	139		
birth weight.		Reduction >50%	3226	3114-3338	48		
• The natural		Quitters	3447	3291-3604	36		
logarithm of the							
urinary cotinine		Both groups of reduc	ers sig d	liff from wom	en with l	evels below cutoff	
concentration was		p<0.05	2				
used in statistical		-					
analyses to obtain							

a less skewed			
distribution.We			
have used a			
probability of <.05			
as the level for			
testing statistical			
significance.			
Length of Follow			
Up: end of			
pregnancy			
Loss to Follow up:			
■23 women			
suffered fetal			
losses and were			
not followed			
further			
■98 women were			
lost to follow-up			
(66 women			
transferred their			
care to other			
obstetric practices			
or moved out of			
the area, 12			
voluntarily			
dropped out of the			
study, 17 delivered			
before their 36-			
week visit, and 3			
could not be			
traced),			
■36 women were			
missing urinary			
cotinine data for			

either their first or			
last prenatal visit.			
-			
Secker-Walker et al	Number of patients: 641	Data collected from RCT	SMOKING OUTCOMES
1998			
1778	Maan A and 22 (5)	<b>•</b> -:	Such in a number of size with a new descharge in a
	Mean Age: 25 (5)	• cigarette smoking data,	Smoking number of cigarettes per day baseline
Study design:		urinary cotinine data, and birth	<u> </u>
observational data	<b>Parity- first pregnancy n(%):</b> 305	weight collected	Reducers NR NR 35
collected from RCT	(48)		No change NR NR 41
trial.			Increased NR NR 23
	Education- n(%) :		
Study data: 108/	<high (33)<="" 200="" school="" td=""><td></td><td></td></high>		
1002	$\frac{11}{20} = \frac{120}{20} (33)$		
1992	$\frac{11}{100} = \frac{11}{100} = 1$		
	< High School 148 (23)		INFANT OUTCOMES
Location: USA			
	Ethnicity: 98.5% White		Infant birth weight (g) by number of cigarettes smoked per day-
<b>Objective:</b>			adjusted
To compare the	Gestational age at enrolment: NR		m sd n
estimated effect on			Outters (cmoked 20/day, but quit) $\frac{2380}{2380}$ n
birth weight of	Marital status, ND		$\mathbf{P} = \begin{pmatrix} 20, 4, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10$
	Warnar status. INK		Reducers (20 to 10 cigs/day) 3300 nr
reductions in			No change (smoked 20 cigs/day) 3211 nr
smoking	Smokers at baseline n(%): 492 (77)		
			Infant birth weight (g) by urine cotinine (UC) levels- adjusted
Recruitment: data	Cigarettes smoked p/day at		m sd n
collect from first	baseline m(sd):13 (7)		Outters (from 2000-50 $ng/ml$ ) 3421 $nr$
prenatal visit and			Paduars (from 2000, 1000, ng/ml) 3270, nr
then again towards	Urine Cotinine baseline m (sd):		No change (stand of 2000 ng/m) $32/7$ in
end of pregnancy	1478 (1288)		No change (stayed at 2000 ng/mi) 5246 nr
Einst scient 14 ()	1476 (1266)		
First Visit 14 6)	<b>B H H</b>		
weeks gestation.	Baseline comparability: women		
Follow up at 36	included in analysis smoked about		
(1.5) weeks (mean	one fewer cigarettes than women		
(sd))	excluded due to incomplete data. No		
× //	other significant differences		
Funding:	0		
National institute of	Inclusion Criteria:		
health grant	<ul> <li>Single births</li> </ul>		
--------------------	--	--	--
	<ul> <li>Complete cigarette smoking data,</li> </ul>		
Analysis:	urinary cotinine data, and birth		
Correlation and	weight		
regression			
	Exclusion Criteria: NR		
Length of Follow			
Up: end of			
pregnancy			
Loss to Follow up:			
NR			

#### **Appendix 2: Included papers**

#### **Review one Included papers**

Al-alawy, K., Wellington, N., Dalton, E., Fendall, L., MacDonald, T., Williamson,
M., Al-alawy, K., Wellington, N., Dalton, E., Fendall, L., MacDonald, T., &
Williamson, M. 2008, "Smoke-free homes: outcomes of a local service development", Community Practitioner, vol. 81, no. 12, pp. 30- 33.
Arborelius, E., Bremberg, S., Arborelius, E., & Bremberg, S. 2001, "Child health-centre-based promotion of a tobacco-free environment--a Swedish case study", Health Promotion International, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 245-254.
Chilmonczyk,B.A.; Palomaki,G.E.; Knight,G.J.; Williams,J.; Haddow,J.E.
An unsuccessful cotinine-assisted intervention strategy to reduce environmental tobacco smoke exposure during infancy American Journal of Diseases of Children Vol 146 March 1992
Emmons, K. M., Hammond, S. K., Fava, J. L., Velicer, W. F., Evans, J. L., &

Monroe, A. D. 2001, "A randomized trial to reduce passive smoke exposure in low-income households with young children", Pediatrics, vol. 108, no. 1, pp. 18-24.

Fossum, B., Arborelius, E., Bremberg, S., Fossum, B., Arborelius, E., & Bremberg, S. 2004, "Evaluation of a counselling method for the prevention of child exposure to tobacco smoke: an example of client-cantered communication", Preventive Medicine, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 295-301.

Greenberg, R. A., Strecher, V. J., Bauman, K. E., Boat, B. W., Fowler, M. G., Keyes, L. L., Denny, F. W., Chapman, R. S., Stedman, H. C., LaVange, L. M., Glover, L. H., Haley, N. J., & Loda, F. A. 1994, "Evaluation of A Home-Based Intervention Program to Reduce Infant Passive Smoking and Lower Respiratory Illness", Journal of Behavioural Medicine, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 273-290.

Hovell, M. F., Zakarian, J. M., Matt, G. E., Hofstetter, C. R., Bernert, J. T., Pirkle, J., Hovell, M. F., Zakarian, J. M., Matt, G. E., Hofstetter, C. R., Bernert,

J. T., & Pirkle, J. 2000, "Effect of counselling mothers on their children's exposure to environmental tobacco smoke: randomised controlled trial.[see comment]", BMJ, vol. 321, no. 7257, pp. 337-342.

Kallio K., Jokinen E., Hamalainen M., Kaitosaari T., Volanen I., Viikari J., Ronnemaa T., & Simell O. 2006. Impact of real life counselling in an atherosclerosis prevention trial on parental smoking and children's exposure to tobacco smoke. Acta Paediatricia 95: 283-290.

Lee, A. H. 2008, "A pilot intervention for pregnant women in Sichuan, China on passive smoking", Patient Education and Counseling, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 396-401.

Narce-Valente S., & Kligman EW. 1992. Increased physician screening and counselling for passive smoking. The Journal of Family Practice: 34(6) 722-728.

Ratner, P. A., Johnson, J. L., & Bottorff, J. L. 2001, "Mother's efforts to protect their infants from environmental tobacco smoke", Canadian Journal of Public Health, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 46-47.

Severson, H.H.; Zoref, L.; Andrews, J.; Lichtenstein, E.; Wall, M

Reducing environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) exposure for infants: a cessation intervention for mothers of newborns American Journal of Health Promotion March/April 1994 Vol 8 no 4 253

Sockrider, M. M. S. 2003, "An exploratory study of control of smoking in the home to reduce infant exposure to environmental tobacco smoke", Nicotine and Tobacco Research, vol. 5, no. 6, p. Dec.

Strecher,V.J.; Bauman,K.E.; Boat,B.; Fowler,M.G.; Greenberg,R.; Stedman,H. (1993) "The Role of Outcome and Efficacy Expectations in An Intervention Designed to Reduce Infants Exposure to Environmental Tobacco-Smoke" Health Education Research Vol. 8 Noo 1 1993 137-143

Stepans MBF., Wilhelm SL., & Dolence K. 2006. Smoking Hygiene: reducing infant exposure to tobacco. Biological Research for Nursing 8(2): 104-114.

Vineis, P et al (1993): Prevention of exposure of young children to parental tobacco smoke: effectiveness of an educational program Tumori 79: 183-186, 1993.

Zakarian, J., Hovell, M., Sandweiss, R., Hofstetter, Matt, G., Bernet, T., Pirkle, J., Hammon, S. 2004, "Behavioural counselling for reducing children"s ETS exposure: implementation in community clinics. Nicotine and Tobacco Research. 6, 6, 1061-1074.

#### **Review two Included papers**

Abrahamsson, A., Springett, J., Karlsson, L., Hakansson, A., Ottosson, T., Abrahamsson, A., Springett, J., Karlsson, L., Hakansson, A., & Ottosson, T. 2005, "Some lessons from Swedish midwives' experiences of approaching women smokers in antenatal care", *Midwifery*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 335-345.

Anderson, R. H. & Anderson, R. H. 2002, "Making the sale: communicating the importance of smoking cessation to pregnant patients", *West Virginia Medical Journal*, vol. 98, no. 1, pp. 18-21.

Arborelius, E. & Nyberg, K. 1997, "How should midwives discuss smoking behaviour in pregnancy with women of low educational attainment?", *Midwifery*, vol 13, pp. 210-215.

Bishop, S., Panjari, M., Astbury, J., Bell, R., Bishop, S., Panjari, M., Astbury, J., & Bell, R. 1998, ""A survey of antenatal clinic staff: some perceived barriersto the promotion of smoking cessation in pregnancy"", *Journal - Australian College of Midwives*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 14-18.

Clasper, P, White, & M. 1995, "Smoking cessation interventions in pregnancy: practice and views of midwives, GPs and Obstetricians". Health Education Journal 54[2], 150.

Cooke, M., Mattick, R. P., Campbell, E., Cooke, M., Mattick, R. P., & Campbell, E. 1998, "The influence of individual and organizational factors on the reported smoking intervention practices of staff in 20 antenatal clinics", *Drug & Alcohol Review*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 175-185.

Cooke, M., Mattick, R. P., Walsh, R. A., Cooke, M., Mattick, R. P., & Walsh, R. A. 2001, "Differential uptake of a smoking cessation programme disseminated to doctors and midwives in antenatal clinics", *Addiction*, vol. 96, no. 3, pp. 495-505.

Everett, K., Odendaal, H. J., Steyn, K., Everett, K., Odendaal, H. J., & Steyn, K. 2005, "Doctors' attitudes and practices regarding smoking cessation during

pregnancy", *South African Medical Journal*, vol. Suid-Afrikaanse Tydskrif Vir Geneeskunde. 95, no. 5, pp. 350-354.

Glover, M., Paynter, J., Bullen, C., Kristensen, K., Glover, M., Paynter, J., Bullen, C., & Kristensen, K. 2008, "Supporting pregnant women to quit smoking: postal survey of New Zealand general practitioners and midwives' smoking cessation knowledge and practices", *New Zealand Medical Journal*, vol. 121, no. 1270, pp. 53-65.

Grange, G., Vayssiere, C., Borgne, A., Ouazana, A., L'huillier, J. P., Valensi, P., Peiffer, G., Aubin, H. J., Renon, D., Thomas, D., Lebargy, F., Grange, G., Vayssiere, C., Borgne, A., Ouazana, A., L'Huillier, J. P., Valensi, P., Peiffer, G., Aubin, H. J., Renon, D., Thomas, D., & Lebargy, F. 2006, "Characteristics of tobacco withdrawal in pregnant women", *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology*, vol. 125, no. 1, pp. 38-43.

Hartmann, K. E., Wechter, M. E., Payne, P., Salisbury, K., Jackson, R. D., Melvin, C. L., Hartmann, K. E., Wechter, M. E., Payne, P., Salisbury, K., Jackson, R. D., & Melvin, C. L. 2007, "Best practice smoking cessation intervention and resource needs of prenatal care providers", *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 110, no. 4, pp. 765-770.

Jordan, T. R., Dake, J. R., Price, J. H., Jordan, T. R., Dake, J. R., & Price, J. H. 2006, "Best practices for smoking cessation in pregnancy: do obstetrician/gynecologists use them in practice?", *Journal of Women's Health*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 400-441.

Katz, K. S., Blake, S. M., Milligan, R. A., Sharps, P. W., White, D. B., Rodan, M. F., Rossi, M., Murray, K. B., Katz, K. S., Blake, S. M., Milligan, R. A., Sharps, P. W., White, D. B., Rodan, M. F., Rossi, M., & Murray, K. B. 2008, "The design, implementation and acceptability of an integrated intervention to address multiple behavioral and psychosocial risk factors among pregnant African American women", *BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth*, vol. 8, no. 1, p. 22.

Lando, H. A., Valanis, B. G., Lichtenstein, E., Curry, S. J., McBride, C. M., Pirie, P. L., & Grothaus, L. C. 2001, "Promoting smoking abstinence in

pregnant and postpartum patients: A comparison of 2 approaches", *American Journal of Managed Care*, vol. 7, no. 7, pp. 685-693.

Lowe, J. B., Balanda, P. K., Stanton, W. R., Del, M. C., O'Connor, V., Lowe, J. B., Balanda, P. K., Stanton, W. R., Del Mar, C., & O'Connor, V. 2002, "Dissemination of an efficacious antenatal smoking cessation program in public hospitals in Australia: a randomized controlled trial", *Health Education* & *Behavior*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 608-619.

Lowry, R. J., Hardy, S., Jordan, C., Wayman, G., Lowry, R. J., Hardy, S., Jordan, C., & Wayman, G. 2004, "Using social marketing to increase recruitment of pregnant smokers to smoking cessation service: a success story", *Public Health*, vol. 118, no. 4, pp. 239-243.

McCurry, N., Thompson, K., Parahoo, K., O"Doherty, E. & Doherty, A. 2002, "Pregnant women's perception of the implementation of smoking cessation advice", *Health Education Journal*, vol. vol 61, no 1, 2002, pp 20-31..

McLeod, D., Benn, C., Pullon, S., Viccars, A., White, S., Cookson, T., & Dowell, A. 2003, "The midwife's role in facilitating smoking behaviour change during pregnancy", *Midwifery*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 285-297.

Nichter, M., Nichter, M., Muramoto, M., Adrian, S., Goldade, K., Tesler, L., & Thompson, J. 2007, "Smoking among low-income pregnant women: An ethnographic analysis", *Health Education & Behavior*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 748-764.

Solomon, L. J., Flynn, B. S., Solomon, L. J., & Flynn, B. S. 2005, "Telephone support for pregnant smokers who want to stop smoking", *Health Promotion Practice*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 105-108.

Tod, A. M. & Tod, A. M. 2003, "Barriers to smoking cessation in pregnancy: a qualitative study", *British Journal of Community Nursing*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 56-64.

Walsh, R. A., Redman, S., Brinsmead, M. W., Arnold, B., Walsh, R. A., Redman, S., Brinsmead, M. W., & Arnold, B. 1995, "Smoking cessation in

pregnancy: a survey of the medical and nursing directors of public antenatal clinics in Australia", *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 144-150.

#### **Review three Included papers**

Secker-Walker, R. H., Vacek, P. M., Secker-Walker, R. H., & Vacek, P. M. 2002, "Infant birth weight as a measure of harm reduction during smoking cessation trials in pregnancy", *Health Education & Behavior*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 557-569.

England, L. J., Kendrick, J. S., Wilson, H. G., Merritt, R. K., Gargiullo, P. M., Zahniser, S. C., England, L. J., Kendrick, J. S., Wilson, H. G., Merritt, R. K., Gargiullo, P. M., & Zahniser, S. C. 2001, "Effects of smoking reduction during pregnancy on the birth weight of term infants", *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 154, no. 8, pp. 694-701.

Li, C. Q., Windsor, R. A., Perkins, L., Goldenberg, R. L., Lowe, J. B., Li, C. Q., Windsor, R. A., Perkins, L., Goldenberg, R. L., & Lowe, J. B. 1993, "The impact on infant birth weight and gestational age of cotinine-validated smoking reduction during pregnancy.", *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 269, no. 12, pp. 1519-1524.

Secker-Walker, R. H., Vacek, P. M., Flynn, B. S., & Mead, P. B. 1998, "Estimated gains in birth weight associated with reductions in smoking during pregnancy", *Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, vol. 43, no. 11, pp. 967-974.

# Appendix 3: Excluded papers

## Not relevant for any question

Albrecht, S., Cassidy, B., Salamie, D., Reynolds, M. D., Albrecht, S., Cassidy,
B., Salamie, D., & Reynolds, M. D. 1999, "A smoking cessation intervention
for pregnant adolescents: implications for nurse practitioners", *Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 155-159.

Blalock, J. A., Robinson, J. D., Wetter, D. W., Cinciripini, P. M., Blalock, J. A.,
Robinson, J. D., Wetter, D. W., & Cinciripini, P. M. 2006, "Relationship of
DSM-IV-based depressive disorders to smoking cessation and smoking
reduction in pregnant smokers", *American Journal on Addictions*, vol. 15, no.
4, pp. 268-277.

Crowe, K. 2003, "Promoting smoke-free environments for unborn babies, newborns, and young children", *International Journal of Childbirth Education*, vol. vol 13, no 3, September 1998, pp 6-8..

Emmons, K, Sorensen, G, Klar, N, Digianni, L, Barclay, G, Schmidt, K, Hammond, & s. Healthy Baby Second-Hand Smoke Study: project brief. Tobacco Control 9[Supp 3], iii58-iii60. <[05] Date

Ershoff, D. H., Quinn, V. P., Mullen, P. D., Ershoff, D. H., Quinn, V. P., & Mullen, P. D. 1995, "Relapse prevention among women who stop smoking early in pregnancy: a randomized clinical trial of a self-help intervention", *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 178-184.

Fang, W. L., Goldstein, A. O., Butzen, A. Y., Hartsock, S. A., Hartmann, K. E., Helton, M., Lohr, J. A., Fang, W. L., Goldstein, A. O., Butzen, A. Y., Hartsock, S. A., Hartmann, K. E., Helton, M., & Lohr, J. A. 2004, "Smoking cessation in pregnancy: a review of postpartum relapse prevention strategies. [Review] [56 refs]", *Journal of the American Board of Family Practice*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 264-275. Frazier, L. M. M. 2001, "Barriers to smoking cessation initiatives for medicaid clients in managed care", *Substance Use and Misuse*, vol. 36, no. 13, p. 2001.

French, G. M., Groner, J. A., Wewers, M. E., Ahijevych, K., French, G. M., Groner, J. A., Wewers, M. E., & Ahijevych, K. 2007, "Staying smoke free: an intervention to prevent postpartum relapse", *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 663-670.

Glasgow, R. E., Gaglio, B., Estabrooks, P. A., Marcus, A. C., Ritzwoller, D. P., Smith, T. L., Levinson, A. H., Sukhanova, A., O'Donnell, C., Ferro, E. F., & France, E. K. 2009, "Long-Term Results of a Smoking Reduction Program", *Medical Care*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 115-120.

Groner, J., French, G., Ahijevych, K., Wewers, M. E., Groner, J., French, G., Ahijevych, K., & Wewers, M. E. 2005, "Process evaluation of a nursedelivered smoking relapse prevention program for new mothers", *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 157-167.

Hannover, W., Thyrian, J. R., Ebner, A., Roske, K., Grempler, J., Kuhl, R.,
Hapke, U., Fusch, C., John, U., Hannover, W., Thyrian, J. R., Ebner, A.,
Roske, K., Grempler, J., Kuhl, R., Hapke, U., Fusch, C., & John, U. 2008,
"Smoking during pregnancy and postpartum: smoking rates and intention to
quit smoking or resume after pregnancy", *Journal of Women's Health*, vol. 17,
no. 4, pp. 631-640.

McBride, C. M., Curry, S. J., Lando, H. A., Pirie, P. L., Grothaus, L. C., Nelson, J. C., McBride, C. M., Curry, S. J., Lando, H. A., Pirie, P. L., Grothaus, L. C., & Nelson, J. C. 1999, "Prevention of relapse in women who quit smoking during pregnancy", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 89, no. 5, pp. 706-711.

Mueller, P. 2000, "SIDS - midwives can make a difference", *British Journal of Midwifery*, vol. vol 8, no 3, March 2000, pp 132-133..

Mullen, P, Holcomb, & J. Selected predictors of health promotion counseling by three groups of allied health professionals. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 6[3], 153-160. <[05] Date

Ortendahl, M., Nasman, P., Ortendahl, M., & Nasman, P. 2007, "Use of coping techniques as a predictor of lapse when quitting smoking among pregnant and non-pregnant women", *American Journal on Addictions*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 238-243.

Pisinger, C., Vestbo, J., Borch-Johnsen, K., & Jorgensen, T. 2005, "Smoking reduction intervention in a large population-based study. The Inter99 study", *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 112-118.

Pletsch, P. K. & Pletsch, P. K. 2006, "A model for postpartum smoking resumption prevention for women who stop smoking while pregnant. [Review]
[50 refs]", *JOGNN - Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 215-222.

Ratner, P. A., Johnson, J. L., & Bottorff, J. L. 2001, "Mother's efforts to protect their infants from environmental tobacco smoke", *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 46-47.

Roddy, E., Antoniak, M., Britton, J., Molyneux, A., & Lewis, S. 2006, "Barriers and motivators to gaining access to smoking cessation services amongst deprived smokers - a qualitative study", *Bmc Health Services Research*, vol. 6.

Saywell, R. M., Jay, S. J., Lukas, P. J., Casebeer, L. L., Mybeck, K. C., Parchman, M. L., Haley, A. J., Saywell, R. M., Jay, S. J., Lukas, P. J., Casebeer, L. L., Mybeck, K. C., Parchman, M. L., & Haley, A. J. 1996, "Indiana family physician attitudes and practices concerning smoking cessation", *Indiana Medicine*, vol. 89, no. 2, pp. 149-156.

Semenic S.Edwards 2006, "Do Canadian prenatal records support evidencebased practices to reduce maternal smoking?", *JOGC [Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada]*, vol. vol 28, no 5, May 2006, pp 368-372.. Severson HH.Andrews JA.Lichtenstein E.and others. 2001, "Reducing maternal smoking and relapse: long-term evaluation of a pediatric intervention", *Preventive Medicine*, vol. vol 26, no 1, January-February 1997, pp 120-130..

Wakefield, M., Gillies, P., Graham, H., Madeley, R., Symonds, M., Wakefield,
M., Gillies, P., Graham, H., Madeley, R., & Symonds, M. 1993,
"Characteristics associated with smoking cessation during pregnancy among working class women", *Addiction*, vol. 88, no. 10, pp. 1423-1430.

Wiggings, M, Oakley, A, Roberts, I, Turner, H, Rajan, L, Austerberry, H, Mujica, R, Mugford, M, Barker, & M. (2005) Postnatal support for mothers living in disadvantaged inner city areas: a randomised controlled trial. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 59, 288-295.

Wilson, T. N. C. 1996, "A national survey on the prevalence of cigarette smoking in pediatric respiratory care departments and its effect on smoking cessation efforts", *Respiratory Care*, vol. 41, no. 3, p. Mar.

Windsor, R, Cutter, G, Morris, J, Reese, Y, Manzella, B, Bartlett, E, Samuelson, C, Spanos, & d. The effectiveness of smoking cessation methods for smokers in public health maternity clinics: a randomized trial. American Journal of Public Health 75[12], 1389-1392. <[05] Date

Windsor, R. A., Warner, K. E., Cutter, G. R., Windsor, R. A., Warner, K. E., &
Cutter, G. R. 1988, "A cost-effectiveness analysis of self-help smoking
cessation methods for pregnant women", *Public Health Reports*, vol. 103, no.
1, pp. 83-88.

Zhand, E, Coates, T, Robert, R, Cummings, . (2005) Counseling medical patients about cigarette smoking: a comparison of the impact of training on nurse practitioners and physicians. Nurse Practitioner 15[3], 10-22.

#### **Considered for Review One - not relevant**

Chan-Yeung, M., Manfreda, J., mich-Ward, H., Ferguson, A., Watson, W., Becker, A., Chan-Yeung, M., Manfreda, J., mich-Ward, H., Ferguson, A., Watson, W., & Becker, A. 2000, "A randomized controlled study on the effectiveness of a multifaceted intervention program in the primary prevention of asthma in high-risk infants.[see comment]", *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 154, no. 7, pp. 657-663.

Hynes, H. P., Brugge, D., Osgood, N. D., Snell, J., Vallarino, J., Spengler, J., Hynes, H. P., Brugge, D., Osgood, N. D., Snell, J., Vallarino, J., & Spengler, J. 2003, ""Where does the damp come from?" Investigations into the indoor environment and respiratory health in Boston public housing. [Review] [51 refs]", *Journal of Public Health Policy*, vol. 24, no. 3-4, pp. 401-426.

Schonberger, H. J., Maas, T., Dompeling, E., Knottnerus, J. A., van, W. C., van Schayck, C. P., Schonberger, H. J. A. M., Maas, T., Dompeling, E., Knottnerus, J. A., van Weel, C., & van Schayck, C. P. 2004, "Compliance of asthmatic families with a primary prevention programme of asthma and effectiveness of measures to reduce inhalant allergens--a randomized trial", *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, vol. 34, no. 7, pp. 1024-1031.

Yilmaz, G., Karacan, C., Yoney, A., Yilmaz, T., Yilmaz, G., Karacan, C., Yoney, A., & Yilmaz, T. 2006, "Brief intervention on maternal smoking: a randomized controlled trial", *Child: Care, Health & Development*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 73-79.

## Considered for Review One - reject outside age range

Andersen, M. 2002, "Regional and national intervention strategies during pregnancy and among parents and young children. Smoke free environment for children - George the giraffe", *International Journal of Cancer* p. 307.

Borrelli, B., McQuaid, E. L., Becker, B., Hammond, K., Papandonatos, G., Fritz, G., Abrams, D., Borrelli, B., McQuaid, E. L., Becker, B., Hammond, K., Papandonatos, G., Fritz, G., & Abrams, D. 2002, "Motivating parents of kids with asthma to quit smoking: the PAQS project", *Health Education Research*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 659-669.

Chan, S., Lam, T. H., Chan, S., & Lam, T. H. 2006, "Protecting sick children from exposure to passive smoking through mothers' actions: a randomized controlled trial of a nursing intervention", *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 440-449.

Conway, T. L., Woodruff, S. I., Edwards, C. C., Hovell, M. F., Klein, J., Conway, T. L., Woodruff, S. I., Edwards, C. C., Hovell, M. F., & Klein, J. 2004, "Intervention to reduce environmental tobacco smoke exposure in Latino children: null effects on hair biomarkers and parent reports", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 90-92.

Eriksen, W., Sorum, K., Bruusgaard, D., Eriksen, W., Sorum, K., & Bruusgaard, D. 1996, "Effects of information on smoking behaviour in families with preschool children", *Acta Paediatrica*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 209-212.

Escoffery, C., Kegler, M. C., & Butler, S. 2009, "Formative research on creating smoke-free homes in rural communities", *Health Education Research*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 76-86.

Evans, W. D., Crankshaw, E., Nimsch, C., Morgan-Lopez, A., Farrelly, M. C., Allen, J., Evans, W. D., Crankshaw, E., Nimsch, C., Morgan-Lopez, A., Farrelly, M. C., & Allen, J. 2006, "Media and secondhand smoke exposure: results from a national survey", *American Journal of Health Behavior*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 62-71.

Hovell, M. F., Meltzer, S. B., Wahlgren, D. R., Matt, G. E., Hofstetter, C. R., Jones, J. A., Meltzer, E. O., Bernert, J. T., Pirkle, J. L., Hovell, M. F., Meltzer, S. B., Wahlgren, D. R., Matt, G. E., Hofstetter, C. R., Jones, J. A., Meltzer, E. O., Bernert, J. T., & Pirkle, J. L. 2002, "Asthma management and environmental tobacco smoke exposure reduction in Latino children: a controlled trial", *Pediatrics*, vol. 110, no. 5, pp. 946-956.

Hymowitz, N., Pyle, S. A., Haddock, C. K., Schwab, J. V., Hymowitz, N., Pyle, S. A., Haddock, C. K., & Schwab, J. V. 2008, "The pediatric residency training on tobacco project: four-year parent outcome findings", *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 221-224.

Hymowitz, N., Schwab, J., Eckholdt, H., Hymowitz, N., Schwab, J., & Eckholdt, H. 2001, "Pediatric residency training on tobacco", *Pediatrics*, vol. 108, no. 1, p. E8.

Irvine, L., Crombie, I. K., Clark, R. A., Slane, P. W., Feyerabend, C., Goodman, K. E., Cater, J. I., Irvine, L., Crombie, I. K., Clark, R. A., Slane, P. W., Feyerabend, C., Goodman, K. E., & Cater, J. I. 1999, "Advising parents of asthmatic children on passive smoking: randomised controlled trial.[see comment]", *BMJ*, vol. 318, no. 7196, pp. 1456-1459.

Jentzsch, N. S., Camargos, P. A., de Melo, E. M., Jentzsch, N. S., Camargos, P. A. M., & de Melo, E. M. 2006, "Compliance with environmental control measures in the homes of children and adolescents with asthma", *Jornal Brasileiro De Pneumologia: Publicacao Oficial Da Sociedade Brasileira De Pneumologia E Tisilogia*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 189-194.

King, K. A., Vidourek, R. A., Creighton, S., Vogel, S., King, K. A., Vidourek, R. A., Creighton, S., & Vogel, S. 2003, "Smokers' willingness to protect children from secondhand smoke", *American Journal of Health Behavior*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 554-563.

Krieger, J, Takaro, T, Song, L, Weaver, & M. The Seattle-King County Healthy Homes Project: a randomized controlled trail of a community health worker intervention to decrease exposure to indoor asthma triggers. American Journal of Public Health 95[4], 652-659. <[05] Date

Lucumi, D. I., Sarmiento, O. L., Forero, R., Gomez, L. F., & Espinosa, G. 2006, "Community intervention to promote consumption of fruits and vegetables, smoke-free homes, and physical activity among home caregivers in Bogota, Colombia", *Prev Chronic Dis*, vol. 3, no. 4, p. A120.

McIntosh, N. A., Clark, N. M., Howatt, W. F., McIntosh, N. A., Clark, N. M., & Howatt, W. F. 1994, "Reducing tobacco smoke in the environment of the child with asthma: a cotinine-assisted, minimal-contact intervention", *Journal of Asthma*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 453-462.

Meltzer, S. B., Hovell, M. F., Meltzer, E. O., Atkins, C. J., de, P. A., Meltzer, S. B., Hovell, M. F., Meltzer, E. O., Atkins, C. J., & de Peyster, A. 1993, "Reduction of secondary smoke exposure in asthmatic children: parent counseling", *Journal of Asthma*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 391-400.

Messer, K., Mills, A. L., White, M. M., & Pierce, J. P. 2008, "The effect of smokefree homes on smoking behavior in the US", *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 210-216.

Northridge, M. E., Scott, G., Swaner, R., Northridge, J. L., Jean-Louis, B., Klihr-Beall, S., Vaughn, R. L., Pradier, Y. J., Vaughan, R. D., Hayes, R., Caraballo, R. S., Northridge, M. E., Scott, G., Swaner, R., Northridge, J. L., Jean-Louis, B., Klihr-Beall, S., Vaughn, R. L., Pradier, Y. J., Vaughan, R. D., Hayes, R., & Caraballo, R. S. 2009, "Toward a smoke-free Harlem: engaging families, agencies, and community-based programs", *Journal of Health Care for the Poor* & Underserved, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 107-121.

Phillips, R., Amos, A., Ritchie, D., Cunningham-Burley, S., & Martin, C. 2007, "Smoking in the home after the smoke-free legislation in Scotland: qualitative study", *British Medical Journal*, vol. 335, p. 553-+.

Rumchev, K., Jamrozik, K., Stick, S., & Spickett, J. 2008, "How free of tobacco smoke are 'smoke-free' homes?" *Indoor Air*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 202-208.

Wahlgren, D. R., Hovell, M. F., Meltzer, S. B., Hofstetter, C. R., Zakarian, J. M.,
Wahlgren, D. R., Hovell, M. F., Meltzer, S. B., Hofstetter, C. R., & Zakarian, J.
M. 1997, "Reduction of environmental tobacco smoke exposure in asthmatic children. A 2-year follow-up", *Chest*, vol. 111, no. 1, pp. 81-88.

Wakefield, M., Banham, D., Martin, J., Ruffin, R., McCaul, K., Badcock, N., Wakefield, M., Banham, D., Martin, J., Ruffin, R., McCaul, K., & Badcock, N. 2000, "Restrictions on smoking at home and urinary cotinine levels among children with asthma", *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 188-192.

Wakefield, M., Banham, D., McCaul, K., Martin, J., Ruffin, R., Badcock, N., Roberts, L., Wakefield, M., Banham, D., McCaul, K., Martin, J., Ruffin, R., Badcock, N., & Roberts, L. 2002, "Effect of feedback regarding urinary cotinine and brief tailored advice on home smoking restrictions among low- income parents of children with asthma: a controlled trial", *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 58-65.

Wilson, S. R., Yamada, E. G., Sudhakar, R., Roberto, L., Mannino, D., Mejia, C., Huss, N., Wilson, S. R., Yamada, E. G., Sudhakar, R., Roberto, L., Mannino, D., Mejia, C., & Huss, N. 2001, "A controlled trial of an environmental tobacco smoke reduction intervention in low-income children with asthma", *Chest*, vol. 120, no. 5, pp. 1709-1722.

Windsor, R. A., Lowe, J. B., Artz, L., Contreras, L., Windsor, R. A., Lowe, J. B., Artz, L., & Contreras, L. 1990, "Smoking cessation and pregnancy intervention trial: preliminary mid-trial results", *Progress in Clinical & Biological Research*, vol. 339, pp. 107-117.

Yousey, Y. & Yousey, Y. 2007, "Family attitudes about tobacco smoke exposure of young children at home", *MCN, American Journal of Maternal Child Nursing*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 178-183.

## Considered for Review One - reject no intervention

ACOG Committee on Health Care for Underdeserved Women, ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice., ACOG Committee on Health Care for Underdeserved Women, & ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice. 2005, "ACOG committee opinion. Number 316, October 2005. Smoking cessation during pregnancy", *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 106, no. 4, pp. 883-888.

Barker, D. C., Phillips-Tangum, C., Barker, D. C., & Phillips-Tangum, C. 2000, "Prenatal smoking cessation strategies in managed care", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9 Suppl 1, p. 164.

Benowitz, N. L., Dempsey, D. A., Goldenberg, R. L., Hughes, J. R., Dolan-Mullen, P., Ogburn, P. L., Oncken, C., Orleans, C. T., Slotkin, T. A., Whiteside, H. P., Jr., Yaffe, S., Benowitz, N. L., Dempsey, D. A., Goldenberg,

R. L., Hughes, J. R., Dolan-Mullen, P., Ogburn, P. L., Oncken, C., Orleans, C. T., Slotkin, T. A., Whiteside, H. P. J., & Yaffe, S. 2000, "The use of pharmacotherapies for smoking cessation during pregnancy", *TobaccoControl*, vol. 9 Suppl 3, p. III91-III94.

Borland, R., Yong, H. H., Cummings, K. M., Hyland, A., Anderson, S., & Fong, G. T. 2006, "Determinants and consequences of smoke-free homes: findings from the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 15, pp. 42-50.

Burnett, K. F., Young, P. C., Burnett, K. F., & Young, P. C. 1999, "Ask, advise, assist: pediatricians and passive smoke exposure", *Clinical Pediatrics*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 339-345.

Coleman, T. & Coleman, T. 2007, "Smoking cessation in pregnancy: why, how, and what next.. [Review] [49 refs]", *CNS Drugs*, vol. 21, no. 12, pp. 983-993.

Crawford, J. T., Tolosa, J. E., Goldenberg, R. L., Crawford, J. T., Tolosa, J. E., & Goldenberg, R. L. 2008, "Smoking cessation in pregnancy: why, how, and what next... [Review] [65 refs]", *Clinical Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 419-435.

Crone MR.Reijneveld SA.Burgmeijer RJF.and others. 2001, "Factors that influence passive smoking in infancy: a study among mothers of newborn babies in the Netherlands", *Preventive Medicine*, vol. vol 32, 2001, pp 209-217.

Flenady, V., Macphail, J., New, K., venish-Meares, P., Smith, J., Flenady, V., Macphail, J., New, K., venish-Meares, P., & Smith, J. 2008, "Implementation of a clinical practice guideline for smoking cessation in a public antenatal care setting", *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 552-558.

Ford, R. P., Cowan, S. F., Schluter, P. J., Richardson, A. K., Wells, J. E., Ford, R. P., Cowan, S. F., Schluter, P. J., Richardson, A. K., & Wells, J. E. 2001, "SmokeChange for changing smoking in pregnancy", *New Zealand Medical Journal*, vol. 114, no. 1128, pp. 107-110.

Gilpin, E. A., White, M. M., Farkas, A. J., Pierce, J. P., Gilpin, E. A., White, M. M., Farkas, A. J., & Pierce, J. P. 1999, "Home smoking restrictions: which smokers have them and how they are associated with smoking behavior", *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 153-162.

Gupta, R. & Dwyer, J. J. M. 2001, "Focus groups with smokers to develop a smoke-free home campaign", *American Journal of Health Behavior*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 564-571.

Lee, C. W., Kahende, J., Lee, C. w., & Kahende, J. 2007, "Factors associated with successful smoking cessation in the United States, 2000.[see comment]", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 97, no. 8, pp. 1503-1509.

Lloyd, K., Wise, K., Lloyd, K., & Wise, K. 2004, "Protecting children from exposure to environmental tobacco smoke.[erratum appears in Nurs Times. 2004 Aug 3-9;100(31):17]", *Nursing Times*, vol. 100, no. 23, pp. 36-38.

McCarthy, M. 2001, "Counselling can help to reduce second-hand smoke in the home", *Lancet*, vol. 358, no. 9275, p. 43.

Neiman, W. A. 1996, "Statewide assessment of a behavioral intervention to reduce cigarette smoking by pregnant women - Discussion", *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 175, no. 2, pp. 287-288.

Oncken, C. A., Kranzler, H. R., Oncken, C. A., & Kranzler, H. R. 2003, "Pharmacotherapies to enhance smoking cessation during pregnancy.[Review] [75 refs]", *Drug & Alcohol Review*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 191-202.

Quinn, V. P. & Quinn, V. P. 2000, "Prenatal smoking intervention in managed care settings: the Kaiser Permanente Southern California prenatal smoking project", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9, no. Suppl 1, p. 161.

Robinson, J., Kirkcaldy, A. J., Robinson, J., & Kirkcaldy, A. J. 2007, "Disadvantaged mothers, young children and smoking in the home: mothers' use of space within their homes", *Health & Place*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 894-903.

Shelley, D., Nguyen, N., Yerneni, R., Fahs, M., Shelley, D., Nguyen, N., Yerneni, R., & Fahs, M. 2008, "Tobacco use behaviors and household smoking bans among Chinese Americans", *American Journal of Health Promotion*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 168-175.

Shields, M. & Shields, M. 2007, "Smoking bans: influence on smoking prevalence", *Health Reports*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 9-24.

Shopland, D. R., Anderson, C. M., Burns, D. M., Shopland, D. R., Anderson, C. M., & Burns, D. M. 2006, "Association between home smoking restrictions and changes in smoking behaviour among employed women", *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, vol. 60 Suppl 2, pp. 44-50.

Wall, M. & Wall, M. 2000, "Pre- and postnatal smoking intervention in managed care settings", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9, no. Suppl 1, p. I63.

Werrett, J. A. 2005, "Exploring the views of parents and health professionals on interventions to reduce infant exposure to environmental tobacco smoke: apilot study", *International Journal of Health Promotion & Education*, vol. 43,no. 3, pp. 68-74.

## Considered for Review Two – reject not relevant

Aaronson, N. K., Ershoff, D. H., Danaher, B. G., Aaronson, N. K., Ershoff, D. H., & Danaher, B. G. 1985, "Smoking cessation in pregnancy: a self-help approach", *Addictive Behaviors*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 103-108.

Abrahamsson, A., Springett, J., Karlsson, L., Ottosson, T., Abrahamsson, A., Springett, J., Karlsson, L., & Ottosson, T. 2005, "Making sense of the challenge of smoking cessation during pregnancy: a phenomenographic approach", *Health Education Research*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 367-378.

Acharya, G., Jauniaux, E., Sathia, L., Griffin, M., Morgan, H., Acharya, G., Jauniaux, E., Sathia, L., Griffin, M., & Morgan, H. 2002, "Evaluation of the impact of current antismoking advice in the UK on women with planned pregnancies", *Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 498-500.

Albrecht, S. A., Caruthers, D., Patrick, T., Reynolds, M., Salamie, D., Higgins,
L. W., Braxter, B., Kim, Y., Mlynarchek, S., Albrecht, S. A., Caruthers, D.,
Patrick, T., Reynolds, M., Salamie, D., Higgins, L. W., Braxter, B., Kim, Y., &
Mlynarchek, S. 2006, "A randomized controlled trial of a smoking cessation intervention for pregnant adolescents", *Nursing Research*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 402-410.

Albrecht, S. A., Higgins, L. W., Lebow, H., Albrecht, S. A., Higgins, L. W., & Lebow, H. 2000, "Knowledge about the deleterious effects of smoking and its relationship to smoking cessation among pregnant adolescents", *Adolescence*, vol. 35, no. 140, pp. 709-716.

Albrecht, S. A., Higgins, L. W., Stone, C., Albrecht, S. A., Higgins, L. W., & Stone, C. 1999, "Factors relating to pregnant adolescents' decisions to complete a smoking cessation intervention", *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 322-328.

Albrecht, S. A., Maloni, J. A., Thomas, K. K., Jones, R., Halleran, J., Osborne, J., Albrecht, S. A., Maloni, J. A., Thomas, K. K., Jones, R., Halleran, J., & Osborne, J. 2004, "Smoking cessation counseling for pregnant women who smoke: scientific basis for practice for AWHONN's SUCCESS project.
[Review] [38 refs]", *JOGNN - Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 298-305.

Albrecht, S., Payne, L., Stone, C. A., Reynolds, M. D., Albrecht, S., Payne, L., Stone, C. A., & Reynolds, M. D. 1998, "A preliminary study of the use of peer support in smoking cessation programs for pregnant adolescents", *Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 119-125.

Aveyard, P., Lawrence, T., Cheng, K. K., Griffin, C., Croghan, E., Johnson, C.,
Aveyard, P., Lawrence, T., Cheng, K. K., Griffin, C., Croghan, E., & Johnson,
C. 2006, "A randomized controlled trial of smoking cessation for pregnant
women to test the effect of a transtheoretical model-based intervention on
movement in stage and interaction with baseline stage", *British Journal of Health Psychology*, vol. 11, no. Pt 2, pp. 263-278.

Aveyard, P., Lawrence, T., Croghan, E., Evans, O., Cheng, K. K., Aveyard, P., Lawrence, T., Croghan, E., Evans, O., & Cheng, K. K. 2005, "Is advice to stop smoking from a midwife stressful for pregnant women who smoke? Data from a randomized controlled trial", *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 575-582.

Bane, C. M., Ruggiero, L., Dryfoos, J. M., Rossi, J. S., Bane, C. M., Ruggiero,
L., Dryfoos, J. M., & Rossi, J. S. 1999, "Development of a pregnancy-tailored decisional balance measure for smoking cessation", *Addictive Behaviors*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 795-799.

Bedford, K., Wallace, C., Carroll, T., Rissel, C., Bedford, K., Wallace, C., Carroll, T., & Rissel, C. 2008, "Pregnant smokers are receptive to smoking cessation advice and use of nicotine replacement therapy", *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 424-426. Berg, C. J., Park, E. R., Chang, Y., Rigotti, N. A., Berg, C. J., Park, E. R., Chang, Y., & Rigotti, N. A. 2008, "Is concern about post-cessation weight gain a barrier to smoking cessation among pregnant women?", *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 1159-1163.

Buchanan, L. & Buchanan, L. 2002, "Implementing a smoking cessation program for pregnant women based on current clinical practice guidelines", *Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 243-250.

Byrd, J. C., Meade, C. D., Byrd, J. C., & Meade, C. D. 1993, "Smoking cessation among pregnant women in an urban setting", *Wisconsin Medical Journal*, vol. 92, no. 11, pp. 609-612.

Campbell, E., Walsh, R. A., Sanson-Fisher, R., Burrows, S., Stojanovski, E., Campbell, E., Walsh, R. A., Sanson-Fisher, R., Burrows, S., & Stojanovski, E. 2006, "A group randomised trial of two methods for disseminating a smoking cessation programme to public antenatal clinics: effects on patient outcomes", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 97-102.

Carlson, S. J., Beebe, L. A., Leuthard, J. L., Carlson, S. J., Beebe, L. A., & Leuthard, J. L. 2005, "Smoke-free beginnings: changing practice behaviors to improve the delivery of smoking cessation to prenatal patients in Oklahoma", *Journal - Oklahoma State Medical Association*, vol. 98, no. 3, pp. 102-106.

Castrucci, B. C., Culhane, J. F., Chung, E. K., Bennett, I., & McCollum, K. F. 2006, "Smoking in pregnancy: Patient and provider risk reduction behavior", *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 68-76.

Cinciripini, P. M., McClure, J. B., Wetter, D. W., Perry, J., Blalock, J. A., Cinciripini, L. G., Friedman, K. E., Skaar, K., Cinciripini, P. M., McClure, J. B., Wetter, D. W., Perry, J., Blalock, J. A., Cinciripini, L. G., Friedman, K. E., & Skaar, K. 2000, "An evaluation of videotaped vignettes for smoking cessation and relapse prevention during pregnancy: the very important pregnant smokers (VIPS) program", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9 Suppl 3, p. III61-III63. Collins, B. N., Levin, K. P., Bryant-Stephens, T., Collins, B. N., Levin, K. P., & Bryant-Stephens, T. 2007, "Pediatricians' practices and attitudes about environmental tobacco smoke and parental smoking", *Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 150, no. 5, pp. 547-552.

Colman, G., Grossman, M., & Joyce, T. 2003, "The effect of cigarette excise taxes on smoking before, during and after pregnancy", *Journal of Health Economics*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 1053-1072.

Cooke, M., Mattick, R. P., Campbell, E., Cooke, M., Mattick, R. P., & Campbell, E. 2000, "A description of the adoption of the 'Fresh start' smoking cessation program by antenatal clinic managers", *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 13-21.

Cooke, M., Mattick, R. P., Campbell, E., Cooke, M., Mattick, R. P., & Campbell, E. 1999, "The dissemination of a smoking cessation program to 23 antenatal clinics: the predictors of initial program adoption by managers", *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 99-103.

Crawford, M. A., Woodby, L. L., Russell, T. V., Windsor, R. A., Crawford, M. A., Woodby, L. L., Russell, T. V., & Windsor, R. A. 2005, "Using formative evaluation to improve a smoking cessation intervention for pregnant women", *Health Communication*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 265-281.

Curry, S. J., McBride, C., Grothaus, L., Lando, H., Pirie, P., Curry, S. J., McBride, C., Grothaus, L., Lando, H., & Pirie, P. 2001, "Motivation for smoking cessation among pregnant women", *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 126-132.

Danaher, B. G., Shisslak, C. M., Thompson, C. B., Ford, J. D., Danaher, B.
G., Shisslak, C. M., Thompson, C. B., & Ford, J. D. 1978, "A smoking cessation program for pregnant women: an exploratory study", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 68, no. 9, pp. 896-898.

de, V. H., Bakker, M., Mullen, P. D., van, B. G., de Vries, H., Bakker, M., Mullen, P. D., & van Breukelen, G. 2006, "The effects of smoking cessation counseling by midwives on Dutch pregnant women and their partners", *Patient Education & Counseling*, vol. 63, no. 1-2, pp. 177-187.

DiClemente, C. C., Dolan-Mullen, P., Windsor, R. A., DiClemente, C. C., Dolan-Mullen, P., & Windsor, R. A. 2000, "The process of pregnancy smoking cessation: implications for interventions", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9 Suppl 3, p. III16-III21.

Ershoff, D. H., Mullen, P. D., Quinn, V. P., Ershoff, D. H., Mullen, P. D., & Quinn, V. P. 1989, "A randomized trial of a serialized self-help smoking cessation program for pregnant women in an HMO", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 79, no. 2, pp. 182-187.

Ershoff, D. H., Quinn, V. P., Boyd, N. R., Stern, J., Gregory, M., Wirtschafter, D., Ershoff, D. H., Quinn, V. P., Boyd, N. R., Stern, J., Gregory, M., & Wirtschafter, D. 2000, "The Kaiser Permanente prenatal smoking cessation trial: when more isn't better, what is enough?", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9 Suppl 3, p. III60.

Everett, K., Odendaal, H. J., Steyn, K., Everett, K., Odendaal, H. J., & Steyn, K. 2005, "Doctors' attitudes and practices regarding smoking cessation during pregnancy", *South African Medical Journal*, vol. Suid-Afrikaanse Tydskrif Vir Geneeskunde. 95, no. 5, pp. 350-354.

Fox, N. L., Sexton, M. J., Hebel, J. R., Fox, N. L., Sexton, M. J., & Hebel, J. R. 1987, "Alcohol consumption among pregnant smokers: effects of a smoking cessation intervention program", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 211-213.

Gebauer, C., Kwo, C. Y., Haynes, E. F., Wewers, M. E., Gebauer, C., Kwo, C.
Y., Haynes, E. F., & Wewers, M. E. 1998, "A nurse-managed smoking cessation intervention during pregnancy", *JOGNN - Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 47-53.

Gielen, A. C., Windsor, R., Faden, R. R., O'Campo, P., Repke, J., Davis, M., Gielen, A. C., Windsor, R., Faden, R. R., O'Campo, P., Repke, J., & Davis, M.

1997, "Evaluation of a smoking cessation intervention for pregnant women in an urban prenatal clinic", *Health Education Research*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 247-254.

Glasgow, R., Boles, S., Lichtenstein, E., Lee, M., Foster, L., Glasgow, R., Boles, S., Lichtenstein, E., Lee, M., & Foster, L. 2004, "Adoption, reach, and implementation of a novel smoking control program: analysis of a public utilityresearch organization partnership", *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 269-274.

Hajek, P., West, R., Lee, A., Foulds, J., Owen, L., Eiser, J. R., & Main, N. 2001, "Randomized controlled trial of a midwife-delivered brief smoking cessation intervention in pregnancy", *Addiction*, vol. 96, no. 3, pp. 485-494.

Hakansson, A., Lendahls, L., Petersson, C., Hakansson, A., Lendahls, L., & Petersson, C. 1999, "Which women stop smoking? A population-based study of 403 pregnant smokers", *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 217-224.

Hannover, W. T. 2004, "Short report: Paediatricians' attitude towards counselling parents postpartum about their smoking behaviour", *European Journal of Public Health*, vol. vol 14, no 2, June 2004, pp 199-200.

Hartmann, K. E., Thorp, J. M., Jr., Pahel-Short, L., Koch, M. A., Hartmann, K.
E., Thorp, J. M. J., Pahel-Short, L., & Koch, M. A. 1996, "A randomized controlled trial of smoking cessation intervention in pregnancy in an academic clinic", *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 87, no. 4, pp. 621-626.

Haug, K., Aaro, L. E., Fugelli, P., Haug, K., Aaro, L. E., & Fugelli, P. 1992, "Smoking habits in early pregnancy and attitudes towards smoking cessation among pregnant women and their partners", *Family Practice*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 494-499.

Haug, K., Fugelli, P., Aaro, L. E., Foss, O. P., Haug, K., Fugelli, P., Aaro, L. E., & Foss, O. P. 1994, "Is smoking intervention in general practice more

successful among pregnant than non-pregnant women?", *Family Practice*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 111-116.

Haviland, L., Thornton, A. H., Carothers, S., Hund, L., Allen, J. A., Kastens,
B., Wojciak, A., Hamasaka, L., Healton, C., Haviland, L., Thornton, A. H.,
Carothers, S., Hund, L., Allen, J. A., Kastens, B., Wojciak, A., Hamasaka, L.,
& Healton, C. 2004, "Giving infants a great start: launching a national smoking cessation program for pregnant women.[see comment]", *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 6 Suppl 2, p. S181-S188.

Hegaard, H. K., Kjaergaard, H., Moller, L. F., Wachmann, H., Ottesen, B.,
Hegaard, H. K., Kjaergaard, H., Moller, L. F., Wachmann, H., & Ottesen, B.
2003, "Multimodal intervention raises smoking cessation rate during
pregnancy", *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, vol. 82, no. 9, pp.
813-819.

Hjalmarson, A. I., Hahn, L., Svanberg, B., Hjalmarson, A. I., Hahn, L., & Svanberg, B. 1991, "Stopping smoking in pregnancy: effect of a self-help manual in controlled trial.[see comment]", *British Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, vol. 98, no. 3, pp. 260-264.

Holdsworth, C., Robinson, J. E., Holdsworth, C., & Robinson, J. E. 2008, "'I've never ever let anyone hold the kids while they've got ciggies': moral tales of maternal smoking practices", *Sociology of Health & Illness*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 1086-1100.

Hotham, E. D., Gilbert, A. L., & Atkinson, E. R. 2006, "A randomisedcontrolled pilot study using nicotine patches with pregnant women", *Addictive Behaviors*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 641-648.

Hughes, E. G., Lamont, D. A., Beecroft, M. L., Wilson, D. M., Brennan, B. G.,
Rice, S. C., Hughes, E. G., Lamont, D. A., Beecroft, M. L., Wilson, D. M.,
Brennan, B. G., & Rice, S. C. 2000, "Randomized trial of a "stage-of-change"
oriented smoking cessation intervention in infertile and pregnant women", *Fertility & Sterility*, vol. 74, no. 3, pp. 498-503.

Jaakkola, N., Zahlsen, K., Jaakkola, J. J., Jaakkola, N., Zahlsen, K., & Jaakkola, J. J. 2001, "Effects of a population-based smoking cessation programme on smoking in pregnancy", *European Journal of Public Health*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 446-449.

Jehn, L., Lokker, N., Matitz, D., Christiansen, B., Jehn, L., Lokker, N., Matitz, D., & Christiansen, B. 2003, "First Breath prenatal smoking cessation pilot study: preliminary findings", *WMJ*, vol. 102, no. 3, pp. 29-34.

Kendrick, J. S., Zahniser, S. C., Miller, N., Salas, N., Stine, J., Gargiullo, P.
M., Floyd, R. L., Spierto, F. W., Sexton, M., Metzger, R. W., Kendrick, J. S.,
Zahniser, S. C., Miller, N., Salas, N., Stine, J., Gargiullo, P. M., Floyd, R. L.,
Spierto, F. W., Sexton, M., & Metzger, R. W. 1995, "Integrating smoking
cessation into routine public prenatal care: the Smoking Cessation in
Pregnancy project.[see comment]", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol.
85, no. 2, pp. 217-222.

Lawrence, T., Aveyard, P., Cheng, K. K., Griffin, C., Johnson, C., Croghan, E., Lawrence, T., Aveyard, P., Cheng, K. K., Griffin, C., Johnson, C., & Croghan, E. 2005, "Does stage-based smoking cessation advice in pregnancy result in long-term quitters? 18-month postpartum follow-up of a randomized controlled trial", *Addiction*, vol. 100, no. 1, pp. 107-116.

Lawrence, T., Aveyard, P., Evans, O., Cheng, K. K., Lawrence, T., Aveyard, P., Evans, O., & Cheng, K. K. 2003, "A cluster randomised controlled trial of smoking cessation in pregnant women comparing interventions based on the transtheoretical (stages of change) model to standard care", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 168-177.

Lee, M., Hajek, P., McRobbie, H., Owen, L., Lee, M., Hajek, P., McRobbie, H., & Owen, L. 2006, "Best practice in smoking cessation services for pregnant women: results of a survey of three services reporting the highest national returns, and three beacon services", *Journal of the Royal Society of Health*, vol. 126, no. 5, pp. 233-238.

Levine, M. D., Marcus, M. D., Leon-Verdin, M., Levine, M. D., Marcus, M. D., & Leon-Verdin, M. 2008, "Similarities in affect, perceived stress, and weight concerns between Black and White women who quit smoking during pregnancy", *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 1543-1548.

Lillington, L., Royce, J., Novak, D., Ruvalcaba, M., Chlebowski, R., Lillington, L., Royce, J., Novak, D., Ruvalcaba, M., & Chlebowski, R. 1995, "Evaluation of a smoking cessation program for pregnant minority women", *Cancer Practice*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 157-163.

Lindqvist, R., Aberg, H., Lindqvist, R., & Aberg, H. 2001, "Who stops smoking during pregnancy?", *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 137-141.

Lowe, J. B., Balanda, K. P., Clare, G., Lowe, J. B., Balanda, K. P., & Clare, G. 1998, "Evaluation of antenatal smoking cessation programs for pregnant women. [Review] [21 refs]", *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 55-59.

Ma, Y., Goins, K. V., Pbert, L., Ockene, J. K., Ma, Y., Goins, K. V., Pbert, L., & Ockene, J. K. 2005, "Predictors of smoking cessation in pregnancy and maintenance postpartum in low-income women", *Maternal & Child Health Journal*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 393-402.

Mabbutt, J., Bauman, A., Moshin, M., Mabbutt, J., Bauman, A., & Moshin, M. 2002, "Tobacco use of pregnant women and their male partners who attend antenatal classes: what happened to routine quit smoking advice in pregnancy?", *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 571-572.

Manfredi, C., Crittenden, K. S., Cho, Y. I., Engler, J., Warnecke, R., Manfredi, C., Crittenden, K. S., Cho, Y. I., Engler, J., & Warnecke, R. 2000, "Minimal smoking cessation interventions in prenatal, family planning, and well-child public health clinics", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 423-427.

Mayer, J. P., Hawkins, B., Todd, R., Mayer, J. P., Hawkins, B., & Todd, R. 1990, "A randomized evaluation of smoking cessation interventions for pregnant women at a WIC clinic", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 76-78.

McBride, C. M., Curry, S. J., Grothaus, L. C., Nelson, J. C., Lando, H., Pirie,
P. L., McBride, C. M., Curry, S. J., Grothaus, L. C., Nelson, J. C., Lando, H., &
Pirie, P. L. 1998, "Partner smoking status and pregnant smoker's perceptions of support for and likelihood of smoking cessation", *Health Psychology*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 63-69.

McLeod, D., Pullon, S., Benn, C., Cookson, T., Dowell, A., Viccars, A., White, S., Green, R., & Crooke, M. 2004, "Can support and education for smoking cessation and reduction be provided effectively by midwives within primary maternity care?", *Midwifery*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 37-50.

Messimer, S. R., Hickner, J. M., Henry, R. C., Messimer, S. R., Hickner, J. M., & Henry, R. C. 1989, "A comparison of two antismoking interventions among pregnant women in eleven private primary care practices", *Journal of Family Practice*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 283-288.

Moore, L., Campbell, R., Whelan, A., Mills, N., Lupton, P., Misselbrook, E., Frohlich, J., Moore, L., Campbell, R., Whelan, A., Mills, N., Lupton, P., Misselbrook, E., & Frohlich, J. 2002, "Self help smoking cessation in pregnancy: cluster randomised controlled trial.[see comment]", *BMJ*, vol. 325, no. 7377, p. 1383.

Mullen, P. D., Pollak, K. I., Titus, J. P., Sockrider, M. M., Moy, J. G., Mullen, P. D., Pollak, K. I., Titus, J. P., Sockrider, M. M., & Moy, J. G. 1998, "Prenatal smoking cessation counseling by Texas obstetricians", *Birth*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 25-31.

Nowicki, P., Gintzig, L., Hebel, J. R., Latham, R., Miller, V., Sexton, M., Nowicki, P., Gintzig, L., Hebel, J. R., Latham, R., Miller, V., & Sexton, M. 1984, "Effective smoking intervention during pregnancy", *Birth*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 217-224.

O'Connor, A. M., Davies, B. L., Dulberg, C. S., Buhler, P. L., Nadon, C., McBride, B. H., Benzie, R. J., O'Connor, A. M., Davies, B. L., Dulberg, C. S., Buhler, P. L., Nadon, C., McBride, B. H., & Benzie, R. J. 1992, "Effectiveness of a pregnancy smoking cessation program", *JOGNN - Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 385-392.

Oien, T., Storro, O., Jenssen, J. A., Johnsen, R., Oien, T., Storro, O., Jenssen, J. A., & Johnsen, R. 2008, "The impact of a minimal smoking cessation intervention for pregnant women and their partners on perinatal smoking behaviour in primary health care: a real-life controlled study", *BMC Public Health*, vol. 8, p. 325.

Panjari, M., Bell, R., Bishop, S., Astbury, J., Rice, G., Doery, J., Panjari, M., Bell, R., Bishop, S., Astbury, J., Rice, G., & Doery, J. 1999, "A randomized controlled trial of a smoking cessation intervention during pregnancy", *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 312-317.

Pbert, L., Ockene, J. K., Zapka, J., Ma, Y., Goins, K. V., Oncken, C., Stoddard, A. M., Pbert, L., Ockene, J. K., Zapka, J., Ma, Y., Goins, K. V., Oncken, C., & Stoddard, A. M. 2004, "A community health center smokingcessation intervention for pregnant and postpartum women", *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 377-385.

Petersen, R., Garrett, J. M., Melvin, C. L., Hartmann, K. E., Petersen, R., Garrett, J. M., Melvin, C. L., & Hartmann, K. E. 2006, "Medicaid reimbursement for prenatal smoking intervention influences quitting and cessation", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 30-34.

Pletsch, P. K. & Pletsch, P. K. 2002, "Reduction of primary and secondary smoke exposure for low-income black pregnant women", *Nursing Clinics of North America*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 315-329.

Pletsch, P. K., Kratz, A. T., Pletsch, P. K., & Kratz, A. T. 2004, "Why do women stop smoking during pregnancy? Cigarettes taste and smell bad", *Health Care for Women International*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 671-679.

Polanska, K., Hanke, W., Sobala, W., Lowe, J. B., Polanska, K., Hanke, W., Sobala, W., & Lowe, J. B. 2004, "Efficacy and effectiveness of the smoking cessation program for pregnant women", *International Journal of Occupational Medicine & Environmental Health*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 369-377.

Pollak, K. I., Baucom, D. H., Peterson, B. L., Stanton, S., McBride, C. M.,
Pollak, K. I., Baucom, D. H., Peterson, B. L., Stanton, S., & McBride, C. M.
2006, "Rated helpfulness and partner-reported smoking cessation support across the pregnancy-postpartum continuum", *Health Psychology*, vol. 25, no.
6, pp. 762-770.

Power, F. L., Gillies, P. A., Madeley, R. J., Abbott, M., Power, F. L., Gillies, P. A., Madeley, R. J., & Abbott, M. 1989, "Research in an antenatal clinic--the experience of the Nottingham Mothers' Stop Smoking Project", *Midwifery*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 106-112.

Price, J. H., Krol, R. A., Desmond, S. M., Losh, D. P., Roberts, S. M., Snyder, F. F., Price, J. H., Krol, R. A., Desmond, S. M., Losh, D. P., Roberts, S. M., & Snyder, F. F. 1991, "Comparison of three antismoking interventions among pregnant women in an urban setting: a randomized trial", *Psychological Reports*, vol. 68, no. 2, pp. 595-604.

Pullon, S., McLeod, D., Benn, C., Viccars, A., White, S., Cookson, T., Dowell,
A., Green, R., MEWS Study Team., Pullon, S., McLeod, D., Benn, C., Viccars,
A., White, S., Cookson, T., Dowell, A., Green, R., & MEWS Study Team.
2003, "Smoking cessation in New Zealand: education and resources for use
by midwives for women who smoke during pregnancy", *Health Promotion International*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 315-325.

Ripley-Moffitt, C. E., Goldstein, A. O., Fang, W. L., Butzen, A. Y., Walker, S., Lohr, J. A., Ripley-Moffitt, C. E., Goldstein, A. O., Fang, W. L., Butzen, A. Y.,

Walker, S., & Lohr, J. A. 2008, "Safe babies: a qualitative analysis of the determinants of postpartum smoke-free and relapse states", *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 10, no. 8, pp. 1355-1364.

Rore, C., Brace, V., Danielian, P., Williams, D., Rore, C., Brace, V., Danielian, P., & Williams, D. 2008, "Smoking cessation in pregnancy", *Expert Opinion on Drug Safety*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 727-737.

Saks, N. P., Hartigan, P., Howard, N., Schneider, J. M., Nathan, G., Fidler, C., Beck, C. H., Jr., Saks, N. P., Hartigan, P., Howard, N., Schneider, J. M., Nathan, G., Fidler, C., & Beck, C. H. J. 2001, "Collaboration to implement smoking cessation guidelines during the childbirth continuum", *Joint Commission Journal on Quality Improvement*, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 664-672.

Scott, W. J., McIlvain, H., Scott, W. J., & McIlvain, H. 2000, "Interactive software: an educational/behavioural approach to smoking cessation for pregnant women and their families", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9, no. Suppl 3, p. III56-III57.

Secker-Walker, R. H., Solomon, L. J., Flynn, B. S., Lepage, S. S., Crammond, J. E., Worden, J. K., Mead, P. B., Secker-Walker, R. H., Solomon, L. J., Flynn, B. S., Lepage, S. S., Crammond, J. E., Worden, J. K., & Mead, P. B. 1992, "Training obstetric and family practice residents to give smoking cessation advice during prenatal care", *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 166, no. 5, pp. 1356-1363.

Secker-Walker, R. H., Solomon, L. J., Flynn, B. S., Skelly, J. M., Lepage, S.
S., Goodwin, G. D., Mead, P. B., Secker-Walker, R. H., Solomon, L. J., Flynn,
B. S., Skelly, J. M., Lepage, S. S., Goodwin, G. D., & Mead, P. B. 1994,
"Individualized smoking cessation counseling during prenatal and early postnatal care", *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 171, no. 5, pp. 1347-1355.

Secker-Walker, R. H., Solomon, L. J., Geller, B. M., Flynn, B. S., Worden, J. K., Skelly, J. M., Mead, P. B., Secker-Walker, R. H., Solomon, L. J., Geller, B.

M., Flynn, B. S., Worden, J. K., Skelly, J. M., & Mead, P. B. 1997, "Modeling smoking cessation: exploring the use of a videotape to help pregnant women quit smoking", *Women & Health*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 23-35.

Solomon, L., Quinn, V., Solomon, L., & Quinn, V. 2004, "Spontaneous quitting: self-initiated smoking cessation in early pregnancy. [Review] [52 refs]", *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 6 Suppl 2, p. S203-S216.

Stotts, A. L., DiClemente, C. C., & Dolan-Mullen, P. 2002, "One-to-one - A motivational intervention for resistant pregnant smokers", *Addictive Behaviors*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 275-292.

Strecher, V. J., Bishop, K. R., Bernhardt, J., Thorp, J. M., Cheuvront, B., Potts, P., Strecher, V. J., Bishop, K. R., Bernhardt, J., Thorp, J. M., Cheuvront, B., & Potts, P. 2000, "Quit for keeps: tailored smoking cessation guides for pregnancy and beyond", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9, no. Suppl 3, p. III78-III79.

Thompson, K. A., Parahoo, K. P., McCurry, N., O'Doherty, E., Doherty, A. M., Thompson, K. A., Parahoo, K. P., McCurry, N., O'Doherty, E., & Doherty, A. M. 2004, "Women's perceptions of support from partners, family members and close friends for smoking cessation during pregnancy--combining quantitative and qualitative findings", *Health Education Research*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 29-39.

Torrent, M., Sunyer, J., Cullinan, P., Basagana, X., Harris, J., Garcia, O., Anto, J. M., AMICS study group., Torrent, M., Sunyer, J., Cullinan, P., Basagana, X., Harris, J., Garcia, O., Anto, J. M., & AMICS study group. 2004, "Smoking cessation and associated factors during pregnancy", *Gaceta Sanitaria*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 184-189.

Ussher, M., Aveyard, P., Coleman, T., Straus, L., West, R., Marcus, B., Lewis, B., Manyonda, I., Ussher, M., Aveyard, P., Coleman, T., Straus, L., West, R., Marcus, B., Lewis, B., & Manyonda, I. 2008, "Physical activity as an aid to smoking cessation during pregnancy: two feasibility studies", *BMC Public Health*, vol. 8, p. 328.

Ussher, M., Etter, J. F., West, R., Ussher, M., Etter, J. F., & West, R. 2006, "Perceived barriers to and benefits of attending a stop smoking course during pregnancy", *Patient Education & Counseling*, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 467-472.

Ussher, M., West, R., Hibbs, N., Ussher, M., West, R., & Hibbs, N. 2004, "A survey of pregnant smokers' interest in different types of smoking cessation support", *Patient Education & Counseling*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 67-72.

Valbo, A., Eide, T., Valbo, A., & Eide, T. 1996, "Smoking cessation in pregnancy: the effect of hypnosis in a randomized study", *Addictive Behaviors*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 29-35.

Valbo, A., Nylander, G., Valbo, A., & Nylander, G. 1994, "Smoking cessation in pregnancy. Intervention among heavy smokers", *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 215-219.

Valbo, A., Schioldborg, P., Valbo, A., & Schioldborg, P. 1991, "Smoking cessation in pregnancy. Mode of intervention and effect.[see comment]", *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, vol. 70, no. 4-5, pp. 309-313.

Velasquez, M. M., Hecht, J., Quinn, V. P., Emmons, K. M., DiClemente, C. C., Dolan-Mullen, P., Velasquez, M. M., Hecht, J., Quinn, V. P., Emmons, K. M., DiClemente, C. C., & Dolan-Mullen, P. 2000, "Application of motivational interviewing to prenatal smoking cessation: training and implementation issues", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9 Suppl 3, p. III36-III40.

vidano Britton, G. R., Brinthaupt, J., Stehle, J. M., James, G. D., vidano Britton, G. R., Brinthaupt, J., Stehle, J. M., & James, G. D. 2006, "The effectiveness of a nurse-managed perinatal smoking cessation program implemented in a rural county", *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 13-28.

Wakefield, M., Reid, Y., Roberts, L., Mullins, R., Gillies, P., Wakefield, M., Reid, Y., Roberts, L., Mullins, R., & Gillies, P. 1998, "Smoking and smoking cessation among men whose partners are pregnant: a qualitative study", *Social Science & Medicine*, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 657-664. Waller, C. S., Zollinger, T. W., Saywell, R. W., Jr., Kubisty, K. D., Waller, C.
S., Zollinger, T. W., Saywell, R. W. J., & Kubisty, K. D. 1996, "The Indiana
Prenatal Substance Use Prevention Program: its impact on smoking cessation among high-risk pregnant women", *Indiana Medicine*, vol. 89, no. 2, pp. 184-187.

Walsh, R. A., Redman, S., Brinsmead, M. W., Byrne, J. M., Melmeth, A., Walsh, R. A., Redman, S., Brinsmead, M. W., Byrne, J. M., & Melmeth, A. 1997, "A smoking cessation program at a public antenatal clinic", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 87, no. 7, pp. 1201-1204.

Walsh, R. A., Redman, S., Byrne, J. M., Melmeth, A., Brinsmead, M. W.,
Walsh, R. A., Redman, S., Byrne, J. M., Melmeth, A., & Brinsmead, M. W.
2000, "Process measures in an antenatal smoking cessation trial: another part of the picture", *Health Education Research*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 469-483.

Windsor, R. A., Boyd, N. R., Orleans, C. T., Windsor, R. A., Boyd, N. R., & Orleans, C. T. 1998, "A meta-evaluation of smoking cessation intervention research among pregnant women: improving the science and art", *Health Education Research*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 419-438.

Windsor, R. A., Whiteside, H. P., Jr., Solomon, L. J., Prows, S. L., Donatelle,
R. J., Cinciripini, P. M., McIlvain, H. E., Windsor, R. A., Whiteside, H. P. J.,
Solomon, L. J., Prows, S. L., Donatelle, R. J., Cinciripini, P. M., & McIlvain, H.
E. 2000, "A process evaluation model for patient education programs for
pregnant smokers", *Tobacco Control*, vol. 9 Suppl 3, p. III29-III35.

Wisborg, K., Henriksen, T. B., Secher, N. J., Wisborg, K., Henriksen, T. B., & Secher, N. J. 1998, "A prospective intervention study of stopping smoking in pregnancy in a routine antenatal care setting", *British Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, vol. 105, no. 11, pp. 1171-1176.

Woodby, L. L., Windsor, R. A., Snyder, S. W., Kohler, C. L., DiClemente, C. C., Woodby, L. L., Windsor, R. A., Snyder, S. W., Kohler, C. L., & DiClemente,

C. C. 1999, "Predictors of smoking cessation during pregnancy", *Addiction*, vol. 94, no. 2, pp. 283-292.

Wright, L. N., PahelShort, L., Hartmann, K., Kuller, J. A., & Thorp, J. M. 1996, "Statewide assessment of a behavioral intervention to reduce cigarette smoking by pregnant women", *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 175, no. 2, pp. 283-287.

Zapka, J. G., Pbert, L., Stoddard, A. M., Ockene, J. K., Goins, K. V., Bonollo, D., Zapka, J. G., Pbert, L., Stoddard, A. M., Ockene, J. K., Goins, K. V., & Bonollo, D. 2000, "Smoking cessation counseling with pregnant and postpartum women: a survey of community health center providers", *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 90, no. 1, pp. 78-84.

# Considered for Review Three - reject not able to answer the research question

England, L. J., Kendrick, J. S., Gargiullo, P. M., Zahniser, S. C., & Hannon, W. H. 2001, "Measures of maternal tobacco exposure and infant birth weight at term", *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 153, no. 10, pp. 954-960.

Haddow, J, Knight, G, Kloza, E, Palomaki, G, Wald, & N. Cotinine assisted intervention in pregnancy to reduce smoking and low birthweight delivery. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 98, 859-865. <[05] Date

Hebel, J. R., Nowicki, P., Sexton, M., Hebel, J. R., Nowicki, P., & Sexton, M. 1985, "The effect of antismoking intervention during pregnancy: an assessment of interactions with maternal characteristics", *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 122, no. 1, pp. 135-148.

Higgins, S. T., Heil, S. H., Dumeer, A. M., Thomas, C. S., Solomon, L. J.,Bernstein, I. M., Higgins, S. T., Heil, S. H., Dumeer, A. M., Thomas, C. S.,Solomon, L. J., & Bernstein, I. M. 2006, "Smoking status in the initial weeks of
quitting as a predictor of smoking-cessation outcomes in pregnant women", *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 138-141.

Kirchengast, S. & Hartmann, B. 2003, "Nicotine consumption before and during pregnancy affects not only newborn size but also birth modus", *Journal of Biosocial Science*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 175-188.

Malchodi, C. S., Oncken, C., Dornelas, E. A., Caramanica, L., Gregonis, E., & Curry, S. L. 2003, "The effects of peer counseling on smoking cessation and reduction", *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 101, no. 3, pp. 504-510.

Pollak, K. I., Oncken, C. A., Lipkus, I. M., Lyna, P., Swamy, G. K., Pletsch, P.
K., Peterson, B. L., Heine, R. P., Brouwer, R. J., Fish, L., Myers, E. R., Pollak,
K. I., Oncken, C. A., Lipkus, I. M., Lyna, P., Swamy, G. K., Pletsch, P. K.,
Peterson, B. L., Heine, R. P., Brouwer, R. J. N., Fish, L., & Myers, E. R. 2007,
"Nicotine replacement and behavioral therapy for smoking cessation in
pregnancy", *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 297-305.

Raatikainen, K., Huurinainen, P., & Heinonen, S. 2007, "Smoking in early gestation or through pregnancy: A decision crucial to pregnancy outcome", *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 59-63.

Secker-Walker, R. H. & Vacek, P. M. 2003, "Relationships between cigarette smoking during pregnancy, gestational age, maternal weight gain, and infant birthweight", *Addictive Behaviors*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 55-66.

Secker-Walker, R. H., Solomon, L. J., Flynn, B. S., Skelly, J. M., & Mead, P.
B. 1998, "Reducing smoking during pregnancy and postpartum: Physician's advice supported by individual counseling", *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 422-430.

SeckerWalker, R. H., Vacek, P. M., Flynn, B. S., & Mead, P. B. 1997, "Smoking in pregnancy, exhaled carbon monoxide, and birth weight", *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 89, no. 5, pp. 648-653. Tappin, D. M., Lumsden, M. A., Gilmour, W. H., Crawford, F., McIntyre, D.,
Stone, D. H., Webber, R., MacIndoe, S., & Mohammed, E. 2005,
"Randomised controlled trial of home based motivational interviewing by
midwives to help pregnant smokers quit or cut down", *British Medical Journal*,
vol. 331, no. 7513, p. 373-+.

Wang, X, Tager, I, Vunakis, H, Speizer, F, Hanrahan, & J. Maternal smoking during pregnancy, urine cotinine concentrations, and birth outcomes a prospective cohort study. International Journal of Epidemiology 26[5], 978-988. <[05] Date

Windsor, R, Cutter, G, Morris, J, Reese, Y, Manzella, B, Bartlett, E, Samuelson, C, Spanos, & d. The effectiveness of smoking cessation methods for smokers in public health maternity clinics: a randomized trial. American Journal of Public Health 75[12], 1389-1392. <[05] Date

Windsor, R. A., Li, C. Q., Boyd, N. R., & Hartmann, K. E. 1999, "The use of significant reduction rates to evaluate health education methods for pregnant smokers: A new harm reduction behavioral indicator?", *Health Education & Behavior*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 648-662.

## **Background papers**

Arborelius E.Hallberg 2000, "How to prevent exposure to tobacco smoke among small children: A literature review", Acta Paediatrica, International Journal of Paediatrics, Supplement, vol. 89, no. 434, p. 2000.

Ashley, M. J. & Ferrence, R. 1998, "Reducing children's exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in homes: issues and strategies", Tobacco Control, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 61-65.

Dolan-Mullen, P., Ramirez, G., Groff, J. Y., Dolan-Mullen, P., Ramirez, G., & Groff, J. Y. 1994, "A meta-analysis of randomized trials of prenatal smoking cessation interventions", American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology, vol. 171, no. 5, pp. 1328-1334.

Donatelle, R., Hudson, D., Dobie, S., Goodall, A., Hunsberger, M., Oswald, K., Donatelle, R., Hudson, D., Dobie, S., Goodall, A., Hunsberger, M., & Oswald, K. 2004, "Incentives in smoking cessation: status of the field and implications for research and practice with pregnant smokers. [Review] [92 refs]", Nicotine & Tobacco Research, vol. 6 Suppl 2, p. S163-S179.

Emmons, K. M., Wong, M., Hammond, S. K., Velicer, W. F., Fava, J. L., Monroe, A. D., Evans, J. L., Emmons, K. M., Wong, M., Hammond, S. K., Velicer, W. F., Fava, J. L., Monroe, A. D., & Evans, J. L. 2001, "Intervention and policy issues related to children's exposure to environmental tobacco smoke. [Review] [52 refs]", Preventive Medicine, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 321-331.

Ershoff, D., Ashford, T. H., Goldenberg, R., Ershoff, D., Ashford, T. H., & Goldenberg, R. 2004, "Helping pregnant women quit smoking: an overview", Nicotine & Tobacco Research, vol. 6 Suppl 2, p. S101-S105.

Ershoff, D. H., Quinn, V. P., Mullen, P. D., Lairson, D. R., Ershoff, D. H., Quinn, V. P., Mullen, P. D., & Lairson, D. R. 1990, "Pregnancy and medical cost outcomes of a self-help prenatal smoking cessation program in a HMO", Public Health Reports, vol. 105, no. 4, pp. 340-347.

Gehrman, C. A., Hovell, M. F., Gehrman, C. A., & Hovell, M. F. 2003, "Protecting children from environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) exposure: a critical review. [Review] [54 refs]", Nicotine & Tobacco Research, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 289-301.

Haddow, J, Knight, G, Palomaki, G, Kloza, E, Wald, & N. Cigarette consumption and serum cotinine in relation to birthweight. British Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology 94, 678-681. <[05] Date

Hovell, M. F., Meltzer, S. B., Zakarian, J. M., Wahlgren, D. R., Emerson, J. A., Hofstetter, C. R., Leaderer, B. P., Meltzer, E. O., Zeiger, R. S., O'Connor, R.

D., Hovell, M. F., Meltzer, S. B., Zakarian, J. M., Wahlgren, D. R., Emerson, J.

A., Hofstetter, C. R., Leaderer, B. P., Meltzer, E. O., Zeiger, R. S., &

O'Connor, R. D. 1994, "Reduction of environmental tobacco smoke exposure among asthmatic children: a controlled trial.[erratum appears in Chest 1995 May;107(5):1480]", Chest, vol. 106, no. 2, pp. 440-446.

Hovell, M. F., Zakarian, J. M., Matt, G. E., Hofstetter, C. R., Bernert, J. T., & Pirkle, J. 2000, "Decreasing environmental tobacco smoke exposure among

low income children: preliminary findings", Tobacco Control, vol. 9, no. 90003, p. iii70-iii71.

Johnson-Kozlow, M., Hovell, M. F., Rovniak, L. S., Sirikulvadhana, L., Wahlgren, D. R., Zakarian, J. M., Johnson-Kozlow, M., Hovell, M. F., Rovniak, L. S., Sirikulvadhana, L., Wahlgren, D. R., & Zakarian, J. M. 2008, "Fidelity issues in secondhand smoking interventions for children", Nicotine & Tobacco Research, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 1677-1690.

Kelley, K., Bond, R., Abraham, C., Kelley, K., Bond, R., & Abraham, C. 2001, "Effective approaches to persuading pregnant women to quit smoking: a meta-analysis of intervention evaluation studies", British Journal of Health Psychology, vol. 6, no. Pt 3, pp. 207-228.

Kilby, J. W. & Kilby, J. W. 1997, "A smoking cessation plan for pregnant women. [Review] [25 refs]", JOGNN - Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 397-402.

Klerman, L. & Klerman, L. 2004, "Protecting children: reducing their environmental tobacco smoke exposure. [Review] [54 refs]", Nicotine & Tobacco Research, vol. 6 Suppl 2, p. S239-S253.

Klerman, L. V., Rooks, J. P., Klerman, L. V., & Rooks, J. P. 1999, "A simple, effective method that midwives can use to help pregnant women stop smoking", Journal of Nurse-Midwifery, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 118-123.

Lumley, J., Oliver, S. S., Chamberlain, C., Oakley, L., Lumley, J., Oliver, S. S., Chamberlain, C., & Oakley, L. 2004, "Interventions for promoting smoking cessation during pregnancy.[update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2000;(2):CD001055; PMID: 10796228]. [Review] [165 refs]", Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews no. 4, p. CD001055.

Madeley, R. J., Gillies, P. A., Power, F. L., Symonds, E. M., Madeley, R. J., Gillies, P. A., Power, F. L., & Symonds, E. M. 1989, "Nottingham mothers stop smoking project -- baseline survey of smoking in pregnancy", Community Medicine, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 124-130.

Messecar, D. C. & Messecar, D. C. 2001, "Smoking cessation interventions for pregnant women to prevent low birth weight: what does the evidence show?. [Review] [38 refs]", Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 171-177. Naughton, F., Prevost, A. T., Sutton, S., Naughton, F., Prevost, A. T., & Sutton, S. 2008, "Self-help smoking cessation interventions in pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. [Review] [52 refs]", Addiction, vol. 103, no. 4, pp. 566-579.

OCampo, P., Davis, M. V., & Gielen, A. C. 1995, "Smoking Cessation Interventions for Pregnant-Women - Review and Future-Directions", Seminars in Perinatology, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 279-285.

Pisinger, C., Godtfredsen, N. S., Pisinger, C., & Godtfredsen, N. S. 2007, "Is there a health benefit of reduced tobacco consumption? A systematic review. [Review] [54 refs]", Nicotine & Tobacco Research, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 631-646.

Polanska, K. H. 2006, "Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and children's health", Acta Paediatrica, vol. vol 95, suppl, October 2006, pp 86-92..

Pollack, H. A., Lantz, P., & Frohna, J. 2001, "Maternal smoking cessation intervention: Targeting women and their partners before pregnancy -Response", American Journal of Public Health, vol. 91, no. 11, p. 1734.

Price, J. H., Jordan, T. R., & Dake, J. A. 2006, "Obstetricians and gynecologists' perceptions and use of nicotine replacement therapy", Journal of Community Health, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 160-175.

Priest, N., Roseby, R., Waters, E., Polnay, A., Campbell, R., Spencer, N., Webster, P., Ferguson-Thorne, G., Priest, N., Roseby, R., Waters, E., Polnay, A., Campbell, R., Spencer, N., Webster, P., & Ferguson-Thorne, G. 2008, "Family and carer smoking control programmes for reducing children's exposure to environmental tobacco smoke.[update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003;(3):CD001746; PMID: 12917911]. [Review] [95 refs]", Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews no. 4, p. CD001746.

Ritchie, D., Amos, A., Phillips, R., Cunningham-Burley, S., & Martin, C. 2009, "Action to achieve smoke-free homes- an exploration of experts' views", BMC Public Health, vol. 9.

Ruger, J. P., Weinstein, M. C., Hammond, S. K., Kearney, M. H., Emmons, K. M., Ruger, J. P., Weinstein, M. C., Hammond, S. K., Kearney, M. H., & Emmons, K. M. 2008, "Cost-effectiveness of motivational interviewing for smoking cessation and relapse prevention among low-income pregnant

women: a randomized controlled trial", Value in Health, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 191-198.

Russell, T. V., Crawford, M. A., & Woodby, L. L. 2004, "Measurements for active cigarette smoke exposure in prevalence and cessation studies: Why simply asking pregnant women isn't enough", Nicotine & Tobacco Research, vol. 6, p. S141-S151.

Sexton, M, Hebel, & R. A clinical trial of change in maternal smoking and its effect on birthweight. Journal of American Medical Association 251, 911-915. <[05] Date

Sheahan, S. L., Wilson, S. M., Sheahan, S. L., & Wilson, S. M. 1997,
"Smoking cessation for pregnant women and their partners: a pilot study",
Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 323-326.

Solomon, L. J., Secker-Walker, R. H., Flynn, B. S., Skelly, J. M., Capeless, E. L., Solomon, L. J., Secker-Walker, R. H., Flynn, B. S., Skelly, J. M., & Capeless, E. L. 2000, "Proactive telephone peer support to help pregnant women stop smoking", Tobacco Control, vol. 9, no. Suppl 3, p. III72-III74.

Stotts, A. L., DiClemente, C. C., Carbonari, J. P., Mullen, P. D., Stotts, A. L., DiClemente, C. C., Carbonari, J. P., & Mullen, P. D. 1996, "Pregnancy smoking cessation: a case of mistaken identity", Addictive Behaviors, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 459-471.

Thomson, G., Wilson, N., & Howden-Chapman, P. 2006, "Population level policy options for increasing the prevalence of smokefree homes", Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 298-304.

Thomson, G., Wilson, N., & Howden-Chapman, P. 2006, "Population level policy options for increasing the prevalence of smokefree homes", Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 298-304.

Wewers, M. E. & Uno, M. 2002, "Clinical interventions and smoking ban methods to reduce infants' and children's exposure to environmental tobacco smoke", Jognn-Journal of Obstetric Gynecologic and Neonatal Nursing, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 592-598. Windsor, R. & Windsor, R. 2003, "Smoking cessation or reduction in pregnancy treatment methods: a meta-evaluation of the impact of dissemination. [Review] [24 refs]", American Journal of the Medical Sciences, vol. 326, no. 4, pp. 216-222.

Wu, F., Takaro, T. K., Wu, F., & Takaro, T. K. 2007, "Childhood asthma and environmental interventions. [Review] [41 refs]", Environmental Health Perspectives, vol. 115, no. 6, pp. 971-975.

## Appendix 4: Search strategies

Date	Search Terms/Search Strategy	Database (inc limits)	Hits			
Search Iter	Search Iteration One (677 records before de-duplication, 597 records after deduplication)					
25.03.09	((smoke adj2 free) or smokefree).ti,ab. AND (home* or house* or residence*).ti,ab.	Medline 1990-2009 English	159			
		Humans				
25.03.09	((smoke adj2 free) or smokefree).ti,ab. AND (pregnan*).ti,ab.	Medline 1990-2009 English Humans	38			
25.03.09	((smoke adj2 free) or smokefree).ti,ab. AND (home* or house* or residence*).ti,ab.	Embase 1990-2009 English Humans	96			
25.03.09	((smoke adj2 free) or smokefree).ti,ab. AND (pregnan*).ti,ab.	Embase 1990-2009 English Humans	19			
25.03.09	((smoke adj2 free) or smokefree).ti,ab. AND (home* or house* or residence*).ti,ab.	Maternity and Infant Care (No limits applied)	11			
25.03.09	((smoke adj2 free) or smokefree).ti,ab. AND (pregnan*).ti,ab.	Maternity and Infant Care (No limits applied)	20			
25.03.09	(smoke free or smokefree) in TITLE AND (house* or home* or residence*) in TITLE	Science Citation Index and Social Science Citation Index (No limits applied)	34			
25.03.09	(smoke free or smokefree) in TITLE AND (pregnan*) in TITLE	Science Citation Index and Social Science Citation Index (No limits applied)	5			
06.04.09	(anti smoking or antismoking).ti. AND (Pregnan* or prenatal or pre natal or antenatal or ante natal	Medline (No limits applied)	10			

	or post natal or postnatal).ti.		
06.04.09	(smoking adj (cessation or intervention)).ti. AND (Pregnan* or prenatal or pre natal or antenatal or ante natal	Medline (No limits applied)	232
	or post natal or postnatal).ti.		
06.04.09	(tobacco adj (cessation or intervention)).ti.		2
	AND	(No limits applied)	
	or post natal or postnatal).ti.		
06.04.09	((quit* or stop*) adj (smoking or smoker)).ti.	Medline	51
	AND	(No limits applied)	
	(Pregnan* or prenatal or pre natal or antenatal or ante natal		
	or post natal or postnatal).ti.		
Search Iter	ation Two (3795 records retrieved. Following deduplication a	amongst records retrieved in this iteration then deduplication w	/ith
records ret	rieved through iteration One, 1819 new records imported)		100
21.04.09	Entered into Ref Man Library the paper that Liddy mentioned	Web of Science Cited Reference Search	108
	Entered into Ref Man Library the three papers in the	(No limits applied)	
	Citation search on all four of these papers		
20.04.00	1 (accordband amak* or accord band amak* or passive	Madlina	1692
29.04.09	smok* or onvironmental tobacco smok*) ti ab		1002
	2 (home* or house* or residence* or indoors*) ti ab	English	
	3 (pregnan* or famil* or newborn* or infant* or fetus or	Humans	
	foetus) ti ab		
	4. 2 or 3		
	5. 1 and 4		
	6. limit 5 to (english language and humans and yr="1990 -		
	2009")		
29.04.09	Search as above	Embase	1455
		1990-2009	
		English	
		Humans	
29.04.09	Search as above	British Nursing Index	22
		(Not able to limit by date, humans or English Language)	
29.04.09	Search as above	Maternity and Infant Care	250

		1990-2009 (Only obla to limit by data)	
00.04.00	Oranah an ahawa		050
29.04.09	Search as above	Social Science and Science Citation Indices	259
		(No limits applied)	
29.04.09	(TI=((secondhand smok* or second hand smok* or passive	ASSIA	55
	smok* or environmental tobacco smok*).)) and(home* or	1990-2009	
	house* or residence* or indoors* or pregnan* or famil* or	English	
	newborn* or infant* or fetus or foetus)		
29.04.09	As above (Title only)	CINAHL	72
		1990-2009	
Search Iter	ration Three (994 records retrieved. Following deduplication	amongst records retrieved in this iteration then deduplication v	vith
records ret	trieved through Iteration One and Iteration Two, 563 new rec	ords imported)	-
10.06.09	Citation Searches for papers included in Review Two at	Web of Science Cited Reference Search	309
	09.06.09 (see folder)	(No limits applied)	
10.06.09	Citation Searches for papers included in Review Three at	Web of Science Cited Reference Search	344
	09.06.09 (see folder)	(No limits applied)	
10.06.09	Citation Searches for papers included in Review Three at	Web of Science Cited Reference Search	264
	09.06.09 (see folder)	(No limits applied)	
12.06.09	(((cut* adj down) or reduc* or limit*) adj2 (smok* or	Medline	21
	tobacco)).ti.	1990-2009	
	AND	English	
	(pregnan* or pre natal or prenatal or ante natal or	Humans	
	antenatal).ti.		
	limit to (english language and humans and yr="1990 - 2009")		
12.06.09	(((cut* adj down) or reduc* or limit*) adj2 (smok* or	Embase	19
	tobacco)).ti.	1990-2009	
	AND	English	
	(pregnan* or pre natal or prenatal or ante natal or	Humans	
	antenatal).ti.		
	limit to (english language and humans and yr="1990 - 2009")		
12.06.09	(((cut* adj down) or reduc* or limit*) adj2 (smok* or	PsycINFO	12
	tobacco)).ti.	1990-2009	
	AND	English	

	(pregnan* or pre natal or prenatal or ante natal or antenatal).ti.	Humans	
12.06.09	(((cut* adj down) or reduc* or limit*) adj2 (smok* or tobacco)).ti.	Maternity and Infant Care 1990-2009 (Only able to limit by date)	25
12.06.09	(((cut* adj down) or reduc* or limit*) and (smok* or tobacco)).title AND (pregnan* or pre natal or prenatal or ante natal or antenatal).title	Social Science Citation Index and Science Citation Index 1990-2009 English Language	60

## **Appendix 5: Additional references**

Alpi, K. M. 2005, "Expert searching in public health", Journal of the Medical Library Association, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 97-103.

British Marketing Research Bureau (2007) Infant Feeding Survey. Information Centre for Health and Social Care/BRMB. London.

Curran, C., Burchardt, T., Knapp, M., McDaid, D., & Li, B. Q. 2007, "Challenges in multidisciplinary systematic reviewing: A study on social exclusion and mental health policy", Social Policy & Administration, vol. 41,no. 3, pp. 289-312.

DH (2007) Maternity Matters: choice, access and continuity of care in a safe service. Department of Health. London.

DH (2007b The Cancer Reform Strategy. Department of Health, London.

DH (2007c) Implementation Plan for reducing health inequalities in infant mortality: a good practice guide. Department of Health, London.

DH (2008) Health Inequalities: progress and next steps. Department of Health, London.

DH (1998) Smoking Kills. Department of Health, London.

French, G., Groner, J., Wewers, M. & Ahijevych, K. (2007) Staying smoke free: an intervention to prevent postpartum relapse. Nicotine and Tobacco Research, 9, 6, p. 663-670.

Greenhalgh, T. & Peacock, R. 2005, "Effectiveness and efficiency of search methods in systematic reviews of complex evidence: audit of primary sources", British Medical Journal, vol. 331, no. 7524, pp. 1064-1065.

HM Government (2004) Every Child Matters. HM Government, London.

Jarvis, M., Fidler, J., Mindell, J., Feyerabend, C. & West, R. (2008) "Assessing smoking status in children, adolescents and adults: cotinine cut off points revisited". Addiction, 103, 9, pp. 1553-1561.

Lawrence, T., Aveyard, P., Cheng, K., Griffin, C., Johnson, C. & Croghan, E. (2005) Does stage-based smoking cessation advice in pregnancy result in long-term quitters? 18 month postpartum follow-up of a randomized controlledtrial. Addiction, 100, 1, pp. 107-116.

Ogilvie, D., Hamilton, V., Egan, M., & Petticrew, M. 2005, "Systematic reviews of health effects of social interventions: 1. Finding the evidence: how far should you go?" Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, vol. 59, no. 9, pp. 804-808.

Pawson, R. 2005, Evidence Based Policy: A Realist Perspective Sage, London. Penn, G. & Owen, L. (2002) Factors associated with continued smokingduring pregnancy: analysis of socio-demographic, pregnancy and smoking- related factors. Drug and Alcohol Review, 21, 1, pp.17-25.

Royal College of Physicians (1992) Smoking and the young: a report of a working party of the Royal College of Physicians. The Lavenham Press.

Spring, M., Calonge-Contreras, M., & Tuvey, D. "Applying the principles of EBM to public health - searching for public health evidence - the experience atthe National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE)", in The 11th European Conference of Medical and Health Libraries, Helsinki, Finland.